

Stamford International University Research and Development Center 16 Motorway Road, Prawet, Bangkok 10250, Thailand Telephone +66 02 769 4000

© Stamford International University 2015

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Volume 3 Number 1 January - June 2016

PERIODICITY Twice Yearly First Issue, January – June Second Issue, July – December

Website: ajmi.stamford.edu

All Correspondence should be addressed to: ajmi@stamford.edu

ISSN 2351-0307

AJMI Statement of Editorial Policy

The goal of the ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation (AJMI) is to publish insightful, original and timely research that describes or potentially impacts management and/or innovation that has the potential to be applied in the ASEAN context. Topics that are either distinctly ASEAN-related, or are regional or international in scope are encouraged. AJMI is multidisciplinary in scope and interdisciplinary in research methodology and content. AJMI accepts papers that initiate or redirect a line of inquiry as well as papers that provide new insights into previous work.



Editor in Chief Dr. Apitep Saekow

Stamford International University, Thailand

Senior Consulting Editors Dr. Andrew David Leslie Scown

Editorial Advisory Board

Prof. Dr. Dolly Samson Assoc. Prof. Napat Watjanatepin

Asst. Prof. Dr. Warunee Ariyawiriyanan

Asst. Prof. Dr. Tippaporn Mahasinpaisarn Asst. Prof. Dr. Sa-ard Banchirdrit Dr. Alexander Franco Dr. James Lancaster Dr. Martin Goerlich Dr. Rachaya Pakdeejit Dr. Werayuth Charoenruengkit Dr. Sumeth Tuvadaratragool Dr. Parinya Bunjongmanee

Reviewers

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kosoom Saichai Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kanyamon Inwang Asst. Prof. Dr. Tippaporn Mahasinpaisarn Dr. Lavanchawee Sujarittanonta Dr. Pacapol Anurit Dr. Sid Suntrayuth

Dr. Boonyarat Samphanwattanachai Dr. Kanyarat Teerathanachaiyakun Dr. Kannapa Pongponrat Asst. Prof. Dr. Sa-ard Banchirdrit Dr. Ake Choonhachatrachai Dr. Alexander Franco Dr. Apitep Saekow Dr. Werayuth Charoenruengkit Dr. Sumeth Tuvadaratragool Dr. Parinya Bunjongmanee Dr. Tibrat Sangroengrob Ms. Anna Quek Mr. Jordan Alexander French

Managing Editor

Thanyaphat Pathomwattananurak

Stamford International University, Thailand

Hawaii Pacific University, U.S.A. Rakamangala University of Technology Suvarnabhumi, Thailand Rakamangala University of Technology Thanyaburi, Thailand Panyapiwat Institute of Management Stamford International University, Thailand Stamford International University, Thailand

Rajapruk University, Thailand Western University, Thailand Panyapiwat Institute of Management, Thailand Shinawatra University, Thailand Siam University, Thailand National Institute of Development Administration, Thailand Sripatum University, Thailand Sripatum University, Thailand Thammasat University, Thailand Stamford International University, Thailand

Stamford International University, Thailand



Editorial

Dear reader,

Welcome to this edition of the ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation (AJMI). It is a tremendous honor for me to be the current Editor-in-Chief (EIC) of this well-regarded journal. I am pleased to announce that the AJMI has recently been promoted to be placed in the ASEAN Citation Index (ACI). I would therefore like to take this opportunity to express my thanks to all the contributing authors for providing such a rich variety of outstanding research articles and to the editorial members, reviewers and all staff who have helped to make this AJMI successfully achieve this level.

In this issue (V3N1), we are pleased to publish eleven selected papers focussing on the diverse themes of business management, marketing, the hotel industry, education and the AEC impact on an important Thai industry. These papers explore (inter-alia) customer perspectives toward expectations of product returns in the mobile industry, satisfaction on service quality in the mobile banking service, and relationship management capability and marketing survival. Other interesting papers investigate the multilevel structural equation model of the universities in Thailand, climate change related research from within the banking industry, and international business law. One article outlines the research outcomes investigating the risk and return in the Thai equity mutual fund using ranking matrix. Papers relating to the hotel industry and business management investigate the integration of organic foods into the opportunities for the hotel industry in Thailand, along with a study of staff turnover and how to form a good organization for success. In writing on the AEC trend, the paper shows the effect of this trend on the frozen shrimp industry after AEC implementation using the analysis of the market occupation ratio and SWOT analysis.

As always, the success of this journal is built on the efforts of all the authors, reviewers, editors and the AJMI staff. Once again, my great thanks to all and I look forward to our continuing relationship and to receiving your future contributions to our AJMI which makes a valuable scholarly contribution to our academic and research community. If you have any comments, please do not hesitate to send an email to: research@stamford.edu and/or visit the website: http://ajmi.stamford.edu.

Thank you for your continued support of the AJMI. Sincerely yours, Apitep Saekow, Ph.D. Editor in Chief ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation



Contents

1	Customer Expectations of Product Returns Service in Thailand's Mobile Industry <i>Chonlada Sajjanita and Nopadol Rompho</i>
22	Customer Relationship Management Capability and Marketing Survival
	Rattanaporn Saelee and Prathanporn Jhundra-indra and Kesinee Muenthaisong
36	Empirical evidence on mobile banking service quality and its effect on customer satisfaction in Thailand <i>Chavis Ketkaew</i>
43	Multilevel Structural Equation Model of Universities Effectiveness in Thailand <i>Pattrawadee Makmee</i>
54	A Preliminary Study of Climate Change Commitment: Evidence from the Banking Industry <i>Thanita Buranatrakul and Fredric William Swierczek</i>
65	Use of UK/US common law contract law in international business contracts in Southeast Asia Empirical Evidence from Telecoms & Engineering <i>Mark Rendon</i>
82	Risk and Return: An Unorthodox Relationship in the Thai Equity Mutual Fund Industry Suchaya Siamwalla
100	Forming Good Organization CultureLeading toSuccessful Organization Management <i>Kanyarat Teerathanachaiyakun</i>
102	Integration of Organic Foods into Thailand's Hotel Industry as Opportunities <i>Nalinnee Pumhiran</i>
119	The Effect on Thai Frozen Shrimp Industry after AEC Implementation <i>Sutatt Ramasoot and Rojanon Krajangwong</i>
128	A Study of Staff Turnover of the Hotel Industry: A Case Study of the Amara Hotel Bangkok Areewan Cheewaprapanan

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 1 – 21 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.1 ajmi.stamford.edu

Customer Expectations of Product Returns Service in Thailand's Mobile Industry

Chonlada Sajjanit^{a,*}, Nopadol Rompho^b

^{a*}PhD Student (Business Administration), Thammasat Business School, Thammasat University, Bangkok, Thailand

E-mail address: rainy.numfonka@gmail.com

^bPhD, Associate Professor, Department of Operations Management, Thammasat Business School, Thammasat University, Bangkok, Thailand

E-mail address: nopadol@tbs.tu.ac.th

Abstract

The first step towards satisfying the needs of customers, a key objective of marketing (Kohli and Jaworski, 1990; Narver and Slater, 1990) and reverse logistics management (Banomyong et al., 2008), is understanding customer expectations as reference points evaluating firm performance (Oliver, 1980; Robledo, 2001). Extant literature on managing product returns and the reverse flow of products (Bernon et al, 2013; Hess et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2007) focuses on firm foundations, instead of customer perspectives. This study proposed that to be better managed, consumer product returns might be seen as service offerings. Returns service management could then focus on actual customer expectations. In other words, customer needs and anticipations must be taken into account when providing returns service. A literature review in marketing, product returns, and reverse logistics, as well as individual indepth interviews were employed. Samples were mobile telephone customers, a rapidly growing industry in Thailand. Qualitative content analysis was the technique used to analyze data. Results were that, based on customer viewpoint, the product returns processes included seeking for returns service information, contacting the service centers, looking forward to compensation/returns, inspecting and receiving compensation/returns and evaluating the whole returns process. Accordingly, twelve customer expectations were identified: tangibles; responsiveness; explanation; empathy; employee empowerment; reliability; timeliness; information availability; assurance; compensation; feedback; and convenience. The findings could facilitate further studies in product returns and reverse logistics integrating customer expectations. They will also be useful for practitioners to manage expectations and develop returns services meeting long-term customer satisfaction.

Keywords: Customer expectations, Product returns, Reverse logistics, Mobile industry **1. Introduction**

According to Genchev (2007), product returns problems accounts for 15-20% on average of product sold across all industries. The problems could affect firms' cost and time (French and Discenza, 2006) and remarkably cause customer dissatisfaction (Potdar, 2009; Petersen and Kumar, 2010). Hence, effective product returns management cannot only decrease costs but also increase revenues, profitability and customer service level (Stock et. al., 2006). However, the past literatures in product returns management and reverse logistics were based upon firm

perspective, instead of customer perspective. Designing product return policy (Wang et al., 2007; Yalabik, 2005), forecasting product returns (Agrawal et al., 2014; Potdar, 2009) and reducing product returns (Hess et al., 1996; Scariotta, 2003) are examples of issues emphasized in product returns area of study.

To manage product returns effectively, the study proposes that consumer product returns should be viewed as service offerings provided by firms and must be managed based on actual customer expectations. The understanding of customer expectations is the essential part in satisfying customer needs, the goal of managing reverse logistics and services marketing. Customer satisfaction is defined as an indicator of met or exceeded expectations (Grisaffe, 2001). According to the expectation-disconfirmation paradigm (Oliver, 1980), consumers compare between firm's actual performance and their expectations. Correspondingly, to meet or exceed customer expectations, the first step is to understand their expectations.

The purpose of this study is therefore to reveal and analyze customer expectations of product returns service offered by firms. In this regard, the key research question in the current study is what the actual customer expectations of product returns service are. Specifically, what kind of service aspects customers anticipate when they consume returns service. Put differently, the research question identified the characteristics of services that the firms should target to improve their returns service in order to satisfy customer expectations. To gain insights in answering the questions, the combination approach of literature review and qualitative in-depth interviews was utilized. Regarding the contributions of the study, the results could enhance further theoretical researches in product returns management established from customer's point of view. Findings could also help practitioners manage customer expectations and develop returns service design to achieve long-term customer satisfaction.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Firstly, the related literature in product returns, reverse logistics, and customer expectations are reviewed. Secondly, qualitative methodology and data analysis are described. Thirdly, the research findings are presented. Finally, it concludes a summary, discussion and implications of study.

2. Literature review

2.1 Product returns and reverse logistics

Product returns is defined as "the process of planning, implementing and controlling the efficient, cost-effective flow of raw materials, in-process inventory, finished goods and related information from the point of consumption to the point of origin for the purpose of recapturing or creating value or proper disposal" (Rogers and Tibben-Lembke, 1998, p.2). This definition was originally referred to the term of reverse logistics. However, when academics need to study the issue of product returns, reverse logistics has basically been specified (Stock et al., 2002; Stock and Mulki, 2009). In this study, the term "product returns" will be used to focus on service operations of returns.

Product returns are grouped into five categories including consumer returns, marketing returns, asset returns, product recalls, and environmental returns (Rogers et al., 2002). The current research focuses on consumer returns, the largest category of returns (Rogers et al., 2002). Unlike other categories, this type of returns is originated

from end consumers. It is a return that has the direct impact on the consumers and needs the best handling practice since it could affect long-term consumers' perception on the company (Rogers et al., 2002).

The product returns processes and management

Product returns and reverse logistics processes in previous researches have generally been presented from firm perspective. For example, Stock and Mulki (2009) proposed four steps in product returns processing consisting of receiving, processing, sortation and disposition. Genchev (2007) developed a measurement tool in formalization of reverse logistics processes adapted from the operational returns management process described by Rogers et al. (2002). Such processes comprise six stages: receiving customer return request, determining routing, receiving returns, selecting disposition, crediting customer/supplier, and analyzing returns and measuring performance. Those processes were proposed from the firms' point of view.

The existing studies in product returns and reverse logistics management have focused on several aspects such as designing product return policy (Wang et al., 2007; Yalabik, 2005), forecasting product returns (Agrawal et al., 2014; Potdar, 2009), reducing product returns (Hess et al., 1996; Scariotta, 2003), supply chain coordination (Bernon et al., 2013; Ferguson et al., 2006), efficiency improvement (Banomyong, et al., 2008). However, most studies have also put emphasis on operational-based approach.

Product returns as service offerings

Based on a service-dominant logic of marketing proposed by Vargo and Lusch (2004), the concentration has shifted from the firm to the consumer. Therefore, the focus in managing product returns should be extended from a goods perspective to a service-provision perspective. Additionally, service perspectives should emphasize customer orientation. In particular, service is defined based on customer-determined benefits. According to Hogan et al. (2002), one key source of competitive advantage of customer-oriented firms is the capability to manage customer information to initiate and maintain relationships with customers.

Particularly, product returns service is unique as it requires marketing and logistics integration. Unlike other services in traditional forward logistics, returns service starts from the point of destination (customers) to the point of origin (firms). Interestingly, the process starts from unhappy customers (Potdar, 2009) since the customer returns the product for some reasons. From customer's assessment, service failure implicitly happens. According to Brown and Bitner (2006), recovering when service failures occur is necessary for revolutionary marketers. Successful service recovery include apology, explanation (Krishna et al., 2011), assurance (Chang, 2008), reliability, employee's empowerment, and responsiveness (Gilbert and Wang, 2003).

In addition, viewed as service offerings, service quality literature should be considered. Key components of well-known indicators of i.e. SERVQUAL (Parasuraman et al., 1988) and SERVPERF (Cronin and Taylor, 1992) consisting of tangibles, assurance, reliability, responsiveness and empathy were taken into account as customer requirements of returns service.

2.2 Customer expectations

Customer expectations involve the customers' anticipation of the firm's performance in providing services (Chang, 2007). According to Miller (1977), there are four possible meanings of the term "expectations". Firstly, "ideal" expectations stand for the wished for level of performance. Secondly, "expected" expectations refer to predicted performance based on past averaged performance. Thirdly, "minimum tolerable" expectations are defined as the least acceptable level of performance. Lastly, "deserved" expectations mean performance evaluation based on customers' investment of time and money. Since product returns service is a kind of service involving a consumer's experience in returning products with firms, the "expected" expectations would be implicitly referred in this study. It is widely accepted that customer expectations play an important role as reference points for consumers to assess the performance of a service provider (Oliver, 1980; Robledo, 2001). To get a better understanding of customer expectations, the expectancy-disconfirmation model is basically referred.

The expectancy-disconfirmation model

When customer expectations become more focused in customer satisfaction literature, the expectation-disconfirmation model has been the most prevalent paradigm (Myers, 1991). The disconfirmation approach describes that consumers compare between firm's actual performance and their expectations (Oliver, 1980). If the actual firm's performance is below customer expectations about the product or service, it is a negative disconfirmation and if the perceived performance is above expectations, it is a positive disconfirmation leading to customer satisfaction. Based on this model, to meet or exceed customer expectations, it is necessary for firms to take customers' anticipation into account in providing product returns service.

Customer expectations and product returns

From a review of related literature in marketing and reverse logistics, the current study proposes that the starting point in managing product returns service within the returns process is customer. Consequently, to anticipate what customers expect from product returns service, the study integrates marketing initiatives with product returns and reverse logistics concepts resulting in returns service expectations dimensions as presented in Table 1.

Proposed returns service	Literatures	
expectation dimensions		
Tangibles	Service recovery (Boshoff, 2005)	
	Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)	
Responsiveness	Customer orientation (Deshpande et al., 1993);	
	Jeong and Hong, 2007)	
	Service recovery (Boshoff, 2005; Gilbert and Wang,	
	2003; Krishna et al., 2011; Parasuraman et al., 2005)	
	Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)	
Explanation	Service recovery (Boshoff, 2005; Krishna et al., 2011;	
	Tax et al., 1998)	
Empathy	Customer orientation (Deshpande et al., 1993; Jeong	
	and Hong, 2007)	

Table 1 Customer expectations of returns service dimensions from literature review

Proposed returns service expectation dimensions	Literatures
^	Service recovery (Krishna et al., 2011; Tax et al.,
	1998)
	Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)
Empowerment	Service recovery (Boshoff, 1997, 2005; Krishna et al., 2011)
Reliability	Service recovery (Gilbert and Wang, 2003)
2	Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)
Timeliness	Customer orientation (Tien et al., 2009)
	Service recovery (Mostafa et al., 2014; Tax et al.,
	1998)
	Service quality (Bienstock et al., 1997; Mentzer et al.,
	1999)
	Product returns and reverse logistics (Autry et al.,
	2001; Richey et al., 2005)
Information availability	Customer orientation (Tien et al., 2009; Jeong and
	Hong, 2007)
	Service recovery (Krishna et al., 2011)
Assurance	Service recovery (Barlow and Moller, 1996; Chang,
	2008)
	Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)
Compensation	Service recovery (Parasuraman et al., 2005; Tax et
-	al., 1998)
	Product returns and reverse logistics (Autry et al.,
	2001; Richey et al., 2005)
Feedback	Customer orientation (Jeong and Hong, 2007)
	Service recovery (Boshoff, 2005)
Convenient process	Service recovery (Tax et al., 1998)
_	Service quality (Mentzer et al., 1999)
	Product returns and reverse logistics (Autry et al.,
	2001; Petersen and Kumar, 2010; Richey et al., 2005)

In summary, based on an extensive review of the related literature, previous researches in product returns and reverse logistics management have mainly focused on the firm process and operations. The current study proposed that the notion of service perspective and the understanding of customer expectations must be incorporated into product returns management. To initially anticipate the returns service expectations, the study integrates marketing concepts i.e. customer orientation, service recovery, and service quality with product returns and reverse logistics processes.

As a result, customer orientation literature suggested five preliminary dimensions of returns service expectations consisting of responsiveness, empathy, timeliness, feedback, and information availability. Tangibles, assurance, responsiveness, empathy, timeliness, convenience, and reliability were the proposed service aspects that customers would expect based on service quality literature. Timeliness, convenience, and compensation were the dimensions proposed within the area of product returns and reverse logistics literature. It should be noted that service recovery literature suggested twelve components of returns service expectations as managing product returns could be viewed as managing service recovery due to the fact that the core processes of reverse flow of products start from unhappy customers (Potdar, 2009).

3. Research methodology

Individual in-depth interviews were employed as the researcher could investigate much deeper into the interested issue and eliminate negative group influences (Churchill, 1995). The purpose of adopting qualitative interviews was to reassure returns service dimensions derived from literature review and gain a deeper understanding of actual customer expectations of product returns service. In this regard, the scope of study focused on the mobile industry which has been one of the growing fastest industries in Thailand in the past twenty years. As of the end of 2014, there were 97.68 million mobile subscribers in Thailand (Office of the National Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission of Thailand, 2015), accounting for 146% of total population. The scope of consumer returns service includes receiving returns from the customers, exchanging for the whole product or some parts due to defects, requesting for repair and maintenance or any other customer requirements in the backward flow of processes (Autry et al., 2001). According to the interviews with customer service managers of the top two mobile companies in Thailand, selected from market share ranking in 2015 (Thai Mobile Center, 2015), the product returns service process practically consists of five steps: servicing a customer call and/or carry-in, processing the request, inspecting and completing the pick up process, and measuring performance. Focusing on customer service expectations from the firms' view, they put emphasis on timeliness, empathy and cost to customers.

The study relies on phenomenological interviewing, a type of in-depth interview that grounds in the understanding of lived experiences to develop a world view (Marshall and Rossman, 2006). The qualitative process is described as follows (Figure 1).



6

Figure 1 Steps for individual in-depth interviews

First, guided questions for semi-structured interviews were developed to gain the understandings of customer expectations of returns service in mobile industry and to ensure that all issues identified in the literature review were covered. Although the topics were planned, a set of questions were not asked with specific words or in a particular order to gain a smooth and natural interviewing (Babbie, 2010). The guided questions included cumulative returns experience for the past one year, the procedures of returning the products from their point of views, their expectations in each step of product returns process, and the preliminary returns service expectations derived from literature reviews. Participants' returns service involvement in a year possibly covers cumulative experiences that can be fruitful to the current study.

Those guided questions were revised by three academics and experts in service marketing and reverse logistics area. Next, individual in-depth interviews with twenty customers who had returns experience in the past one year were conducted. According to Guest et al. (2006), the smallest acceptable sample for all qualitative study is fifteen, thus twenty samples in this study is sufficient for developing the meaningful patterns and subsequent interpretations.

With the consent of interviewees, the interviews were recorded and fully transcribed following the conversations for later analysis. To achieve face or content validity, the findings were discussed with marketing and logistics experts. Data collection took place for four weeks. To gain a wide variety of answers, the sampling strategy involves diversity in consumer demographic profiles in terms of age, gender, education and occupation (Brunk, 2012). The characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 2.

Variables	Categories	Percentage of
	-	Interviewees
Gender	Male	50% (10)
	Female	50% (10)
Age	Below 25	30% (6)
	25-35	30% (6)
	36-45	15% (3)
	46-55	15% (3)
	Above 56	10% (2)
Education Level	Below undergraduate	35% (7)
	Undergraduate	25% (5)
	Graduate	40% (8)
Occupation	Students	20% (4)
	Employees	25% (5)
	Business owners	15% (3)
	Lecturers	20% (4)
	Government officials	10% (2)

Table 2 Interviewees' characteristics

Others	(retiree,	interior	10% (2)
designer)		

Qualitative data analysis

Qualitative content analysis is referred as "a research method for the subjective interpretation of the content of text data through the systematic classification process of coding and identifying themes or patterns" (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005, p.1278) which is widely used to analyze text data. It is used to provide knowledge and understanding of the phenomenon of interest (Downe-Wamboldt, 1992). Three approaches of content analysis involve conventional content analysis, directed content analysis and summative content analysis (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005). Conventional content analysis is used when extant theories on a phenomenon are limited, resulting in new categories flowing from the observations. Directed content analysis is applied to validate or extend a theory or research findings. Summative content analysis involves counting the frequency of words or text focusing on the appearance of a particular content or keyword. In this study, conventional content analysis was employed to derive the product returns processes established from customers. Then, directed content analysis was utilized to reassure the possible dimensions of return services generated from the related literature in marketing and logistics. Text would be categorized with the preliminary coding scheme. If any passages could not be categorized, they would be named a new code.

Accordingly, responses collected from qualitative interviews were classified or analyzed systematically through the procedures recommended by Marshall and Rossman (2006). The analytic procedures consist of seven stages: organizing the data, immersion in the data, generating categories, coding the data, writing analytic memos, searching for alternative interpretations, and reporting. After transcribing the data, it was organized according to names, dates and other demographic profiles using software. Reading through the data repeatedly was the next step to become familiar with those descriptive data. To generate themes and code the data, this study adopts content analysis, a method involving labeling recurring patterns in the text (Brady and Cronin, 2001). Three independent judges (marketing scholars) generated and coded the patterns of returns process and categories of returns service expectations. According to Neuendorf (2002), inter-judge reliability is established when there are at least two judges. Inter-judge reliability was examined to determine whether different judges categorized the same patterns into the same categories (Latham and Saari, 1984). The inter-judge agreement value of 0.95 was satisfactory, exceeding the cut-off value of 0.8 (Latham and Saari, 1984). Consequently, a preliminary summary was presented and searched for alternative understandings. The panels then analyzed and categorized the qualitative findings with initial dimensions derived from literatures.

4. Research findings of the study

According to the interviewees' experiences, product returns within the reverse flow involved customer request to accommodate improper functions or damaged devices, to return the products, to execute the repairs, and to exchange the products. The provided services were repairing, product compensation, exchanging for new/refurbished ones under warranty period, exchanging for new/refurbished ones with additional payment, and providing a new purchase. Their experiences included five different brands. In contacting the service providers, the participants described the processes as follows (Table 3).

The product returns service	Activities
processes	
1. Seeking for returns service	Searching for locations and operating hours
information	via phones and/or websites. Requesting for
	preliminary explanations of product
	problems.
2. Contacting the service centers	Bringing in the products to the store for
	servicing, queuing, complaining (if not
	customer's fault) and requesting for
	product's problem solving. Negotiating for
	claims, processing time and costs.
3. Looking forward to	Calling for status update of servicing.
compensation/returns	Notified for returns pick-up.
4. Inspecting and receiving	Testing functions of the returns/products.
compensation/returns	Paying service fee and related charges (if
	any).
5. Evaluating the whole returns	Assessing performance of firm's returns
process	service after completing the overall
	process. Contacting and complaining the
	service providers when the product does
	not perform well.

 Table 3 The product returns service processes from customer perspectives

Focusing on product returns service processes from customer points of view, interviewees described their requirements and expectations in each step. Interestingly, the following quotation from a participant illustrated some passages which did not exist in extant related literatures:

As you know, we use our mobiles all and every day. When (it was) out of order and must be taken to the service center for checking, once it took almost two weeks. What should I do? I hope the firm provides a second mobile for me during that time, like car repair services.

Another participant noted:

I would expect service employee to explain in a simple word what happened with my mobile. They should provide me with cost and time information of repairing or exchanging for a new one. Since returns processes involved the interaction between the customer and the front line employee during returns service delivery, the passage regarding interpersonal interactions was also addressed:

Once I contacted the service center, the queue was very long and the employee was in bad mood. As a customer service representative, she must be more willing to service people, recognizing that we (the customers) came in asking for the problem solving of the firm's product.

A participant also described an undesirable experience in having his device checked and repaired:

I took my phone in to get it repaired. They said they would get it done in two-week time. When it was the due date, I called them to get my phone back but the repairing was not completed and they didn't even tell me exactly how long it would take this time. I had to always call them to check the status. When it was actually done, I could only use my phone for three months until it broke down again. So I decided to buy a new brand. I was absolutely unimpressed. I'd like the service employees to be more reliable, update the progress periodically to customers, and assure that the problem would not happen again.

Based on three individual judges' analysis, these passages were considered with initial expectations dimensions derived from literature review. Customer expectations of returns service in each step of the returns process are shown in Table 4. Notably, there were no additional dimensions of returns service from the qualitative findings.

Product returns service processes (Customer perspectives)	Customer expectations (In-depth Interviews)	Returns service dimensions	
1. Seeking for returns service information	Easy to access information	Information availability	
	Availability of service locations	Information availability	
	Availability and flexibility of operating hours	Information availability Empathy	
	Concern for customer' s problems	Empathy	
	Preliminary explanation of why problems had occurred	Explanation	
2. Contacting the service centers	Shorter length of time for queuing	Timeliness	
	Adequate service employees	Tangibles	

Table 4 Customer expectations of product returns service

2016

Product returns service processes (Customer perspectives)	Customer expectations (In-depth Interviews)	Returns service dimensions
	Facilities and activities provided during queuing	Tangibles
	Good explanation of why problems had occurred	Explanation
	Communicating effectively	Responsiveness
	Taking care of problems promptly	Responsiveness
	Prompt and reliable employees'	Empowerment
	decision for claim	Responsiveness
	Concern for customer's problems	Empathy
	Friendly, polite and service- minded employees	Empathy
	Understandings of customer needs and requests	Empathy
	Knowledgeable employees/technicians	Assurance
	Information of cost and time	Information
	provided	availability
	Solution choices provided	Information availability
	Ease and speed of processing the requests	Convenient process
	Appropriate conditions for claim	Convenient process
3. Looking forward to compensation/returns	Easy to access information	Information availability
•	Status information provided	Information availability
	Shorter length of time for processing	Timeliness
	Periodic feedback from service employees	Feedback
	Good responsibility of service employees	Reliability
	Understandings of customer needs	Empathy
	Rental mobile provided for free	Compensation
	Accurate returns' functions	Reliability

Product returns service processes (Customer perspectives)	Customer expectations (In-depth Interviews)	Returns service dimensions
4. Inspecting and receiving		
compensation/returns	Delivery of returns at the time	Reliability
	firm promises	Timeliness
	Shorter length of time for processing	Timeliness
	Guarantee for double fault	Assurance
	Good explanation what has done and suggestion of product usage	Explanation
5. Evaluating the whole	Accurate returns' functions	Reliability
returns process	Reliable and knowledgeable	Reliability
	employees	Assurance
	Ease and speed	Convenient
		process
		Responsiveness
		Timeliness
	Convenient process of returns	Convenient
		process
	One-stop service	Convenient
		process
	One service employee for one	Convenient
	customer	process
		Empathy
	Overall returns process	Convenient
	completed by one service	process
	employee	Empowerment
	No double fault	Assurance
	Firm follow-up	Assurance
	Compensating when customer dissatisfaction has occurred	Compensation

The qualitative findings were finally discussed with academics and practitioners in service marketing and logistics field. Consequently, returns service expectations based on literature review, consumer interviews, and expert validation includes tangibles, responsiveness, explanation, empathy, empowerment, reliability, timeliness, information availability, assurance, compensation, feedback, and convenient process.

It is noteworthy that the interview results were in line with previous empirical researches indicating the importance of these dimensions in assessing service performance in various service settings. For instance, tangibles (El-garaihy, 2013; Robledo, 2001), responsiveness (El-garaihy, 2013), empathy (El-garaihy, 2013), empowerment (Bowen, 1997), and reliability (Robledo, 2001) were what customer expected in airline services and hospitality industry. The dimensions of tangibles (Arasli et al., 2005; Boshoff, 2005; Chi Cui et al., 2003; Lam, 2002), responsiveness

12

2016

(Abdullah et al., 2011; Arasli et al., 2005; Lam, 2002), explanation (Boshoff, 2005; Tax et al.,1998), empathy (Arasli et al., 2005; Chi Cui et al., 2003; Lam, 2002; Tax et al.,1998), reliability (Arasli et al., 2005; Boshoff, 2005; Abdullah et al., 2011; Lam, 2002), timeliness (Tax et al.,1998), assurance (Lam, 2002), compensation (Tax et al.,1998), feedback (Boshoff, 2005), and convenient process (Lam, 2002) were indicated in banking industry. Three factors comprising timeliness (Mentzer et al., 1999; Tien et al., 2009), information availability (Tien et al., 2009), and convenient process (Mentzer et al., 1999) were addressed by customers in logistics service industry.

Table 5 summarizes customer expectations of product returns service in the mobile industry utilizing the combination approach of literature review and in-depth interviews.

Returns service expectations	Definitions	Literature review	Qualitative interviews
Tangibles	The physical evidences of facilities, equipment and service personnel. (Boshoff, 2005; Parasuraman et al.,1985, 1988)	Service recovery (Boshoff, 2005) Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)	Facilities and activities provided during queuing Adequate service employees
Responsiveness	The employees' readiness to provide prompt service or prompt response. (Boshoff, 1997; Deshpande et al., 1993; Ladhari, 2009; Parasuraman et al., 1985)	Customer orientation (Deshpande et al., 1993); Jeong and Hong, 2007) Service recovery (Boshoff, 2005; Gilbert and Wang, 2003; Krishna et al., 2011; Parasuraman et al., 2005) Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)	Taking care of problems promptly Communicating effectively Speed of processing the requests Prompt employees' decision for claim
Explanation	An explanation of the problems occurred and what has done to solve customers' problems. (Boshoff, 2005; qualitative study)	Service recovery (Boshoff, 2005; Krishna et al., 2011; Tax et al., 1998)	Preliminary explanation of why problems had occurred Good explanation of why problems had occurred Good explanation what has done and suggestion of product usage
Empathy	The sympathy and personalized attention the service employees provide to their customers and the understandings customers' problems from their point of views.	Customer orientation (Deshpande et al., 1993; Jeong and Hong, 2007) Service recovery (Krishna et al., (2011; Tax et al., 1998)	Concern for customer's problems Understandings of customer needs and requests Friendly, polite and service-minded employees

Table 5 Customer expectations of product returns service in mobile industry

Returns service expectations	Definitions	Literature review	Qualitative interviews
	(Krishna et al., 2011; Ladhari, 2009; Parasuraman et al., 1985)	Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)	One service employee for one customer Flexibility of operating hours
Empowerment	The company gives the service employees the authority to use their common sense and to take care of their customers. (Lashley,1999; Krishna et al., 2011)	Service recovery (Boshoff, 1997, 2005; Krishna et al., 2011)	Prompt and reliable employees' decision for claim Overall returns process completed by one service employee
Reliability	The company's ability to render the service reliably and accurately. (Parasuraman et al., 1985; Ladhari, 2009)	Service recovery (Gilbert and Wang, 2003) Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)	Reliable employees' decision for claim Good responsibility of service employees Accurate returns' functions
Timeliness	The time taken to perform the service and the company's ability to provide its customers with timely returns delivery. (Mostafa et al.,2014; Tax et al.,1998; Tien et al.,2009)	Customer orientation (Tien et al., 2009) Service recovery (Mostafa et al., 2014; Tax et al., 1998) Service quality (Bienstock et al., 1997; Mentzer et al., 1999) Product returns and reverse logistics (Autry et al., 2001; Richey et al., 2005)	Shorter length of time for queuing Speed of processing the requests Shorter length of time for processing Delivery of returns at the time firm promises
Information availability	The company allows its customers to access information related to activities of returns process according to customer needs. (Jeong and Hong, 2007; Tien et al., 2009)	Customer orientation (Tien et al., 2009; Jeong and Hong, 2007) Service recovery (Krishna et al., 2011)	Easy to access information Availability of service locations Availability of operating hours Information of cost and time provided Solution choices provided Status information provided
Assurance	The knowledgeable and respectful service employees and the customer's confidence that the problems would not happen again. (Barlow and Moller, 1996; Parasuraman et al., 1985; Ladhari, 2009)	Service recovery (Barlow and Moller, 1996; Chang, 2008) Service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988)	Knowledgeable employees/technicians Guarantee for double fault No double fault Firm follow-up
Compensation	The compensation provided by company	Service recovery (Parasuraman et al., 2005; Tax et al., 1998)	Rental mobile provided for free

Returns service expectations	Definitions	Literature review	Qualitative interviews
	when returns or problems occur. (Genchev, 2007; Parasuraman et al., 2005; Rogers et al., 2002)	Product returns and reverse logistics (Autry et al., 2001; Richey et al., 2005)	Compensating when customer dissatisfaction has occurred
Feedback	The feedback provided by company about the progress made to solve the problems. (Boshoff, 2005)	Customer orientation (Jeong and Hong, 2007) Service recovery (Boshoff, 2005)	Periodic feedback from service employees
Convenient process	The flexible returns process which should be easy to access in a convenient manner. (Tax et al., 1998)	Service recovery (Tax et al., 1998) Service quality (Mentzer et al., 1999) Product returns and reverse logistics (Autry et al., 2001; Petersen and Kumar, 2010; Richey et al., 2005)	Easy to access information Ease and speed of processing the requests Appropriate conditions for claim Convenient process of returns One-stop service

5. Conclusions, discussion and implications of the study

Since consumers use their expectations as reference or standard points to evaluate firm's performance (Oliver, 1980; Robledo, 2001), understanding customer expectations is one key consideration in providing superior services, consequently achieving customer satisfaction. While previous researches in product returns and reverse logistics management have mainly focused on firm-based approach, the current study proposed that to manage product returns effectively, the consumer returns process should be viewed as service offerings and such returns service should be managed based on actual customer expectations. The combination approach of a review of literatures and qualitative interviews was used to gain a deeper understanding of customer expectations of product returns service in mobile industry. As a result, the product returns process from consumer interviews includes seeking for returns service information, contacting the service centers, looking forward to compensation/returns, inspecting and receiving compensation/returns and evaluating the whole returns process. The resulting process could extend the body of knowledge in product returns and reverse logistics integrating customer perspectives as the returns process in previous literatures (Genchev, 2007; Rogers et al., 2002; Stock and Mulki, 2009) and service providers' interviews have been based on firm perspectives.

Subject to product returns processes from customers' viewpoint, findings revealed that returns service expectations comprise tangibles, responsiveness, explanation, empathy, employee's empowerment, reliability, timeliness, information availability, assurance, compensation, feedback, and convenient process.

Tangibles include facilities, equipment and personnel. The contacting point at the service center becomes a starting point of the returns process. Customers assess the

return service employee and their working environment at the contacting point. This dimension corresponds to service recovery (Boshoff, 2005) and service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988) literatures. According to Parasuraman et al. (2005), immediate and effective handling of return requests and problems is required for managing product returns service; therefore, responsiveness was included. Explanation is also required for the returns service as from customer's point of view, the firm's failure happens. Hence, this dimension corresponds to service recovery literature (Boshoff, 2005; Krishna et al., 2011; Tax et al., 1998).

Empathy relates to interpersonal treatment by employees in the service recovery context (Tax et al., 1998) and the firm's willingness to put its customers first in customer orientation literature (Deshpande et al., 1993). Thus, empathy or the understandings customers' problems from their point of views is an important factor in providing returns service. Employee empowerment refers to the power given to service employees by the firm to take care of their customers (Lashley, 1999; Krishna et al., 2011). In this regard, customers should expect that the first employee who first receives the return request is able to solve the problem and does not pass it to the others (Boshoff, 2005).

Reliability is needed for product returns management to ensure its stable service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985; Ladhari, 2009). Timeliness is also a critical factor as the customers require that the firm should be able to keep promises concerning timeframes of returns delivery (Tien et al., 2009) and respond to customer requests with speed (Mostafa et al., (2014). Information availability is an essential element in providing the return service because the entire process may not end within a day. According to qualitative interviews, customers required information regarding service locations, operating hours, cost and time, solution choices and service status. Thus, the firm should allow its customers to access information related to activities of returns process according to customer needs (Jeong and Hong, 2007; Tien et al., 2009). In accordance with service recovery (Barlow and Moller, 1996; Chang, 2008) and service quality (Parasuraman et al., 1985, 1988) literatures, customers expect the knowledgeable service employees and that the problems would not occur again. Therefore, assurance dimension was included.

Based on qualitative interviews, some customers indicated that rental mobile should be provided for free as compensation during processing their requests or executing the repairs. Since in many cases, product problems were not initiated by users, recovering should be considered in providing returns service. Consequently, expectations of compensation correspond to service recovery concept (Parasuraman et al., 2005; Tax et al., 1998). In addition, the feedback about the progress provided by firm was also expected as it represents the firm's commitment to keep in touch with customers (Jeong and Hong, 2007). Finally, customer expectations of returns service, ease of process and overall returns process completed by one service employee. Put differently, the returns process should be easy to access in a convenient manner (Tax et al., 1998).

In summary, instead of managing product returns from firm foundation as past researches, the current study was established to meet the objective of services marketing and reverse logistics management in satisfying customer expectations. Put differently, the study attempts to shed new light on this issue in taking a different perspective in managing product returns. It constitutes essential groundwork for future empirical studies in product returns and reverse logistics management integrating customer expectations. Any subsequent research work could employ further research techniques such as observation and quantitative survey. Future researches might include other industries that usually face product returns problems for enhancing generalizability. Additionally, since customer expectations regarding product returns service might vary among different regions, further studies could take cross-cultural context into account in managing product returns on the basis of customer perspective.

Regarding managerial contributions, the study would be useful for practitioners to manage the resulting twelve dimensions of returns service expectations and adapt their strategies accordingly. For instance, firm might design returns service delivery process to be easy to access in a convenient manner termed as one-stop service and allow its customers to access information related to activities of returns process according to customer needs. In summary, the findings help practitioners formulate their returns strategies for long-term customer satisfaction.

References

- Abdullah, F., Suhaimi, R., Saban, G. and Hamali, J. (2011). Bank service quality (BSQ) index: an indicator or service performance. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 28(5), 542-555.
- Agrawal, S., Singh, R.K. and Murtaza, Q. (2014). Forecasting product returns for recycling in Indian electronics industry. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, 11(1), 102-114.
- Arasli, H., Mehtap-Smadi, S. and Katircioglu, S.T. (2005). Customer service quality in the Greek Cypriot banking industry. *Managing Service Quality*, 15 (1), 41-56.
- Autry, C.W., Daugherty, P.J. and Richey, R.G. (2001). The challenge of reverse logistics in catalog retailing. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 31(1), 26-37.
- Babbie, E. (2010). *The Practice of Social Research*. International Edition. Wadsworth, Cengage Learning, CA.
- Banomyong, R., Veerakachen, V. and Supatn, N. (2008). Implementing leagility in reverse logistics channels. *International Journal of Logistics: Research and Applications*, 11(1), 31-47.
- Barlow, J. and Moller, C. (1996). A complaint is a gift: Using customer feedback as a strategic tool. San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Bernon, M., Upperton, J., Bastl, M. and Cullen, J. (2013). An exploration of supply chain integration in the retail returns process. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 43(7), 586-608.
- Bienstock, C.C., Mentzer, J.T., and Bird, M.M. (1997). Measuring physical distribution service quality. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 25(1), 31-44.

- Boshoff, C. (1997). An experimental study of service recovery options. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 8(2), 110-130.
- Boshoff, C. (2005). A re-assessment and refinement of RECOVSAT: An instrument to measure satisfaction with transaction-specific service recovery. *Managing Service Quality*, 15(5), 410.

Bowen, J.T. (1997). A market-driven approach to business development and service improvement in the hospitality industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 9(7), 334-344.

- Brady, M.K. and Cronin, J.J. (2001). Some new thoughts on conceptualizing perceived service quality: a hierarchical approach. *Journal of Marketing*, 65(3), 34-49.
- Brown, S.W. and Bitner, M.J. (2006). Mandating a service revolution for marketing. In The Service-Dominant Logic of Marketing: Dialog, Debate, and Directions, Robert F. Lusch and Stephen L. Vargo, eds., Armonk, NY: M.E. Sharpe, 393-405,
- Brunk, K. H. (2012). Un/ethical company and brand perceptions: Conceptualizing and operationalizing consumer meanings. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 111, 551-565.
- Chang, C. (2007). *Customer expectations of the Taiwan banking industry*. Doctoral Dissertation, Nova Southeastern University.
- Chang, C.C. (2008). Choice, perceived control, and customer satisfaction: The psychology of online service recovery. *Cyber Psychology & Behavior*, 11(3), 321-328.
- Chi Cui, C., Lewis, B.R. and Park, W. (2003). Service quality measurement in the banking sector in South Korea. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 21 (4/5), 191-201.
- Churchill, Jr., G.A. (1995). *Marketing research*. Sixth edition. The Dryden Press. Fl, USA.
- Cronin, J.J. and Taylor, A.S. (1992). Measuring service quality: a reexamination and an extension. *Journal of Marketing*, 56(3), 55-67.
- Deshpande, R., Farley, J.U. and Webster, F.E. (1993). Corporate culture, customer orientation, and innovativeness in Japanese firms: a quadrad analysis. *Journal of Marketing*, 57(1), 23-307.
- Downe-Wamboldt, B. (1992). Content Analysis: Method, applications, and issues. *Health Care for Women International*, 13, 313-321.
- El-garaihy, W.H. (2013). Developing and validating a hospitality service quality scale inSaudi Arabia (HOSP-SQ): A structural equation model. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(14), 224-238.
- Ferguson, M., Guide, Jr., V.D.R. and Souza, G.C. (2006). Supply chain coordination for false failure returns. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 8, 376-393.
- French, M.L. and Discenza, R. (2006). Returns in process industries: a managerial perspective. *Management Research News*, 29(12), 769-781.
- Genchev, S.E. (2007). Assessing reverse logistics complexity: Conceptual model, scale development, and a case study. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Oklahoma.

- Gilbert, D. and Wang, R.K.C. (2003). Passenger expectations and airline services: A Hong Kong based study. *Tourism Management*, 24(5), 519-532.
- Grisaffe, D. (2001). Loyalty attitude, behavior, and good science: a third take on Neal-Brandt debate. *Journal of Consumer Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction and Complaining Behavior*, 14, 55-59.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A. and Johnson, L. (2006). "How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability". *Field Methods*, 18(1), 59-82.
- Hess, J., Chu, W. and Gerstner, E. (1996). Controlling product returns in direct marketing. *Marketing Letters*, 7, 307-317.
- Hogan, J.E., Lemon, K.N. and Rust, R.T. (2002). Customer equity management: charting new directions for the future of marketing. *Journal of Service Research*, Special Issue on Managing Customer Equity, John E. Hogan and Katherine N. Lemon, Eds., 5(1), 4-12.
- Hsieh, H.F. and Shannon, S.E. (2005). Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(9), 1277-1288.
- Jeong, J.S. and Hong, P. (2007). Customer orientation and performance outcomes in supply chain management. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 20(5), 578-594.
- Kholi, A.K. and Jaworski, B.J. (1990). Market orientation: the construct, research propositions, and managerial implications. *Journal of Marketing*, 54(April), 1-18.
- Krishna, A. and Dangayach, G.S. and Jain, R. (2011). Service recovery: Literature review and research issues. *Journal of Service Science Research*, 3, 71-121.
- Ladhari R. (2009). A review of twenty years of SERVQUAL research. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, 1(2), 172-198.
- Lam, T.K.P. (2002). Making sense of SERVQUAL's dimensions to the Chinese customers in Macau. *Journal of Market-Focused Management*, 5 (10), 43-58.
- Lashley, C. (1999). Employee empowerment in services: a framework for analysis. *Personnel Review*, 28(3), 169-191.
- Latham, G. and Saari, L.M. (1984). Do people do what they say? Further studies on the situational interview. Journal of Applied Psychology, 69(4), 422-427.
- Marshall, C. and Rossman, G.B. (2006). *Designing Qualitative Research*. 4th ed. Sage Publications, Inc, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Mentzer, J.T., Flint, D.J. and Kent, J.L. (1999). Developing a logistics service quality scale. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 20(1), 9-32.
- Miller, J.A. (1977). Studying satisfaction, modifying models, eliciting expectations, posing problems and making meaningful measurements in Hunt H.K., (Ed). *Conceptualization and Measurement of Customer Satisfaction and Dissatisfaction*, Marketing Science Institute, Cambridge, MA, 72-91.
- Mostafa, R., Lages, C.R. and Sääksjärvi, M. (2014). The CURE scale: a multidimensional measure of service recovery strategy. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 28(4), 300 310.

- Myers, J.H. (1991). Measuring customer satisfaction: Is meeting expectations enough? *Marketing Research* (December), 25-43.
- Narver, J.C. and Slater, S.F. (1990). The effect of a market orientation on business profitability. *Journal of Marketing*, 54 (October), 20-35.
- Neuendorf, K.A. (2002). *The Content Analysis Guidebook*. Sage Publication, Thousand Oaks, CA.Office of the National Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission of Thailand
- (NBTC). (2015). *Thailand ICT info: Mobile market report*. Retrieved from http://www2.nbtc.go.th/TTID/ on 6 May 2015.
- Oliver, R.L. (1980). A cognitive model of the antecedents and consequences of satisfaction decisions. *Journal of Marketing Research* (pre-1986), 17, 460-469.
- Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V.A. and Berry, L.L. (1985). A conceptual model of service quality and its implications for future research. *Journal of Marketing*, 49(4), 41-50.
- Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V.A. and Berry, L.L. (1988). SERVQUAL: A multiple item scale for measuring customer perceptions of service quality. *Journal of Retailing*, 63(1), 12-37.
- Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V.A. and Maholtra, A. (2005). E-S-QUAL: A multipleitem scale for assessing electronic service quality. *Journal of Service Research*, 7(3), 213.
- Petersen, J.A. and Kumar, V. (2010). Can product returns make you money? *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 51(3), 84.
- Potdar, A. (2009). *Methodology to forecast product returns for the consumer electronics industry*. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Texas at Arlington.
- Richey R.G., Genchev, S.E. and Daugherty, P.J. (2005). The role of resource commitment and innovation in reverse logistics performance. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 35(4), 233-257.
- Robledo, M.A. (2001). Measuring and managing service quality: integrating customer expectations. *Managing Service Quality*, 11(1), 22-31.
- Rogers, D.S. and Tibben-Lembke, R. (1998). *Going backwards: reverse logistics trends and practices*, Reverse Logistics Executive Council, Reno, NV.
- Rogers, D.S., Lambert, D.M., Croxton, K.L. and Garcia-Dastugue, S.J. (2002). The returns management process, *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 13(2), 1-18.
- Scariotta, T. (2003). How Philips reduced returns. *Supply Chain Management Review*, November/December.
- Stock , J., Speh, T. and Shear, H. (2002). Many happy (product) returns. *Harvard Business Review*, 80(7), 16-17.
- Stock, J.R. and Mulki, J.P. (2009). Product returns processing: An examination of practices of manufacturers, wholesalers/distributors, and retailers. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 30(1), 33-62.
- Stock , J., Speh, T. and Shear, H. (2006). Managing product returns for competitive advantage. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, Fall, 57-62.

- Tax, S. S., Brown, S. W., and Chandrashekaran, M. (1998). Customer evaluations of service complaint experiences: Implications for relationship marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, 62(2), 60-76.
- Thai Mobile Center. (2015). Market share of smart phones in Q1, 2015. Retrieved from http://www.thaimobilecenter.com/news-2558/Top-10-sell-in-Q1-2015.asp on 6 June 2015.
- Tien, Y., Ellinger, A.E. and Chen, H. (2009). Third-party logistics provider customer orientation and customer firm logistics improvement in China. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 40(5), 356-376.
- Vargo, S.L. and Lusch, R.F. (2004). Evolving to a new dominant logic of marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, 68 (January), 1-17.
- Wang, H., Wang, W. and Kobaccy, K. (2007). Analysis and design of returns policies from a supplier's perspective. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 58, 391-401.
- Yalabik, B. (2005). *Product returns in closed loop demand chains*. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 22 - 35 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.2 ajmi.stamford.edu

Customer Relationship Management Capability and Marketing Survival

Rattanaporn Saelee

Mahasarakham University, Thailand rattanaporn.s@acc.msu.ac.th

Prathanporn Jhundra-indra

Mahasarakham University, Thailand

prathanporn.j@acc.msu.ac.th

Kesinee Muenthaisong

Mahasarakham University, Thailand kesinee.m@acc.msu.ac.th

Abstract

This research aims to develop a conceptual model of customer relationship management capability (CRMC) which helps to broaden the understanding of CRMC and its role in enhancing business service outcomes and marketing survival. The results were derived form 122 beauty clinics in Thailand. The hypothesized relationships among variables are examined by using ordinary least square (OLS) regression analysis. The results suggested that some dimensions of CRMC (customer database value, customer learning continuity, and customer based participant) were a positive influence on service outcomes. Furthermore, customer communication channel was a negative influence on service outcomes and service competitiveness had a positive influence on marketing survival. In addition, this model provides the clearer understanding of CRMC in business value perspectives. Importantly, marketing manager could apply the result to improve CRMC of a firm to enhance service outcomes and marketing survival.

Keyword: Customer Relationship Management Capability (CRMC), Service Creativity (SCA), Service Innovation (SIN), Service excellence (SEC), Service Competitiveness (SCP), Marketing Survival (MSV), M31.

1. Introduction

Recently, the adoption of customer relationship management capability (CRM) as a core strategy has increased significantly (Rigby & Ledingham, 2004). Chen & Chen (2004) suggest that through using CRM, many firms can reach tangible benefits such as increasing of revenues and profitability, and also obtain intangible benefits such as improvement of customer service, and customer satisfaction. Evidently, customers are important to business survival. The customer orientation approach is a critical factor of business success and it guides business to focus on the customers (Ranjan & Bhatnagar, 2008). Consequently, 72 percent of businesses must focus on retaining customers (Band, 2010).

In the present, the services market has met a high competition that many service providers attempt to seek the new approach about implementing customer relationship management to enhance their competitive position (Roh et al., 2005), especially, in high involvement personal service (such as healthcare services and airline industry). High involvement personal service is affected by consumers' emotional states and it leads to customer satisfaction and loyalty (Bloemer & De Ruyter, 1999). If a firm cannot enhance customer satisfaction, customer may find alternatively the others service provider, who can make them more satisfied. Then, businesses must also build relationships with customers to protect themselves from competitors' offerings (Therron & Terblanche, 2010). Furthermore, businesses are investing in building customer relationships, leading to developing business strategies for creating customer value. Barry et al. (2008) have investigated the long-term relationship with customers in order to increase profits and market shares.

Moreover, most studies of marketing research have focused on the influence of CRM and how its affect does to customers and to create customer value, such as customer loyalty or satisfaction (Mithas, Krishnan & Fornell, 2005) but there is rare to focus on firm point of view. Furthermore, there are few empirical studies on the growth of CRM in developing market such as Asia and South America (Kumar, Sunder & Ramasseshan, 2011). Therefore, the researchers are interesting the effect of CRMC to marketing survival of high involvement personal service in Thailand.

2. Literature Review

Customer relationship management capability (CRMC)

Customer relationship management (CRM) is evaluated by using the relationship marketing. The concept of CRM became popular in the 1990's (Ling & Yen, 2001). CRM is designed with the intention of building relationships with customers for enhancing business profitability in a competitive economy (Ismail, Talukder & Panni, 2007). In addition, CRM composes of performance-enhancing capabilities (Malmi et al., 2004) and improving firm performance (Coltman, 2007).

CRMC are imbedded in CRM activities that is also used a firm's skills and knowledge to "identify potential customers, maintain a relationship with them, and use this relationship to make a profit for the firm" (Morgan, Vorhies & Mason, 2009). Furthermore, CRMC is embedded in the core CRM activities (Reinartz et al., 2004). Furthermore, this conceptual framework suggests five dimensions of CRMC that includes customer database value, customer learning continuity, customer based participation, customer communication channel, and customer- organization partnership. Therefore, all hypotheses in this paper propose that customer relationship management capability are positively associated with marketing survival. Thus, a conceptual model of this paper is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1: A Conceptual Framework

Customer Database Value (CDV)

CDV is significant to the CRM process, which focuses on business assets (Reimann, Schilke & Thomas, 2010). The efficiency of a CRM program comes from the customer database as a firm can deploy a customer database for reaching the potential information (Winer, 2001). Furthermore, the customer data collecting and mindset businesses can enhance customer value and overall business performance (Reinartz, Kraff & Hoyer, 2004). Therefore, the ignorance of customer data quality may cause of business failure (Zahay, Peltier, & Krishen, 2012). For this research, the customer database value refers to the ability of a firm to create an effective customer database obtained through analysis, and used to create a long-term relationship with a customer.

Moreover, businesses can enhance capabilities from a database by seeking out customer desires and needs. They can use this information to create new products and add future value, build creativity from the database (Zahay, 2008) and archive inventions. (Battor & Battot, 2010). Hence, hypothesis is given as follows:

H1: Customer database value has a positive influence on a) service creativity, b) service innovation, c) service excellence, and d) service competitiveness.

Customer Learning Continuity (CLC)

Learning is a process of seeking customer desires to identify a potential customer, evaluate customer values, and predict future behaviors of a customer (Sun, Li & Zhoa, 2006). Organizations can obtain knowledge and new approaches through a continuous learning process and the interaction with the business environment (Argyris, 1977). Then CLC refers to the continuous process of managing customers and understanding customer needs which are used for creating superior customer value (Jumpapang & Ussahawanitchakit, 2012).

Moreover, learning is a result of customer knowledge creation that leads to the creation of a competitive advantage of businesses (Murillo & Annabi, 2002). Customer learning orientation may help the business to understand customer needs, create new products and services, and reduce the launching time of new products and services (Feng et al., 2012). Furthermore, some research has suggested that customer orientation is positively related to innovation, customer value creation, and business performance (Nasution et al., 2011). Hence, hypothesis is stated as follows:

H2 : Customer learning continuity has a positive influence on a) service creativity,

b) service innovation, *c)* service excellence, and *d)* service competitiveness.

Customer-Based Participation (CBP)

The strength of a core business's competencies comes from incorporating their customers by digesting a customer's knowledge and responding to customer needs (Dahan & Hauser, 2002). Then, customers have increased participation with businesses to co-create customer experience (Payne, Strorbacka & Flow, 2009). This research defines CBP as the firms' ability to create customer involvement and collaboration with a firm in producing and delivering service to create value.

Additionally, the benefits of customer participation are presented as: reduction in market uncertainty, identification of a customer's need (Dahan & Huaser, 2002), varieties of ideas that lead to a business's creativity (Cooper et al., 2002), and creating a new product or new service (Dholakia & Morwitz, 2002). In addition, interaction between businesses and customers can help businesses to have greater service delivery (Auh et al., 2007) and lead to the competitive advantage (Bendapudi & Leone, 2003). Thus, hypothesis is provided as follows:

H3 : Customer- based participation has a positive influence on a) service creativity, b) service innovation, c) service excellence, and d) service competitiveness.

Customer Communication Channel (CCC)

Communication is very important to business. Communication makes business understood and influenced customer behavior leading to improvement in customer retention, loyalty and profitability (Swift, 2001). Multichannel customer management is important because businesses use multichannel communication to enhance customer value drawing customer retention (Neslin et al., 2006). The customer communication and multichannel management perspective can explain the concept of a CCC as a firm's ability to create, deploy and evaluate a communication channel to enhance a long-term customer relationship.

For the business sector, marketing communication channels allow a firm to get deeper understanding of their customers. It also helps to interpret the customer's cocreation in the development process (Gustafsson, Kristensson & Witell, 2012). Moreover, social media can lead customer willingness to engage with business, creativity, and it can also create innovation (Baird & Parasnis, 2011). Thus, hypothesis is proposed as follows:

H4 : Customer- based participation has a positive influence on a) service creativity, b) service innovation, c) service excellence, and d) service competitiveness.

Customer Organization Partnership (COP)

Potential resources are important to businesses for creating competitiveness. Businesses will find the potential resources to make their business successful. Productive resources include customers as a potential resource or as a potential partner (Lengnick-hall, 1996). Then, this research defines COP as a firm motivating customer behavior to support the ability of the firm to deliver quality service.

Additionally, partners can help a business to promote its product and service, develop service quality, and access information from the partner to create service innovation (Zeithaml et al., 1996). Partnership engagement and a co-working relationship create benefits for the customer and supplier (Gemunden et al., 1998). Additionally, customer-business collaboration leads business an innovation, economic success (Hakansson & Snehota, 1995), and a long-term competitive advantage. Hence, the hypothesis is postulated as follows:

H5 : Customer organization partnership has a positive influence on a) service creativity, b) service innovation, c) service excellence, and d) service competitiveness.

Service Creativity (SCA)

SCA refers innovative, productive and potential ideas that are useful for the service business (Ambile et al., 1996). Creativity is a source of innovation. The lack of business creativity is meant lacking of innovation (Howard et al., 2008). A business is able to seek creativity from external sources such as a service user and customer information (Oke, 2007) and exchange knowledge with external partnership for building a network (Giannopoulou, Gryszkiewicz & Barletier, 2013). Moreover, the service excellence and competitiveness, both are based on creativity (Peter & Austin, 1985). Therefore, the hypothesis is hypothesized as follows:

H6 : Service creativity has a positive influence on a) service innovation, b) service excellence, and c) service competitiveness.

Service Innovation (SIN)

Innovation becomes an important factor, plays significant role toward the business's value, and creates a competitive advantage under a changing business environment (Cheng & Krumwiede, 2012). Moreover, Battor & Battor (2010) indicate that innovation is the mediating factor between CRM and its superior performance. In service perspective, the research defines SIN as a new form of service for the market (Thornhill, 2006). Furthermore, innovation can be an important key for competitiveness. Moreover, innovation is a key element of business success and business performance (O'Cass & Julian, 2006). Therefore, the hypothesis is posited as given:

H7 : Service innovation has a positive influence on service competitiveness. Service Excellence (SEC)

Excellence causes a firm had quick response to customer need and operation in the best way, and able to survive on risky environment (Kumar & Gulati, 2010). Additionally, SEC can be identified to the best of service pattern that is superior over a competitor (Akkarawimut & Ussahawanitchakit, 2010). Moreover, the excellence can support a business objective and value, enhancing a stakeholder's expectation and building competitiveness (Ritchie & Dale, 2000). Hence, the hypothesis is noted as follows:

H8 : Service excellence has a positive influence on service competitiveness.

Service Competitiveness (SCP)

SCP can be defined as firm ability to develop, maintain and gain service quality to enhance marketing profit and get superior service management over competitors (Ussahawanichakit, 2007). According to Mei and Nie (2008), they indicated that business capability has a significant influence on competitiveness and gained performance. Moreover competitive action in business makes a firm concentrate on information and communication with customers for establishing sustainability (Sonntag, 2000). Thus, many competitive businesses will build business competitiveness and create a competitive position superior than their rivals. It can be interpreted to sustainability and the survival of the business. Hence, the hypothesis is illustrated as follows:

H9 : Service competitiveness has a positive influence on marketing survival.

Marketing Survival (MSV)

Business survival is explained as sustainable economic growth and long-term business operation (Schwartz, 2009) and can be a potential indicator of business performance. In addition, MSV can be indicated to a firm that is permanently able to stay in the marketplace with a higher performance than the previous year (Christensen, Suarez & Utterback, 1998). Moreover, survival is dependent upon the business's ability to innovate and form relationships with external actors (Carroll & Hannan, 2000).

3. Research Methodology

The population of this research was identified to 723 beauty clinic businesses in Thailand which was able to access from the database of Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce, Thailand. The Thai beauty clinic businesses were chosen because they were in high involvement personal service. It was interpreted as delicateness of the operation, high customer expectation and needed customer knowledge and information to develop services (Song & Song, 2010). They also needed to retain long-term relationships with customersin in order to increase them in re-purchasing. The research employed a questionnaire for collecting data. It was measured by a five-point Likert scales ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The 723 questionnaires were directly distributed by mail to the marketing manager or marketing director of each beauty clinic. There were 122 completed questionnaires returned and usable. The causes of low response rate were from not upto-date database and some clinic had no marketing manager position. The non-response bias problem was tested and the results showed nonresponse bias among period of time responding back (earlier, middle, and late period). Moreover, the validity and reliability of questionnaire were identified. Table 1 shows the factor loading of each construct ranging from 0.613 - 0.955 which was above the cut-off score of 0.4. It indicates to obtain the construct validity.

Items	Factor Loadings	Cronbach's Alpha
Customer Database Value (CDV)	.613908	.763
Customer Learning Continuity (CLC)	.695918	.875
Customer Based Participation (CBP)	.659955	.851
Customer Communication Channels (CCC)	.635921	.808
Customer Organization Partnership (COP)	.690896	.873
Service Creativity (SCA)	.853912	.911
Service Innovation (SIN)	.833946	.911
Service Excellence (SEC)	.808885	.850
Service Competitiveness (SCP)	.743862	.807
Marketing Survival (MSV)	.707871	.865

Table 1: Results of Validity and Reliability Testing of Pretest

The range of Cronbach's alpha coefficient was between .763 - .911, all of which were greater than 0.7. Therefore, it can be concluded that all items in this research had a sufficient internal consistency (Nunnally & Berstein, 1994). The statistical

techniques were included factor analysis, variance inflation factor, and results of the correlation analysis were presented in Table 2. Moreover, the Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression analysis was used to test all hypotheses following the conceptual model and presented in Table 3.

CDV	CLC	CBP	CCC	COP	SCA	SIN	SEC	SCP	FIS
4.1462	4.2034	3.9936	4.3178	4.2949	3.8199	3.8729	3.8263	3.9682	
0.67587	0.66125	0.76584	0.57603	0.59927	0.75859	0.76885	0.66488	0.60059	
1									
.786***	1								
.596***	.769***	1							
.720***	.713***	.655***	1						
.638***	.776***	.722***	.652***	1					
.616***	.742***	.632***	.588***	.611***	1				
.554***	.644***		.476***	.500***	.785***	1			
.288***	.356***	.398***	.181**	.277***		.672***	1		
.219**	.252**	.319***	.049	.232***	.499***	.468***	.747***	1	
168*	208**	-226**	106	081	178	107	114	062	1
.002	.096	.084	.122	.010	.075	.080	.170	.226**	003
	4.1462 0.67587 1 .786*** .596*** .638*** .638*** .616*** .554*** .288*** .219** 168*	4.1462 4.2034 0.67587 0.66125 1	4.1462 4.2034 3.9936 0.67587 0.66125 0.76584 1	4.1462 4.2034 3.9936 4.3178 0.67587 0.66125 0.76584 0.57603 1 - - - .786*** 1 - - .786*** 1 - - .786*** 1 - - .786*** .769*** 1 - .720*** .713*** .655*** 1 .638*** .776*** .722*** .652*** .616*** .742*** .632*** .588*** .554*** .644*** .536*** .476*** .288*** .356*** .398*** .181** .219** .252** .319*** .049 168* 208** -226** 106	4.1462 4.2034 3.9936 4.3178 4.2949 0.67587 0.66125 0.76584 0.57603 0.59927 1 - - - - .786*** 1 - - - .786*** 1 - - - .786*** .769*** 1 - - .720*** .769*** 1 - - .638*** .776*** .655*** 1 - .638*** .776*** .722*** .652*** 1 .616*** .742*** .632*** .588*** .611*** .554*** .644*** .536*** .476*** .500*** .288*** .356*** .398*** .181** .277*** .219** .252** .319*** .049 .232*** 168* 208** -226** 106 081	4.1462 4.2034 3.9936 4.3178 4.2949 3.8199 0.67587 0.66125 0.76584 0.57603 0.59927 0.75859 1 - - - - - .786*** 1 - - - - .596*** .769*** 1 - - - .720*** .713*** .655*** 1 - - .638*** .776*** .722*** .652*** 1 - .638*** .776*** .722*** .652*** 1 - .616*** .742*** .632*** .588*** .611*** 1 .554*** .644*** .536*** .476*** .500*** .785*** .288*** .356*** .398*** .181** .277*** .545*** .219** .252** .319*** .049 .232*** .499*** .168* 208** -226** 106 081 178	4.1462 4.2034 3.9936 4.3178 4.2949 3.8199 3.8729 0.67587 0.66125 0.76584 0.57603 0.59927 0.75859 0.76885 1 - - - - - - .786*** 1 - - - - - .596*** .769*** 1 - - - - .720*** .713*** .655*** 1 - - - .638*** .776*** .722*** .652*** 1 - - .616*** .742*** .632*** .588*** .611*** 1 - .554*** .644*** .536*** .476*** .500*** .785*** 1 .288*** .356*** .398*** .181** .277*** .545*** .672*** .219** .252** .319*** .049 .232*** .499*** .468*** 168* 208*** 206***	4.1462 4.2034 3.9936 4.3178 4.2949 3.8199 3.8729 3.8263 0.67587 0.66125 0.76584 0.57603 0.59927 0.75859 0.76885 0.66488 1 .786*** 1 .596*** .769*** 1 .596*** .769*** 1 <	4.1462 4.2034 3.9936 4.3178 4.2949 3.8199 3.8729 3.8263 3.9682 0.67587 0.66125 0.76584 0.57603 0.59927 0.75859 0.76885 0.66488 0.60059 1 $$

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Matrix

4. Research Finding

The finding in Table 3 indicated that relationships between CDV and SCP were significant (b22=0.343, p<0.05). Thus, hypothesis 1d was supported, consistent in conformity with the findings of Lee (2013) who summarized that data mining can be lead to business competitiveness. Additionally, unexpected results show that relationships among SCA, SIN and SEC were not significant. Businesses collect information but do not use it as potential information. Consistent with Tarafdar et al., (2015), they indicated that employees misuse information preventing businesses from creativity, innovation and firm excellence. Hence, hypotheses 1a, 1b and 1c were not supported.

Table 3: Results of Regression Analysis

	Dependent Variables								
Independent Variables	Eq.1	Eq.2	Eq.3	Eq.4	Eq.5	Eq.6	Eq.7	Eq.8	
	SCA	SIN	SEC	SCP	SEC	SIN	SCP	MSV	
	.011	.120	.192	.343**					
Customer database value	(.121)	(.137)	(.160)	(.157)					
	.553**	.520**	.111	097					
Customer learning	*	*	(.198)	(.193)					
continuity	(.150)	(.169)							
Customer based	.114	.134	.399***	.424***					
participation	(.108)	(.122)	(.142)	(.139)					
Customer	.086	027	301**	511***					
communication channels	(.109)	(.123)	(.137)	(.140)					
Customer-organization	.034	042	025	.115					
partnership	(.111)	(.126)	(.147)	(.144)					
					.532***	.789***	.315***		
Service creativity					(.078)	(.058)	(.095)		

	Dependent Variables							
Independent Variables	Eq.1	Eq.2	Eq.3	Eq.4	Eq.5	Eq.6	Eq.7	Eq.8
	SCA	SIN	SEC	SCP	SEC	SIN	SCP	MSV
							292**	
Service innovation							(.108)	
							.760***	
Service excellence							(.081)	
Service competitiveness								.673*** (.073)
Relationship age	.002 (.131)	.024 (.148)	.162*	.260** *	.130*	.021 (.115)	.097	035
			(.172)	(.169)	(.154)		(.119)	(.143)
Firm size	023	.042	002	.028	.020	.033	.050	020
	(.002)	(.150)	(.176)	(.172)	(.157)	(.117)	(.120)	(.140)
Adjust R ²	.538	.389	.170	.197	.296	.607	.589	.430
*p<0.1, **p<0.05, ***p<0.01, a Beta coefficients with standard errors in parenthesis.								

CLC has provided significant relationship with SCA and SIN (b2 = 0.553, p<0.01; b9 = 0.528, p<0.01). Consistent with Blocker et al., (2011), they found that customer learning orientation was positively related to creativity and innovation. Thus, hypotheses 2a and 2b were supported. Nevertheless, Klarner & Raisch (2013) commented that inflexibility firms that did not respond to an environment change, although firms had continuity to learn about customers, firms did not employ customer information to create firm excellence and firm competitiveness. Moreover, Zollo & Winter (2002) argued that continuity learning with customer behavior leading to improve service effectiveness, but it did not affect the advantage of the service. Therefore, hypotheses 2c and 2d were not supported.

Moreover, CBP has provided significant relationships with SEC and SCP (b17 = 0.399, p<0.01; b24 = 0.424, p<0.01). Consistent with the findings of Auh et al., (2007), they suggested that co-operation with customers could help firms to provide better service to customer and achieved competitive effectiveness. Thus, hypotheses 3c and 3d were supported. Conversely, relationships between SCA and SIN were not significant. Consistent with Hsieh, Yen & Chin (2012), they mentioned that firms found extremely of customer participation-orientation, they had conflict between firm and customer. Then, the failure of creativity and innovation caused by the conflict opinion. Therefore, hypotheses 3a and 3b were not supported.

The results revealed that relationships among CCC, SEC and SCP had negative relationships (b18 = -0.301, p<0.05; b25 = -0.511, p<0.01). Being consistent with the finding of Pick (2014), he addressed that communication through confusing messages led customers switch to the rival. Also, bad communication may lead to a bad customer attitude (Duncan & Moriarty, 1998). Moreover, relationship between SCA and SIN was not significant because of communication channels could be led to negative effects such as people shared negative experiences about firm to others easier (Wang, 2011). Thus, hypotheses 4a-4d were not supported.

Also, COP had no significant relationships with SCA, SIN, SEC and SCP. From the result, consistent of Noble, Sinha & Kumar (2002), they identified that some unqualified service made lacking of potential to seek the right customer to be a partner. Additionally, customer's attitude to the firm had affected to customer partnership behavior such as willingness to share information and co-working with firm. The customer organization partnership did not influence on service creativity, service innovation, service excellence and service competitiveness. Thus, hypotheses 5a-5d were not supported.

Moreover, the results showed that SCA has positive effect to SIN, service excellence and SCP (b29 = 0.315, p<0.01; b34 = 0.789, p<0.01; b37 = 0.532, p<0.01). Thus, hypotheses 6a-c were supported. Consequently, SIN had negative significant relationship with SCP (b30=-.292, p<0.05). The diffusion innovation theory suggested that customer will accept innovation when they feel less risk and innovators have around 2.5% of customer (Rogers, 2010). If firm cannot provide innovation that being consistent with the existing values, past experiences, and needs of potential adopters, they can be the causes of acceptant innovation failures. Thus, hypothesis 7 was not supported. Also, relationships between SEC and SCP had significant relationship (b37=0.800, p<0.01). Thus, hypothesis 8 was supported. In model 8 showed the significant relationship between SCP and MSV (b40=0.65, p<0.01). Thus, hypothesis 9 was supported.

5. Discussion

The results show that each dimension of CRMC related to consequence consist of; CDV has strongly positive significant to SCP, and CLC has strongly positive significant to SCA and SIN. Moreover, CBP has strongly positive significant to SEC and SCP. Conversely, CCC has negative significant to SEC and SCP, and COP have not significant relationship to all consequence. In addition, SCA has positive significant to SIN, SEC and SCP, but SIN has negative significant to SCP. Furthermore, SCP has strongly positive significant to MSV. Moreover, most of CRMC dimensions are important to service firm and guide to market survival. However, firm should concern with CCC to crate the messages to customers and be careful when firm launch service innovation to the market.

For unexpected result in context of beauty clinics such as relationships between CDV and SCA, SIN and SEC which are not significant. This is because businesses cannot collect potential data. Most of beauty clinics have only customer's medical record that causes problematic to understand. Moreover, information of medical record does not concern with attitude of customer about service. It cannot compare service between others service. Then CLC does not provide significant relationship with SEC and SCP. Furthermore, customer participation does not lead to SCA and SIN because they just visit to doctors for solve their problems and receive advice from doctor. In addition, the most service creativity and innovation of beauty clinics are not from participate with customer but they are from medical research. Then CBP does not provide significant relationship with SCA and SIN. Despite the health-care businesses was less with considerate to the practice of 'emphasizing customer involvement in service' (Cheng & Yang, 2013, p. 322). Poor COB cannot enhance to performance and then COP does not provide significant relationship with all consequence.

6. Implication, Limitation, and Future Research

The main contribution of this paper is to provide a clearly definition of CRMC, and the same time, to generate five newly distinctive dimensions of CRMC at the

organization level. This helps marketing executive, marketing manager and CRM manager to understand and be able to apply the CRMC component in their business in order to achieve superior marketing performance. However, the limitation of this paper is held on not up-to-date database.

Future research ideas are necessary to confirm the generalization and the reliability of the results by changing targeted population to other service such as airline etc. In addition, the different population in others country for a comparative study to broaden the perspective should be investigated.

7. References

- Akkarawimut, K & Ussahawanitchakit, P. (2010). The Impacts of Brand Loyalty Strategy and Marketing Performance: An Empirical Study in Garment Business in Thailand. *International Journal of Business Strategy*, *10* (4), 33-48
- Amabile, T.M., Conti, R., Coon, H., Lazenby, J & Herron, M. (1996). Assessing The Work Environment for Creativity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 39(5).1154-1184.
- Argyris, C. (1977). Double Loop Learning in Organizations. *Harvard Business Review*, September – October,115–125.
- Auh, S., Bell, S.J., McLeod, C.S. & Shih, E. (2007). Co-production and customer loyalty in financial services. *Journal of Retailing*, 83 (3). 359-370.
- Baird, C. H. & Parasnis,G.(2011). From Social Customer Relationship Management, 39(5), 30-37.
- Band, W. (2010). The Forrester Wave[™]: CRM Suites for Midsized Organizations, Q2 2010. *Management*.
- Barry, J. M., Dion, P., & Johnson, W. (2008). A Cross-Cultural Examination of Relationship Strength in B2B Services. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 22(2), 114-135.
- Battor, M. & Battor, M.(2010). The Impact of Customer Relationship Management Capability on Innovation and Performance Advantages : Testing a Mediated Model. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 26(9-10), 842-857.
- Bendapudi, N. & Leone, R.P. (2003). Psychological Implications of Customer Participation in co-production. *Journal of Marketing*, 67 (1), 14-28.
- Blocker, C. P., Flint, D. J., Myers, M. B., & Slater, S. F. (2011).Proactive Customer Orientation and Its Role for Creating Customer Value in Global Markets. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 39(2), 216-233.
- Bloemer, J., & De Ruyter, K. (1999). Customer loyalty in high and low involvement service settings: the moderating impact of positive emotions. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 15(4), 315-330.
- Carroll, G. R., &Hannan, M. T. (2000). The demography of corporations and industries. *Princeton University Press.*
- Chen, Q., & Chen, H. M. (2004). Exploring The Success Factors of eCRM Strategies in Practice. *The Journal of Database Marketing & Customer Strategy Management*, 11(4), 333-343.

- Cheng, C. C. & D. Krumwiede. (2012). The Role of Service Innovation in the Market-Orientation- New Service Performance Linkage. *Technovation*, *32*, 487-497.
- Cheng, L. Y., & Yang, C. W. (2013). Conceptual analysis and implementation of an integrated CRM system for service providers. *Service Business*, 7(2), 307-328.
- Christensen, C.M., F.F. Suarez & J.M. Utterback (1998). Strategies for Survival in Fast Changing industries. *Management Science*, 44(12), 207-220.
- Coltman, T. (2007). Why Build a Customer Relationship Management Capability?. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, *16*(3), 301-320.
- Cooper, R. G., Edgett, S. J., & Kleinschmidt, E. J. (2002). Optimizing the stage-gate process: What best-practice companies do-I. *Research technology management*, 45(5), 21.
- Dahan, E., & Hauser, J.R., 2002. The Virtual Customer. *Journal of product Innovation Management*, 19(5), 332-353.
- Dholakia, U. M., & Morwitz, V. G. (2002). The Scope and Persistence of Mere-Measurement Effects: Evidence from a Field Study of Customer Satisfaction Measurement. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 29(2), 159-167.
- Duncan, T & Moriarty, S. E. (1998). A Communication-Based Marketing Model for Managing Relationships. *Journal of marketing*, 62(April), 1-13.
- Feng, T., Sun, L., Zhu, C. &Sohal, A. S. (2012). Customer Orientation for Decreasing Time-to-Market of New Products: It Implementation as a Complementary asset. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41, 929-939.
- Gemunden, H G, Ritter, T, & Achim, W. (1998). Relationships and Networks in International Markets. *Pergamon Press, Elsevier Science*, Oxford.
- Gustafsson, A., Kristensson, P., &Witell, L. (2012). Customer Co-Creation in Service Innovation: a Matter of Communication?. *Journal of Service Management*, 23(3), 311-327.
- Hakansson, H, &Snehota, I.(1995).Developing Relationships in Business Networks. *Routledge*, London.
- Heller B, C.&Parasnis, G. (2011). From Social Media to Social Customer Relationship Management. *Strategy & Leadership*, 39(5), 30-37.
- Howard, T. J., Culley, s.J. & Dekoninck, E. (2008). Describing The Creativity Design Process by The Integration of Engineering Design and Cognitive Psychology Literature. *Design Studies*, 29(2), 160-180.
- Hsieh, A.-T., Yen, C.-H.& Chin, K.-C. (2004). Participative customers as partial employees and service provider workload.*International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 1(2), 187-199.
- Ismail, H. B., Talukder, D., &Panni, M. F. A. K. (2007). Technology Dimension of CRM: The Orientation Level and Its Impact on The Business Performance of SMEs in Malaysia. *International Journal of Electronic Customer Relationship Management*, 1(1), 16-29.
- Jayachandran, S., Sharma, S., Kaufman, P., & Raman, P. (2005). The Role of Relational Information Processes and Technology Use in Customer Relationship Management. *Journal of marketing*, 69(4), 177-192.
- Jumpapang, M. &Ussahawanitchakit, P. (2012). Marketing Learning Orientation, Service Innovation, Customer Value Creation and Marketing Profitability: An
Empirical Study of Hotel Businesses in Thailand. International Journal of Business Research, 12(4), 12, 1-20.

- Klarner, P., &Raisch, S. (2013). Move to The Beat—Rhythms of Change and Firm Performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 56(1), 160-184.
- Kumar, S. &Gulati, R. (2010).Measuring Efficiency, Effectiveness and Performance of Indian Public Sector Banks.*International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 59(1), 51-74.
- Lee, P. M. (2013). Use of Data Mining in Business Analytics to Support Business Competitiveness. *The Review of Business Information Systems*, 17(2), 53-58.
- Lengnick-Hall, C.A. (1996). Customer Contributions to Quality: a Different View of The Customer Oriented Firm. *The Academy of Management Review*, 21(3),791-824.
- Ling, R.& Yen, D.C.(2001). Customer relationship management: an analysis framework and implementation strategies. *Journal of Computer Information System*.41(3).82-97.
- Malmi, T., Raulas, M., Gudergan, S., &Sehm, J. (2004). An empirical study on customer profitability accounting, customer orientation and business unit performance. In 4th Conference on New Directions in Management Accounting: Innovations in Practice and Research, Brussels, Belgium.
- Mei S. &Nie M. (2008). An empirical investigation into the impact of firm's capabilities on competitiveness and performance, *International Journal of Management and Enterprise Development*. 5(5).574-589.
- Mithas, S., Krishnan, M. S., &Fornell, C. (2005). Why do customer relationship management applications affect customer satisfaction?. *Journal of Marketing*, 69(4), 201-209.
- Morgan, N.A., Vorhies, D.W. & Mason, C.H. (2009), "Market orientation, marketing capabilities, and firm performance", Strategic Management Journal, Vol. 30, pp. 909-20.
- Murillo M. Garćia&Annabi, H. (2002).Customer Knowledge Management. Journal of the operational Research Society, 53, 875-884.
- Nasution, H. N., Mavondo, F. T., Matanda, M. J., &Ndubisi, N. O. (2011). Entrepreneurship: Its Relationship With Market Orientation and Learning Orientation and as Antecedents to Innovation and Customer Value. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 40(3), 336-345.
- Neslin. S. A, Grewal.D, Leghorn. R ,Shankar, V;et al. (2006). Challenges and Opportunities in Multichannel Customer Management. *Journal of Service Research.9*(November), 95-105.
- Noble, C. H., Sinha, R. K., & Kumar, A. (2002). Market Orientation and Alternative Strategic Orientations: a Longitudinal Assessment of Performance Implications. *Journal of marketing*, 66(4), 25-39.
- Nunnally, J. C. & Bernstein, I. H. (1994).Psychometric Theory, 3rd ed. *New York: McGraw-Hill*.

- Payne, A. F., Storbacka, K., Frow, P. &Knox, S.(2009).Co-creating brands: Diagnosing and Designing the Relationship Experience *Journal of business research*, 62(3), 379-389.
- Pick, D. (2014). Switching is Easy- Service Firm Communication to Encourage Customer Switching, *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services.*,21,502-509.
- Ranjan . J &Bhatnagar V.(2008) .Principles for Successful a CRM in Organizations. Direct Marketing: An International Journal, 2 (4), 239 – 247.
- Reimann, M., Schilke O., &Jacqueline S. T. (2010). Customer Relationship Management and Firm Performance: The Mediating Role of Business Strategy. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 38 (3), 326–346.
- Reinartz, W., Krafft, M.,& Hoyer, W. D. (2004). The Customer Relationship Management Process: Its Measurement and Impact on Performance. *Journal of marketing research*, 41(3), 293-305.
- Rigby, D. K., &Ledingham, D. (2004). CRM Done Right. *Harvard business review*, 82(11), 118-130.
- Ritchie, L., & Dale, B. G. (2000). Self-Assessment Using TheBusiness Excellence Model: a Study of Practice and Process. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 66(3), 241-254.
- Roh, T. H., Ahn, C. K., & Han, I. (2005). The priority factor model for customer relationship management system success. *Expert systems with applications*, 28(4), 641-654.
- Schwartz, M. (2009). Beyond Incubation: An Analysis of Firm Survival and Exit Dynamics in the Post-Graduation Period, *Journal of Technology Transfer*, 23, 403-421.
- Song, L. Z. & Song, M. (2010). The Role of Information Technology in Enhancing R&D - Marketing Integration: An Empirical Investigation. *Journal Product Innovation Management*, 27, 382-401.
- Sonntag, V. (2000).Sustainability—in Light of Competitiveness.*Ecological Economics*, *34*(1), 101-113.
- Sun, B., Li. S.& Zhou, C. (2006).Adaptive Learning and Proactive Customer Relationship Management. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 20, 82-96.
- Swift R.S. (2001). AcceleratingCustomer Relationships: Using CRM and Relationship Technologies, *Upper saddle river Prentice Hall* PTR, N.J.
- Tarafdar, M., DArcy, J., Turel, O., & Gupta, A. (2015). The Dark Side of Information Technology. MIT Sloan Management Review, 56(2), 61.
- Theron, E., &Terblanche, N. S. (2010).Dimensions of relationship marketing in business-to-business financial services.*International Journal of Market Research*, 52(3), 383-402.
- Thornhill, S. (2006). Knowledge, Innovation and Firm Performance in High-and Low-Technology Regimes. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 21(5), 687-703.
- Ussahawanitchakit, P. (2007). The Influences of Management Capability on Export performance of Leather Businesses in Thailand.*Review of Business Research*, 7(5), 1-10.
- Wang, X. (2011). The Effect of Inconsistent Word-of-Mouth During the Service Encounter. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 25(4), 252-259.

- Weerawardena, J., O'cass, A., & Julian, C. (2006). Does Industry Matter? Examining TheRole of Industry Structure and Organizational Learning in Innovation and Brand Performance. *Journal of business research*, 59(1), 37-45.
- Winer, R,S. (2001). A Framework for Customer Relationship Management. California Management Review. 43. 89-105.
- Zahay D., Peltier J. W, &Krishen, A. S. (2012).Building the Foundation for Customer Data Quality in CRM Systems for Financial Services Firms. *Journal of Database Marketing & Customer Strategy Management*, 19 (1), 5–16.
- Zahay, D. (2008). Successful B2B customer database management. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 23(4), 264-272.
- Zeithaml, V. A, Berry L. L. & Parasuraman A (1996). The Behavioral Consequences of Service Quality. *Journal of Marketing*, 60, 31–46.
- Zollo, M., &Winter, S. G. (2002). Deliberate learning and the evolution of dynamic capabilities. *Organization science*, *13*(3), 339-351.

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 36 – 42 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.3 ajmi.stamford.edu

Empirical evidence on mobile banking service quality and its effect on customer satisfaction in Thailand

Chavis Ketkaew

Khon Kaen University International College, Khon Kaen University, 123 Mitraphap Highway, Khon Kaen 40002, Thailand chaket@kku.ac.th

Abstract

Nowadays, technology has been used widely in communication and the various operations. Smartphones and the Internet play essential roles in business transactions and daily lives. Mobile banking has been used widely due to convenient access to financial transactions. This paper studied the factors relating to mobile banking service quality that impacted customer satisfaction on mobile banking services. The study employed 1,368 Thai citizens as samples. The results from ordinal logistic regression suggested that variety of services, transfer beep, safety, and call center services significantly impacted the level of customer satisfaction with mobile banking services provided by Thai banks.

Keywords: Customer Satisfaction, Mobile Banking, Internet, Service quality

1. Introduction

Globally, diverse initiatives use mobile phones to provide financial services to those without access to local banks or laptop and PC (Donner & Tellez, 2008). Banks all over the world have tried to decrease costs and increase margins in order to sustain themselves in the competition. Nowadays, the Internet is a critical channel for selling virtually all goods and services (Parasuraman, Zeithaml, & Berry, 1988). The services provided by banks are all over the Internet, which once included only checking of accounts, but at present they have developed to wide range of services. Internet banking is an influential form of technology-based self-service which is denoted as e-banking, with the spread and origin of the mobile banking (Maygar, Knapp, Wojtkowski, Wojtkowski, & Zupancic, 2007). It enables customers to conduct their banking transactions anytime and anywhere, and also faster as compared to traditional services. Internet banking may bring a dramatic transformation in the way banks build and maintain close relationship with customers (Mols, 2000)

The mobile banking is similar to Internet Banking in that it provides a fast and convenient way of performing common banking transactions. It is the act of doing financial transaction on a mobile device. The activity can be as simple as a bank sending fraud or usage activity to a client's phone or as complex as a client paying or sending money abroad. The advantages to mobile banking are ability to perform banking transactions anywhere and anytime. A disadvantage is security concern and a limited range of capabilities when compared to banking in person or on computer.

In Thailand, technology has changed people's behavior in daily life. Banks have also altered their traditional services to internet and mobile banking applications. Internet banking was first established through personal computer (PC) and laptop.

Later on, mobile banking services have developed from internet banking system during the time when smart phones have dramatically impacted people's lifestyle. Banking service users can complete their transactions by themselves without wasting time to travel. Mobile banking services in Thailand includes the features such as money transfer, bill payment, balance check, and credit balance. Additionally, some banks have integrated investment services such as mutual funds and stock trading into their mobile banking systems. As there are varieties of mobile banking services offered by many banks in Thailand, it is worthwhile for the banks to pay attention to the level of customer satisfaction with those services. Acknowledging the level of customer satisfaction would help the banks to improve the quality of their banking systems and services, which would help bring customers back repeatedly and, thus, increase the number of financial transactions (Unyathanakorn & Rompho, 2014).

According to SERVQUAL service quality model (Parasuraman et al., 1988), which is applicable to the banking industry, the criteria to measure service quality include competence, credibility, security, access, communication, knowing the customers, tangibles and responsiveness. Firstly, credibility includes factors such as trustworthiness, belief and honesty. It involves having the customer's best interests at prime position. It may be influenced by company name, company reputation and the personal characteristics of the contact personnel. Secondly, security enables the customer to feel free from danger, risk or doubt including physical safety, financial security and confidentiality. Thirdly, access is ease for contact convenient office operation hours and locations. Fourthly, communication means both informing customers in a language they are able to understand. Fifthly, knowing the customer means making an effort to understand the customer's individual needs, providing individualized attention, recognizing the customer when they arrive and so on. This in turn helps to delight the customers by rising above their expectations. Lastly, responsiveness is the ability of bank to provide quick response on customer queries and complaints.

A few scholarly research articles have discussed topics relating customer services and online banking services in Thailand. Rattana et al. (2003) published a research article on customer trust in internet banking and concluded that pre-interaction factors (e.g. unambiguous laws), on-interaction factors (e.g. quality website), and postinteraction factors (e.g. skilled personnel) strongly correlated with customer trust. This paper also added that customers who were reluctant to use online banking services were those who had negative feeling toward privacy and security of the internet. Using a structural equation model, Boon-itt (2015) conducted a research paper focusing on customer e-satisfaction through the quality of self-service technology. It was found that technology readiness impacted the service quality of self-service technologies and resulted in improved e-satisfaction. Yet, only one published research article discussed issues relating mobile banking services especially in Thailand. In their research, Sripalawat et al. (2011) explored factors influencing mobile banking acceptance and associated impacts as well as compared key success factors of mobile banking services in different countries. However, no scholarly published papers directly demonstrate the relationship between the variables of service quality and customer satisfaction in especially in Thailand.

With the introduction of mobile banking services, Thai banks need to be motivated and constantly improve their service quality in this regard. Therefore, this research paper aims to explore the satisfaction level of Thai customers with the quality mobile banking services based on the criteria derived from the existing mobile banking service functions together with SERVQUAL service quality model: variety of services(Lee, Harindranath, Oh, & Kim, 2015), ease of use, use of languages, transfer beep, safety (Donna & Tellez; Lee, Kang, & McKnight, 2007), reliability, fee, and call center service (D. Campbell & Frei, 2010; Daskin, 2011). To fulfill the existing research gap, this paper aims to investigate the relationship between the quality of each mobile banking service functions and the overall level of satisfaction perceived by customers. This paper is organized as follows: section 2 illustrates methodology; section 3 presents and discusses empirical results of the study. Finally, section 5 provides conclusion and recommendations for management strategy to attract customers.

2. Data and Methodology

This study selected a total of 1,368 Thai citizens, who have experience using mobile banking applications, as samples. As for sampling methods, the samples were acquired using cluster sampling and simple random sampling. As for cluster sampling, we acquired 1000 samples from directly interviewing bank customers from 4 main regions of Thailand – the North, North-East, Central, and South – 250 people for each region. The remaining 368 people were collected using simple random sampling through online forms. The research employed the questionnaire to collect the data from all 1,368 samples with a corresponding Likert Scale, which was illustrated by fixed choice response formats and designed to measure attitudes or opinions (Likert, Roslow, & Murphy, 1934). Before the data collection, the variables were defined. The independent variables, which represent the quality of mobile banking service functions, included variety of services, ease of use, use of languages, transfer beep, safety, reliability, fee, and call center service, whereas the dependent variable was the overall level of satisfaction with mobile banking services. The scores ranged from 1 to 5. As for the independent variables, "1" was referred to as "Very Bad Quality", "2" as "Bad Quality", "3 as "Neutral", "4" as "Good Quality" and "5" as "Very Good Quality" (Hadley, Mitchell, Sulmasy, & Bloche, 1999). Similarly for the dependent variable, "1" meant "Greatly Dissatisfied", which ranged to "5" as "Greatly Satisfied". Next, ordinal logistic regression analysis was used to determine the relationship among variables of interest (M. K. Campbell & Donner, 1989; Efron, 1978). The following ordinal logistic regression tests were performed using the following regression equation:

Satisfaction = $b_0 + b_1$ Variety + b_2 Ease + b_3 Language + b_4 Beep + b_5 Safety + b_6 Reliability + b_7 Fee + b_8 Callcenter

As for descriptive statistics, the samples were characterized as follows. Samples of 1,368 people contained 920 males (67.25%) and 448 females (32.75%). The respondent's ages were divided into below 21 years old = 3.5%, 21 to 30 = 25.1%, 31 to 40 = 13.5%, 41 to 50 = 4.1%, and above 50 = 3.8%. According to Table 1, the quality

of mobile banking services in Thailand, on average, scored 4 to 5, which referred to "Good Quality" to "Very Good Quality". Table 2 expressed correlations of the variables of interest.

 Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of Mobile Banking Service Quality Scores and Overall

 Level of Satisfaction

 Factor

 Made

 Made<

Factor	Mean	Mode	Median	Mix	Min	S.D
Variety of Services	4.74	5	5	5	3	0.48
Ease of Use	4.59	5	5	5	3	0.55
Use of Languages	4.58	5	5	5	3	0.57
Transfer Beep	4.64	5	5	5	2	0.69
Safety	4.56	5	5	5	3	0.6
Reliability	4.56	5	5	5	3	0.57
Fee	4.36	5	5	5	2	0.84
Call Center Service	4.51	5	5	5	1	0.75
Overall Level of Satisfaction	4.66	5	5	5	3	0.52

Table 2: Correlation Table of the Different Variables

	Variety	Ease	Language	Beep	Safety	Reliability	Fee	Callcenter	Satisfaction
Variety	1.000								
Ease	0.612	1.000							
Language	0.535	0.652	1.000						
Beep	0.376	0.388	0.348	1.000					
Safety	0.381	0.356	0.428	0.485	1.000				
Reliability	0.448	0.382	0.404	0.443	0.777	1.000			
Fee	0.512	0.459	0.497	0.322	0.512	0.511	1.000		
Callcenter	0.406	0.499	0.412	0.509	0.448	0.438	0.498	1.000	
Satisfaction	0.608	0.557	0.445	0.596	0.574	0.533	0.477	0.634	1.000

3. Regression Results and Discussion

 Table 3: Ordinal Logistic Regression, Dependent Variable: Overall Level of Satisfaction

	Coefficient	Std. Error	Z	p-value	
Variety of Services	2.11348	0.674469	3.1335	0.00173	***
Ease of Use	1.34789	0.729354	1.8481	0.06459	
Use of Languages	-1.16956	0.782046	-1.4955	0.13478	
Transfer Beep	1.04254	0.398915	2.6134	0.00896	***
Safety	1.37743	0.685414	2.0096	0.04447	**
Reliability	0.114294	0.696742	0.1640	0.86970	
Fee	-0.236793	0.358752	-0.6600	0.50922	
Call Center	1.1802	0.392043	3.0104	0.00261	***
Service					
					_

***Denotes significant at 1% level; **significant at 5% level Ordinal Logistic Regression; n = 1,368; Dependent Variable: Overall Level of Satisfaction Number of cases correctly predicted' = 87.5%

According to Table 3, using the ordinal logistic regression test results demonstrated that the quality of mobile banking services particularly variety of services, transfer beep, safety, and call center services have significant impacts on the level of customer satisfaction (p-value < 0.05). On the contrary, service quality in the aspects of ease of use, use of languages, reliability, and fee did not significantly correlate with the level of customer satisfaction. Some test results confirmed the existence of significant factors which may influence the level of customer satisfaction proposed by many scholars as mentioned in section one. In order to improve the level of customer satisfaction, firstly, Thai banks have to provide variety of services on mobile banking (Lee et al., 2015), which is the most influential factor affecting customer satisfaction (highest coefficient = 2.1135). Acquiring best practices from peers and constantly assessing the competitors in the industry are likely to generate an opportunity for banks to vary their mobile banking services that suit with customer's need. Secondly, transfer beep system of mobile banking improves customer satisfaction. Other than an awareness of bank transfers, transfer beep can assure customers that the transfers travel to their bank account safely and timely (Parasuraman et al., 1988). Thirdly, improving safety of mobile banking system brings about an increase in the level of customer satisfaction (Donna & Tellez, 2008; Lee, Kang, & McKnight, 2007). Mobile banking users need to ensure that the website is safe from intrusion and that there is very less chance for monetary loss due to transaction error. Fourthly, enhancing the quality of call center services positively relates to customer satisfaction (Campbell & Frei, 2010; Daskin, 2011). Call center service is the quickest way to initially respond to the customer's need. With this service in place, customers do not have to waste their time travelling to banks (Parasuraman et al., 1988).

4. Conclusion and Recommendation

This research paper investigated the relationship between the quality mobile banking service and the level of customer satisfaction in Thailand. Explicitly, it focused on the impacts of the quality of mobile banking services on the overall level of customer satisfaction in Thailand. The study surveyed a total of 1,368 Thai citizens who used mobile banking services provided by banks in Thailand. Ordinal logistic regression tests were used to discover the influences of the qualities of mobile banking service functions, which consisted of variety of services, ease of use, use of languages, transfer beep, safety, reliability, fee, and call center service, on the overall level of customer satisfaction. The regression results demonstrated that, among other factors, variety of services, transfer beep, safety, and call center services significantly influenced the level of customer satisfaction with mobile banking services provided by Thai banks.

To enhance the level of customer satisfaction on mobile banking services, according to the research results, Thai banks should critically and primarily pay attention to providing more variety of services, enhancing the quality of transfer beep, ensuring security of services, and empowering useful call center services. It is believed that improving the quality of the above services will increase the overall level of customer satisfaction which in turn may generate competitive advantage, attract new customers, retain the existing customers, and enhance profitability. Strategically, bank administrators should keep in mind that, among other factors, offering variety of high quality services on mobile banking is the strongest determinant of customer satisfaction in Thailand.

Lastly, in order for Thai banks to be fully beneficial from this study, it is suggested that the future research should focus on the relationship between customer satisfaction with mobile banking services and customer retention and/or banks' profitability.

5. Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Miss Chanyanud Thnadka (Khon Kaen University International College) for her valuable effort in data collection.

6. References

- Boon-itt, S. (2015). Managing self-service technology service quality to enhance esatisfaction. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, 7(4), 373– 391. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-01-2015-0013
- Campbell, D., & Frei, F. (2010). Cost structure, customer profitability, and retention implications of self-service distribution channels: Evidence from customer behavior in an online banking channel. *Management Science*, 56(1), 4–24. http://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1090.1066
- Campbell, M. K., & Donner, A. (1989). Classification efficiency of multinomial logistic regression relative to ordinal logistic regression. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 84(406), 587–591. http://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1989.10478807
- Daskin, M. S. (2011). Service Science.
- Donner, J., & Tellez, C. A. (2008). Mobile banking and economic development: Linking adoption, impact, and use. *Asian Journal of Communication*, *18*(4), 318–332. http://doi.org/10.1080/01292980802344190
- Efron, B. (1978). Regression and ANOVA with zero-one data: Measures of residual variation. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 73(361), 113–121. http://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1978.10480013
- Hadley, J., Mitchell, J. M., Sulmasy, D. P., & Bloche, M. G. (1999). Perceived financial incentives, HMO market penetration, and physicians' practice styles and satisfaction. *Health Services Research*, 34(1 II), 307–321.
- Lee, H., Harindranath, G., Oh, S., & Kim, D.-J. (2015). Provision of mobile banking services from an actor-network perspective: Implications for convergence and standardization. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 90(PB), 551– 561. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2014.02.007
- Likert, R., Roslow, S., & Murphy, G. (1934). A Simple and Reliable Method of Scoring the Thurstone Attitude Scales. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *5*(2), 228–238. http://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.1934.9919450

- Maygar, G., Knapp, G., Wojtkowski, W., Wojtkowski, G., & Zupancic, J. (2007). Advances in Information Systems Development: New Methods and Practice for the Networked Society. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Mols, N. P. (2000). The Internet and services marketing The case of Danish retail banking. *Internet Research*, *10*(1), 7–18.
- Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V., & Berry, L. (1988). SERVQUAL: A Multiple-Item Scale for Measuring Consumer Perceptions of Service Quality. *Journal of Retailing*, 64(1), 12–40. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=6353260& site=ehost-live
- Rattanawicha, P., Esichaikul, V., Tangmanee, C., & Gullep, E. (2003). Customer trust in Internet banking systems: An empirical study of Thailand (pp. 27–32).
- Presented at the Proceedings of CHINZ 2003: The 4th Annual Conference of the ACM Special Interest Group on Computer-Human Interaction New Zealand Chapter. http://doi.org/10.1145/2331829.2331835
- Sripalawat, J., Thongmak, M., & Ngramyarn, A. (2011). M-banking in metropolitan bangkok and a comparison with other countries. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 51(3), 67–76.
- Unyathanakorn, K., & Rompho, N. (2014). Factors Affecting Customer Satisfaction in Online Banking Service. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, 8(2), 50-60

Multilevel Structural Equation Model of Universities Effectiveness in Thailand

Pattrawadee Makmee

College of Research Methodology and Cognitive Science Burapha University, ChonBuri, Thailand pattrawadee@gmail.com

Abstract

The purpose of this research was to develop and validate a causal relationship model of organizational effectiveness for universities in Thailand. A total of 40 disciplines and 400 samples were stratified random sampling. Instrument used was a questionnaire. Organizational effectiveness was described by 9 variables, namely: 1) Student educational satisfaction (SS) 2) Student academic development (SD) 3) Student career development (SC) 4) Student personality development (SP) 5) Staff employment satisfaction (SE) 6) Staff professional development (SPD) 7) System openness and community interaction (SO) 8) Ability to acquire resources (AR) and 9) Organizational health (OH). Statistical analyses were made based on descriptive statistics and Multilevel Structural Equation Model analysis were performed using Mplus.

The research results were shown as follows: (1) The model of organizational effectiveness for universities in Thailand in terms of student s' perceptions indicated that for both levels, all indicators were important for representing the effectiveness. At the individual level, the most important indicator was the student personality development while, at the discipline level, the most important indicator was the staff employment satisfaction. However, the organizational health was less important at both levels. (2) The proposed multilevel causal model of organizational effectiveness for universities in Thailand fitted quite well with the empirical data. The predictor variables at the individual and discipline levels accounted for variance of organizational effectiveness for universities in Thailand fitted nuiversities in Thailand about 80.10% and 75.60%, respectively.

Keywords: Measurement model, Organizational effectiveness for universities in Thailand, Multilevel Structural Equation Model (MSEM)

Introduction and Background

Organization effectiveness is important to development of universities sector. However, it was found many problems in effectiveness measurement and assessment as stated by many researchers such as Stufflebeam et al. (1971); Katz & Kahn (1978); Goodman & Pennings (1980); Harrison (1994); Price & Mueller (1986), & Makmee (2016). They stated that the problems were 1) incomprehensive variable 2) abstract variable assessment 3) Insufficient indicator 4) uncovered analysis 5) last measurement and assessment not show the causes and 6) insufficient model and incomplete model. According to organization's measurement and assessment, it should be solved in further research in the future. In last researches, we found that there were 20 researches relating to development of organization effectiveness assessment model divided into 18 foreign researches and 2 Thailand's researches. We used the concept of Cameron (1978, 1986) as the guideline for specify the concept of development of universities organization's effectiveness assessment as previous statement.

We can see that measurement model used for research in Thailand and foreign country in term of development of organization's effectiveness rarely found research on universities effectiveness in educational institute level. According to reasons and importance mentioned above, the researcher has foreseen the importance of learning and developing the organization effectiveness model of universities sector, educational institute. To do the research on this topic could provide us new knowledge. Also, the previous research have never directly studied on assessment model which considered the factors that influenced on organization effectiveness of universities sector in Thailand. Those researches had two main interesting issues. Firstly, there was limited of research because research methodology was not based on the real status of organization that related in descending order, especially education organization such as personnel level, major level or universities organization level which higher organization had more power than the lower one. This made inability to define which variables it caused or how much it influenced on. Secondly, most research faced the problem of selecting suitable analysis. If the organization was related in descending order, only personnel analysis level might make incorrect result or standard might get lower than it should be. This statistical significant might be type one error, higher than specified. On the other hand, if analysis in higher level, that mean personnel variable was needed to find average for used as higher variable, this would result in bias and ineffectiveness. To solve problems mentioned above, the researcher turned to interest to develop universities effectiveness assessment model in context of Thai social. This emphasized on the factors that influenced on effectiveness to universities sector. This was divided by the nature of educational data consisting of small group integrated into the bigger organization. For example, teachers were in a group of major or major was in the group of discipline.

Therefore, data analysis about universities effectiveness should be multilevel data so that we would know how the difference of influences of variables in different level. It is necessary to use analysis technique according with multi-level data. Applying the Multi-level Structural Equation Modeling could help describing which variables were related. Structural equation model is related directly and indirectly to effectiveness of universities sector. Such model was used as guideline to specify the policy of subject and major and this effectiveness assessment model was an modern model and keep up to date of Thailand's education and it could be based in development of other major's effectiveness assessment model. The researcher has applied Multilevel Structural Equation Modeling which used with normative model development. That means learning on attitude, theory, logical analysis and real situation of and applied it to be scope for developing education model with organization stakeholder (Principle of new measurement and assessment, in order to find influenced variable on organization effectiveness as concept of Steers (1977) and Gibson, lvancevich and Donnelly (2000) consisting of characteristics of disclipine, the internal environment, the characteristics of personnel in the organization, and policy and management. This would be beneficial for organization management effectively. Moreover, multidimensional integration model (C a m e r o n (1978, 1986) which

measured and assessed effectiveness of universities by multi-dimension indicator and it was widely used in America, England, Australia, and Canada. This was properly adapted to use with Thai educational nature so that it might meet requirement of society and sustainable efficiency and up to date which rapidly changed. We expected that research result would be guideline to develop universities effectiveness model. This is important mechanic lading to development of education management which is to lift up education standard to be acceptable for international level. This would affect to academic progress of doing research and further organization development.

Objectives

1. To develop organizational effectiveness for universities measurement model in Thailand

2. To study causal factors from Thailand influencing organizational effectiveness for universities at individual and discipline levels

Scope of Research

According to definition of universities effectiveness which means success level for operation of organization accepted by student though universities' mission, operation and development of human life and make peace in society. Moreover, we need to provide academic community service to teachers, educational personnel, professor, and local organization so that we would corporate to each other for education reform and develop local to be stronger and sustainable improvement which is the root of community. The researcher has applied multi-dimension integration model and multilevel structural equation model to develop normative model which is the study of concept, theory and logical analysis of organization effectiveness according to the concept of Steers (1977) and Gibson, lvancevich and Donnelly (2000) consisting of characteristics of disclipine, the internal environment, the characteristics of personnel in the organization, and policy and management. Those was used to find universities effectiveness in individual and discipline level. Also, effectiveness measurement model of university from research of Cameron (1978, 1986).

Research Hypothesis

According to synthesis and analysis of relationship between each factor in individual level and discipline level that influenced on universities effectiveness from concept or related document, the researcher has set hypothesis as following.

1. Multi-level structural equation model for organization effectiveness measurement is according with empirical data.

2. Factor variable in individual level and discipline level could predict effectiveness of universities significantly.

Conceptual Framework

The concept of Steers (1977); Gibson lvancevich and, Donnelly (2000) contains the Characteristics of Discipline, the Internal Environment, the Characteristics of Personnel in the organization, and Policy and Management. To study the effectiveness in University at the Individual Level, and Disciplines Level of education. Also the measurement model of effectiveness of University, Cameron (1978 1986), For the concept idea for universities effectiveness, it showed variable as effectiveness in individual level and discipline level for 9 indicators as follows 1) Student educational satisfaction (SS) 2) Student academic development (SD) 3) Student career development (SC) 4) Student personality development (SP) 5) Staff employment satisfaction (SE) 6) Staff professional development (SPD) 7) System openness and community interaction (SO)8) Ability to acquire resources (AR)and (9) Organizational health (OH). A conceptual framework of research. As shown in the Figure 1.



Discipline level





Figure 1 Conceptual Framework

Research Methodology

This research used exploratory research to develop effectiveness measurement model of universities sector in Thailand: Applying analysis of multi-level structural equation model. There are 2 main objectives. First, this is to develop effective measurement model of universities in Thailand. Second is to study factor of structural equation model in individual and discipline level which was related and influenced on effectiveness of universities organization in Thailand. The research was done 2 phases as follows.

Phase 1: Development of research concept idea, develop effectiveness measurement model of university in Thailand which applied by effectiveness measurement guideline of Cameron model as objective 1 of research in order to develop effectiveness measurement model of universities in Thailand.

Phase 2: Studying factor of multi-level structural equation model to check the accordance of effectiveness measurement model of empirical data in universities, Thailand. The research result as the objective 2 and investigate the factor of multi-level structural equation model in individual level and discipline level which had relationship and influences on effectiveness of universities in Thailand

Population and Sample: Students of 3 universities in Thailand including Burapa University, Kasetsart University and Chulalongkorn University for 40 discipline and randomly selected participants for 400 students in Thailand (Hox, & Maas, 2001).

Instrument: Instruments used in research are questionnaire for students for 5 levels which had accuracy during 0.766 - 0.901

Data analysis: Using SPSS programme for descriptive statistic and program Mplus (Muthén and Muthén, 2012) for analyzing confirmatory factor analysis, multi-level confirmatory factor analysis and Multilevel Structural Equation Model (MSEM)

Research result

The research result was found that 1) Effectiveness measurement model of universities sector in Thailand as the perception of students found that all indicators were closely important in individual and discipline level. For individual level, the most important indicator was student personality development while staff employment satisfaction was the most important for discipline level. However, organization health was less important in both personal and major level 2) Multi- level casual effectiveness model of universities sector in Thailand was according with empirical data) $\chi^2 = 115.013$, df = 66.00, p = 0.059 Index CFI = 0.983, TLI = 0.975, RMSEA = 0.066, SRMR_w = 0.023 SRMR_b = 0.030). Predicted variable set in both levels could describe the effectiveness variance of universities sector in Thailand at individual and discipline level 80.10% and 75.60%, respectively. This could consider from detail in Table 1, Table 2 and Figure 2.

F	DE	 		TE	DE	IE	TE	DE	IE	TE		
Within		EF		IL		POLM _w		CP _w				
(individua 1 level)		POLM _w	POLM _w &CP _w					POLM _w				
CD_{w}	0.138**	0.216* *	0.001* *	0.355* *	0.284**	-	0.284**	-	0.026 *	0.026 *		
$IE_{\rm w}$	0.145**	0.449*	0.003*	0.597*	0.591*	-	0.591*	-	0.055 *	0.055 *		
$CP_{\rm w}$	0.051**	-	-	0.051* *	-	-	-	-	-	-		
POLM _w	0.759**	-	-	0.759* *	-	-	-	0.093 *	-	0.093 *		
Between		EF	F _b			POLM _b	1	CPb				
(discipline level)		POLM _b	POLM _b &CP _b		POLMb							
CD_b	0.852**	0.005*	0.002 *	0.859*	0.164*	-	0.164*	-	0.005 *	0.005 *		
IE _b	0.148**	0.003*	0.001 *	0.152*	0.111*	I	0.111*	·	0.013 *	0.013 *		
CP_b	0.029*	-	-	0.029*	-	-	-	-	-	-		
POLM _b	0.101**	-	-	0.101* *	-	-	-	0.118 *	-	0.118 *		

Table 1 Effect size both directly and indirectly and effect of predictor variable in	
personal and major level influenced on organization effectiveness	

 χ^2 = 115.013, df = 66, p = 0.059, χ^2/df = 1.743, CFI = 0.983, TLI = 0.975, RMSEA = 0.066, SRMR_w= 0.023, SRMR_b= 0.030

 $R^{2}EFF_{w} = 0.801, R^{2}EFF_{b} = 0.756, R^{2}POLM_{w} = 0.758, R^{2}POLM_{b} = 0.071$ $R^2CP_b = 0.009, R^2CP_b = 0.014$

Average cluster size = 10.00, number of discipline= 40

*p < .05, ** p < .01 DE = direct effect, IE = indirect effect, TE = total effect

Table2 Factor loading of indicator in Multilevel Structural Equation Model of universities effectiveness.

Observable	(v	vithin gı	oups: w)		()	between	groups: b)			Intercepts
variable	β	SE	t	\mathbb{R}^2	β	SE	t	\mathbb{R}^2	ICCs	or average group means
EFF	-				-				-	
1.SS	0.786**	0.020	39.300	0.618	0.143**	0.012	11.917	0.002	0.122	3.883
2.SD	0.781**	0.018	43.389	0.610	0.421**	0.269	1.565	0.178	0.090	3.536
3.SC	0.871**	0.012	72.583	0.758	0.217**	0.504	0.431	0.047	0.089	4.229
4.SP	0.885**	0.016	55.313	0.665	0.221**	0.447	0.494	0.049	0.096	4.216
5.SE	0.792**	0.019	41.684	0.627	0.867**	0.236	3.674	0.445	0.085	3.713
6.SPD	0.804**	0.031	25.935	0.000	0.589**	0.154	3.825	0.008	0.086	3.902
7.SO	0.592**	0.052	11.385	0.354	0.794**	0.030	26.467	0.988	0.119	3.972
8.AR	0.570**	0.054	10.556	0.325	0.799**	0.057	14.018	0.999	0.088	3.986
9.OH	0.543**	0.052	10.442	0.295	0.093**	0.065	1.431	0.986	0.123	4.138
CD										
1.STR	0.790**	0.016	49.375	0.624	0.732**	0.174	4.216	0.535	0.123	2.564
2.TEC	0.725**	0.030	24.167	0.526	0.933**	0.011	87.294	0.871	0.235	2.607
IE										
1.CU	0.866**	0.014	61.857	0.750	0.961**	0.012	80.056	0.923	0.130	2.764
48										

January – June 2016 ASEAN JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT & INNOVATION

Observable	(v	vithin gı	oups: w)		()	between	groups: b)			Intercepts
variable	β	SE	t	R ²	β	SE	t	\mathbb{R}^2	ICCs	or average
variable	h	SE	L	ĸ	h	SE	ι	K		group means
2.AST	0.829**	0.016	51.812	0.688	0.713**	0.128	5.581	0.508	0.125	2.817
СР										
1.REL	0.369**	0.058	6.362	0.136	0.977**	0.006	150.772	0.954	0.086	2.587
2.ACA	0.528**	0.032	16.542	0.279	0.959**	0.009	102.051	0.919	0.119	2.947
POLM										
1.LEAD	0.730**	0.024	30.417	0.533	0.726**	0.006	122.623	0.526	0.084	2.485
2.POP	0.857**	0.010	85.574	0.734	0.934**	0.050	18.752	0.873	0.126	2.856
3.COM	0.821**	0.014	58.643	0.675	0.815**	0.109	7.444	0.664	0.089	2.915
** < 01										

** p < .01



Discipline level



Figure 2 Multilevel Structural Equation Model of universities effectiveness in Thailand

Discussion

According to research result, it was in line with hypothesis as follows.

1. Conformity between research result and development concept of Multi-level structural equation model to measure universities's effectiveness in Thailand

1.1 Development of Multilevel structural equation model of universities's effectiveness in Thailand.

The research result found that multilevel structural equation model for measure universities's effectiveness in Thailand was conformed with empirical data and accordant with research's concept idea. The model was developed from theory and related research. This showed that selective variable which was the main cause was characteristics of discipline, the internal environment, the characteristics of personnel in the organization, and policy and management. Those were effect variable influenced on effectiveness of universities in Thailand which is achievement of discipline as viewpoint of related person, Steers (1977), Gibson, lvancevich and Donnelly (2000). Such model of effective assessment used the concept of Cameron (1978, 1986) as the guideline for specify effectiveness in universities in Thailand measured by 51 items and 9 variables, To be according with basic agreement of samples group of multilevel structural equation model, which was the perception model of students to achieve the main missions in term of educational institute including education, research,

academic management and culture maintain which was according with the way Office of Education Standard Assurance and Educational quality Assessment.

1.2 Examining result of Multilevel structural equation model

The research result found that there was conformed with empirical data in individual level and found the most effect of policy variance and management discipline level on effectiveness of universities in Thailand. This was accordant with the research of Cameron (1978, 1986) that research on effectiveness and variance or factor that influenced on effectiveness of universities organization in Thailand and accordant with the concept of Steers (1977) and Gibson, lvancevich and Donnelly (2000). This variance was called "managerial strategies" and it was the factor mostly impacted on effectiveness of universities. We can see that the research result was accordant with the concept of Steers (1977) and Gibson, lvancevich and Donnelly (2000) stated that organization effectiveness would be succeed or developed when manager has used managerial mechanical accordant with organization.

2. Relationship of structural equation influenced on effectiveness in individual and discipline level of universities in Thailand

According to hypothesis that individual and discipline level factor could significantly predict effectiveness of universities in Thailand, we found that it was according with hypothesis. The research result found that multi-level structural equation model for effectiveness measurement of universities in Thailand was harmonious with empirical data and being in line with research concept¹. That means factor influenced on individual and discipline level of 1) characteristics of discipline 2) internal environment 3) characteristics of personnel in the organization, and 4) policy and management according with the concept of Steers (1977); Gibson, lvancevich and Donnelly (2000). This reflected different organization effectiveness². This relationship of structural culture of factor impacted on effectiveness of universities in Thailand based on individual level because it was the factor influenced on discipline level as individual level.

Suggestion

According to research result, we found that factor influenced on universities in Thailand at individual and discipline level the most was policy and management consisting of leadership, policy and strategy planning and communication. Therefore, if universities in Thailand need to develop effectiveness, they should improve policy and management as following.

1. Leadership. Should be firstly emphasized in term of supporting personnel in each major to take training courses so that they can apply with their work and also provide opportunity for personnel to have brainstorming to find out new way for effectiveness enhancement and decide based on the basic of accuracy information. The management need to give their time to tell the reason for making decision or set any policy to professor, personnel and concerned person to acknowledge for further practice and also

person who search for new idea for self-improvement (Makmee & Luengalongkot, 2015)

2 . Policy and strategic planning. This should be thirdly emphasised on setting policy or strategic planning of major. Analysis result of external and internal environment, weak and strong point, opportunity and obstacle (SWOT) were used in project planning to be possibly practice/ cover the main mission in practice and according with policy, objective and flexibility with changed situation. Also, success indicator should be set accordingly with criteria and emphasized on participation of each related section in planning and project to be practiced in organization.

3. Communication. This should be less emphasized and increase more channel to communicate in discipline to universities in Thailand to be in line with technology progress and it should be systematic. Also, there should be channel to communicate between personnel to management focusing on every group, every level. Problems or suggestion would be considered to find the solution. Discipline had data base that was important to all operation and the concerned person could reach the information properly. It should be improved to up to date and ready for use immediately for more effectiveness for working and there should be measurement and evaluation of news in term of language, communication and continuous improvement.

Endnotes

- Research concept, that means factor influenced on individual level and discipline level consisted of 1) Characteristics of Discipline (CD) 2) Internal Environment (IE) 3) Characteristics of Personnel in the organization (CP), and 4) Policy and Management (POLM) according with the concept of Steers (1977); Gibson, lvancevich and Donnelly (2000)
- (2) Organization effectiveness, universities sector in Thailand as the perception of students found that all indicators were closely important in individual and discipline level.

References

- Cameron, K. S. (1978). Measuring organizational-effectiveness in institutions of higher-education. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 23, 604-632.
- Cameron, K.S. (1986). A study of organizational effectiveness and its predictors. *Management Science*, 32, 87-112.
- Gibson, J. L., Ivancevich, J. M., & Donnelly, J. H. (2000).*Organizations: Behavior, Structure, Processes.* 10th ed. Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- Goodman, P. S., & Pennings, J. M. (1980). Critical Issues in Assessing
 Organizational Effectiveness. In Lanler, E.E., and Seashore, S. E. (eds.),
 Organizational Assessment Perspective on the Measurement of
 Organizational Behavior and the Quality of Work Life. New York: John
 Wiley & Son.
- Harrison, M. I. (1994). *Diagnosing Organizations Methods, Models and Process*. London: Sage Publications.

- Hox, J. J., & Maas, C. J. (2001). The accuracy of multilevel structural equation modeling with pseudo balanced groups and small samples. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 8(2), 157-174
- Katz, D., & Kahn, R.L. (1978). *The Social Psychology of Organizations* (2nded). New York: John Wiley &Son.
- Makmee, P.)2016 .(Development of A Model of Public Organizational Effectiveness Measurement in ASEAN: Multilevel Structural Equation Model Analysis. *Journal of the Association of Researchers*. 21(1), 34-48.
- Makmee, P., & Luengalongkot, P. (2015). Learning Organization Factors Affecting the Quality of Learners in Schools Under Chanthaburi Primary Educational Services, Area Office 1. ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation. 2(2), 65 -72.
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B.O. (2012). *Mplus: The Comprehensive Modeling Program for Applied Researchers user's guide, Version 7.00.* Los Angeles, CA: Muthén&Muthén.
- Price, J. L., & Mueller, C. W. (1986). *Handbook of Organizational Measurement*. Massachusetts: Pitman.
- Steers, R. M. (1977). *The Organizational effectiveness: a behavioral View* .Goodyear Publishing, Santa Monica. California.
- Stufflebeam, D. L., et al. (1971).*Educational Evaluation and Decision Making*. Bloomington: Phi Delta Kappa

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 54 - 64 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.5 ajmi.stamford.edu

A Preliminary Study of Climate Change Commitment: Evidence from the Banking Industry

Thanita Buranatrakul^{a,b*}

^a Faculty of Accountancy, Thammasat University, Thailand

^b Business Administration Division, Mahidol University International College thanita.bur@gmail.com

Fredric William Swierczek

Thammasat University, Thailand

Abstract

Climate change and the needs to protect the environment are increasingly recognized as the fundamental requirement for businesses worldwide. The World Business Council for Sustainable Development identifies the financial industry as an important sector for increasing sustainability. The aim of this paper to investigate the level of climate change commitment in the banking industry. Significant differences were found in the level climate change commitment between Asian and Western banks. The study is a unique comparative study on climate change commitment in the financial industry. The findings of this research extends the body of knowledge in the area of climate change in services firm, specifically on banks. The result can help to assist bank to develop effective environmental policies that provide support to climate change mitigation and drive sustainability.

Keywords: Climate Change, Environmental Management, Bank

Introduction

Current scientific and technical report present compelling evidence that humaninduced climate change is happening, and its consequences could be devastating. Over the last century, the average global temperature has increased by more than 0.7°C and will continue to rise with the projections of 0.5°C to 5°C per decade (IPCC, 2013). Consistent with the problem of global warming is the impact of rising sea levels, changes in the precipitation patterns, drought and massive increase in weather-related natural catastrophes. In North Atlantic and Asia, an increase in the tropical cyclone activity can be observed. In Europe, there have been more frequent and intense winter storms. In the last 60 years, the number of natural catastrophes has increased dramatically. In 2013, 296 natural catastrophes were documented around the world, resulting in more than 20,000 deaths and \$192 billion in economic losses (Annual Global Climate and Catastrophe Report, 2014). Since 2000, economic losses from catastrophes related to climate change have cost the global economies approximately \$2.5 trillion (UNISDR, 2014). One of the major drivers of climate change is the increase in the amount of the greenhouse gases (GHG) concentration in the atmosphere. Stern (2007) reported that the amount of GHG emissions has almost doubled and continues to increase. The acceleration in the emission level of GHG across the world is due to the overall increase in demand for energy consumption, transportation usage and is induced by human. With the growing pressure from non-government organizations, the general public and responsible consumers, the Kyoto Protocol of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change was signed in 1997. The Kyoto Protocol is an international agreement framework that aims to set the reduction baseline on GHG emissions. Since the 1997 Kyoto Protocol, businesses worldwide have adjusted their organizational policies and implemented climate-change related actions in their operations.

The financial industry has been identifies as an important sector for increasing sustainability (WBSD, 2006). To promote corporate accountability, transparency, climate change mitigation and sustainability, leading financial institutions are now obliged to comply with international standards and codes of conduct such as the United Nation Environmental Program Financial Initiative (UNEPFI), the United Nation Global Compact (UNGC), the Equator Principles, and the Principle for Socially Responsible Investment (UNPRI) and the International Finance Corporation Standard. NGOs worldwide) demands the banking industry to increase accountability by ensuring that bank operations will make a positive contribution to society and preserve the ecological wellbeing of the planet.

Although several studies have examined the actions and strategies of organization in response to environmental issues (Jeucken and Bouma, 1999; CERES, 2008; Bowman; 2010, Bimha and Nhamo, 2013). Researches that emphasize on banking and climate change has been limited and received little attention by academicians. Prior research conducted on climate change primarily focused on manufacturing industries (Lee, 2012; Weinhofer and Hoffman, 2010, Sprengel and Busch; 2010, Kolk and Pinkse, 2005). This paper will provide a research that contributes to the limited literatures on the climate change as well as to examine level the commitment of international banks in relation to climate change.

Literature Review and Research Framework

The role of banking in relation to climate change

Banks are the powerful intermediaries and considered as the backbone of the global economy. They price and value financial asset, monitor borrowers, manage financial risk, and organize the payment system (Greenbaum and Thankor, 2007). Banks have the power to raise and allocate capital and determine which businesses or individual activities receive financing. In comparison with other industries, the banking sector has not been seen as an industry with a direct environmental footprint (Boston Common Asset Management, 2014). Although the direct contribution of banks on climate change appears to be small, their indirect impact remains largely underestimated (Furrer et.al, 2012). The indirect impact of banks in relation to climate change refers to the emission of GHG from their corporate clients via bank's policies and lending decisions. The three major roles that the banking industry play in relation to climate change are as capital providers, risk assessors and shareholders (Bowman, 2010). As capital providers, banks have the power to supply or facilitate finance for GHG-intensive projects as well as to support clean energy initiatives. As risk assessors, banks can demand increased risk disclosure associated with climate change from companies. As shareholders, banks can have an influential power over corporate management and climate-related governance. The actions and decisions that are made (or not made) by banks with regard to corporate carbon strategies can exert impact on climate change, either to reduce levels of GHG or to increase emissions.

Compared with other industries, the banking sector has been late to respond to the trend of sustainability, especially with climate change. There is a lack of general understanding about climate change and its impact on bank operations (Carbon Disclosure Project, 2013). From the study conducted by Massachusetts Institute of Technology's (MIT) Sloan School of Management in 2013, managers in the financial sector indicated that being sustainable is necessary. However, only six percent of companies fully address the environment as a significant sustainability issue (MIT Sloan, 2013). According to the Global 500 Climate Change report in 2013, the financial sector received the lowest score in terms of climate change performance compared with other industries. While other industries successfully reduce the amount of GHG emission, the financial sector receives an increase in levels of GHG emissions by 4.2 percent. Furrer (2012) also finds evidence of a deflective decoupling of bank policies with regard to climate change, as few banks have taken substantive actions to implement climate change strategies. Bank Tracks (2014) illustrated that coal financing in the financial industry is still growing. Top banks worldwide are still the major financial supporter for the coal industry.

Research Framework

Organizations are required to actively adapt to the issue of climate change by creating effective environmental strategy to promote sustainability. Furrer (2012) defines corporate climate change strategies as "a pattern of activities that address and cope with climate change. Several terminologies are used interchangeably, such as corporate carbon strategy, business response to climate change, and corporate CO2 strategy (Jeswani et.al, 2008, Weinhofer and Hoffman, 2010; Lee, 2012). In this research, bank are assessed based the level of commitment and how proactive they are in response to the issue of climate change. Therefore, the definition of climate change commitment in this study is developed based on the study of Weinhofer and Hoffman in 201, which focuses on activi0ties that are associated with the management of both direct and indirect greenhouse gases. In this research, banks are assessed based on how proactive they are in response to the different climate change activities

Based on the review of the academic and practitioner-oriented literature, activities in relation to the mitigation and adaptation of climate change can be classified into five categories: management commitment, emission reduction, product development, organizational development and external relationship development. (CERES (2008) Lee, 2012; Furrer, 2012, Jeswani et.al, 2008; Hoffman, 2005).

I) Management commitment

Management commitment indicates how active the board of directors and management executives on the engagement of climate change policy as well as to monitor the progress of climate change strategies (CERES, 2008). According to Quazi (2003) and Swanson (2008), top management play a crucial role in directing company's environmental policy and social responsibility practice. Management and top executive has influences in creating policy to support the adaptation and mitigation of climate

change. Management commitment refers to actions taken by Board of Directors and top management executive to create positive changes on environmental issue to mitigate the problem of climate change.

II) Emissions reduction commitment

Emissions reduction commitment refers to the degree to which a bank actively reduce the amount of both direct and indirect GHG emissions (CERES, 2008). Emissions reduction activities includes establishing a GHG reduction target for facilities and operations based on quantitative measurements of GHG. This also includes having third-party verification on GHG emission reduction (Lee, 2010; Jeswani et.al, 2008; Hoffman, 2005, CERES, 2008).

III) Product development

To mitigate the problems related to climate change, banks are required to offer specialized climate change product that contribute to their clients' emissions reduction (Boston Common Asset, 2014). Banks can implement climate change solutions by providing specialized green investment products and services or by financing companies that mitigate climate change (Furrer, 2012). These specialized products offered by bank can be classified as green financial products, carbon loans, climate loans, and specialized advisory services to reduce GHG. Green financial products refer to climate change investment-related products such as green bonds, sustainability bonds, ecological funds, or carbon-related investment products. Carbon loan and climate loan are loan provided to client at the lower price to incentivize client to reduce emission of greenhouse gases or to support low-carbon investment project such as clean energy and renewable energy. Specialized products also include advisory services offered by banks to promote sustainability and support the mitigation and adaptation of climate change and provide consultation for clients on the management of carbon emission and green investment.

IV) Organizational involvement

Organizational involvement refers to the involvement activities within the organization that support managers and operational employees on actions to reduce the impacts of climate change. This includes investments on banks' internal operation in reducing their own carbon footprint e.g. by replacing fossil fuels energy sources with renewable energy and by investing in green facilities with environmental building standard certification of LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) or BREEM (Building Research Establishment). Involvement activities also includes actions related to a bank's supply chain management. This includes environmental practices to promote sustainable supply chain through environmental collaboration, environmental monitoring, and green purchasing.

V) External relationship development

External relationship development includes cooperation for climate change initiatives outside the organization through the engagement with other external stakeholders or by adopting international standards or codes of conduct set by government or non-government organizations (NGOS). External relationship development activities also includes training and workshops with clients and the public.

Data and Methodology

Based on the review of the academic and practitioner-oriented literature, banks' climate actions of banks are evaluated based five categories. In total, the index is composed of 20 items as presented in Table 1. The sample consists international banks from various regions. In terms of geographical context 38 percent of banks in this study are based from Europe, 34 percent in Asia, 20 percent in North America and 8 percent in Australia as shown in Table 1. The details of bank used in the study are shown in Appendix 1.

Table 1. Distribution	Table 1. Distribution of Danks by Regions									
Regions	No. of Banks	Percentage								
Asia	17	34%								
Australia	4	8%								
Europe	19	38%								
North America	10	20%								

Table 1. Distribution of Banks by Regions

The approach for this research paper is based on the secondary data. Climate change commitment related data were collected from publicly available sources such as sustainability report, annual report and company website. Content analysis is used to investigate the level of climate change commitment of these banks. The method also allow researchers to filter large amount of data in a systematic manners, which is suitable for study that relies heavily on publicly available data (Krippendorff, 2012; Weber, 1990). The method is useful when other data collection techniques are too costly, not possible or deficient. This applies to data on climate change commitment.

Table 2: Climate Change	Commitments Framework
-------------------------	------------------------------

Description	Guidelines
How actively a board of directors and management executives engage in climate change policy and monitor the progress of climate change strategies	 Board is actively engaged in climate change policy and has assigned oversight responsibility to board members Chairman/CEO assumes leadership role in articulating and executing climate change policy.
	3. Top executives and/or executive committees are assigned to management climate change response strategies.
	4. Climate change initiatives are integrated into risk management and mainstream business activities.
	5. Executive officers compensation is linked to attainment of environmental goals and GHG targets
The degree to which a bank to actively reduce the amount of direct and indirect GHG emissions	 6. Company pursues business strategies to reduce GHG emission 7. Company calculates and registers GHG emissions savings and offsets from
	How actively a board of directors and management executives engage in climate change policy and monitor the progress of climate change strategies The degree to which a bank to actively reduce the amount of direct and indirect GHG

Categories	Description	Guidelines
		8. Company sets absolute GHG emissions
		reduction target for facilities, energy use,
		business travel and other operations.
		9. Company has third-party verification process
		for GHG emissions data.
Product	Specialized climate products or	10. Company offers green financial products:
Development	services that are offered by banks	Green bonds, sustainability bonds,
	that contribute to their clients'	ecological funds, and carbon related
	emissions reduction	investment products.
		11. Company offers carbon loans:
		Lending/financing, property
		financing/mortgages at lower pricing to
		clients reducing carbon emissions
		12. Company offers climate loans:
		Lending/financing, property
		financing/mortgages at lower prices for
		use of clean technology and renewable
		energy sources
		13. Company offers climate advisory services:
		Special advisory services related to carbon
		management/climate change
Organizational	Carbon management activities	14. Training / Workshop/ Campaign within
Involvement	that increase the actions of	the organization to raise employee's
	management and employees with	awareness on climate change in general
	respect to reduce climate change	15. Green Building/ Energy efficiency
	impacts	building/LEED/BREEAM certification on
		buildings
		16. Green purchasing/ Sustainable Supplier
External	Cooperation for climate change	17. Memberships and active participation in
Relationship	initiatives, for example, bank	investor coalitions (e.g., CERES, CDP,
Development	engagement with other	UNEPFI)
	stakeholders.	18. Support community affairs project aiming
		at climate change mitigation and
		adaptation
		19. Adoption of Equator Principal
		20. Certified environmental management
		system (ISO14001)

Information related to the banks' climate change commitment was selected from publicly available sustainability reports for 2013, Asset 4 databases, websites and annual reports. Banks were assessed based on 20 indicators related to five category of climate change commitment activities. Banks were scored based on a binary scale (yes =1, no=0) on each item in the indicators. The degree to which the banks pursue climate change-related activities or how committed they are in mitigating the problem of climate change was measured by based on the percentage scores in each category based on the 20 indicators under the five categories. The level of climate change commitment of Asian banks are Non-Asian banks are then analyzed and compared based on the framework in Table 2.

1. Results Table 3: Descriptive Statistic on Climate Change Commitment of Banks by Regions

	A	sia		on- sian	To	otal	
Indicator	n	%	n	sian %	n	%	
I: Management Commitment	2	010/	11	2201	1.4	2004	
1. Board oversight	3	21%	11	32%	14	28%	
2. Chairman/CEO : Leadership on climate change	2	13%	20	59%	22	44%	
3. Assignment of top executive to manage climate	4	25%	18	53%	22	44%	
strategies	4	25%	30	88%	34	68%	
4. Integration of climate change initiatives into risk							
management 5 Executive componention is linked to CHC torget	0	0%	9	26%	9	18%	
5. Executive compensation is linked to GHG target and environmental goals							
II: Emissions reduction commitment							
6. Company pursues business strategies to reduce	13	81%	32	94%	45	90%	
GHG emissions	15	01%	52	94%	43	90%	
7. Calculation of GHG emissions savings and	7	4.40/	22	070/	40	000/	
offsets	7	44%	33	97%	40	80%	
8. Company sets absolute GHG emissions reduction	6	38%	31	91%	27	74%	
targets.	5	31%	31	91%	36	72%	
9. Company has third-party verification process for							
GHG emissions data							
III: Product Development							
10.Green Financial Products	2	13%	20	60%	22	44%	
11.Carbon Loans	10	63%	23	68%	33	66%	
12.Climate Loans	5	31%	29	85%	34	68%	
13.Climate Advisory Services	1	0.6%	9	26%	10	20%	
·	1	0.070)	2070	10	2070	
IV: Organizational DevelopmentTraining/workshops/campaigns to raise employe	.	15	94%	31	91%	46	92
awareness on climate change	65	15	94%	51	91%	40	92
 Energy efficiency building/LEED/BREEM certifica 	ation	2	1.20/	24	700/	26	50
 Breen purchasing/ sustainable supplies 	ation	2	13%	24	70%	26	52
V: External Relationship Development		4	25%	8	24%	8	16
4. Membership and active participation in investor		_					
coalition		7	44%	29	85%	36	72
5. Support community affair projects aiming at climat	e	11	69%	31	91%	37	84
change mitigation and adaption	-						
6. Adoption of Equator Principal		8	50%	25	73%	33	66
7. Receive the certified environmental system ISO140	00	5	31%	23	68%	28	56

Note: Climate Change commitment is given in percentage and number of companies that satisfy each criterion

Table 3 present the descriptive statistics on climate change commitment activities engaged by international banks in different regions. The results from Table 3 indicates that less than 50 percent of banks in all regions provide evidence from publicly

available data that their boards of directors have actively assigned oversight responsibility to board members on the issue of climate change. At the management level, CEOs, chairman and the top executives of the non-Asian banks (e.g. from North America, Australia, and Europe) are more active in articulating and executing climate change policy within the organization. Most Asian banks failed to integrate climate change initiatives into their mainstream business activities compared with bank in other regions.

Approximately 90% of banks worldwide obtain climate change policy to reduce both direct and indirect emission of greenhouse gases. However, in comparison with Asian banks, banks in other regions (e.g. in North America and Europe) are more committed in responding to the carbon reduction requirement by setting the absolute GHG reduction targets as well as to record and calculate the amount of emission reduction and offsets. Less than 40% of the Asian banks set absolute GHG emissions reduction targets or employed a third-party verification process for GHG emissions data.

On product development category, almost 70% of the banks worldwide provide climate change-related products including carbon loans and climate change related loans. Carbon loan and climate change related loans refers to the loan offered at the lower price to individuals and business clients to encourage the usage of clean technology and/or renewable energy to reduce the carbon emission for both households and businesses. For example, Societe Generale offered loans for clean energy home renovation. Bank of Communication and China Construction Bank also support green credit policies. In 2013, Morgan Stanley invested over \$1.4 billion of capital in wind, solar and geothermal energy projects. More than 50% of banks in other regions (e.g. Australia, Europe, and North American) banks offer specialized green investment products such as green and sustainability, or ecological funds compared to only 13% in Asia. Only 20% of the in the sample banks offer special advisory services with regard to the issue of climate change and carbon management.

As for organizational development, the banks across the regions are more vigorous in creating internal awareness of climate change but are less active in working with suppliers or operating with a green purchasing concept. Bank in other regions are more active in managing and reducing their own carbon footprints relates to infrastructure through the investment in green office facilities with LEED or BREEM certifications compare with bank in Asia.

The banks in all regions have adopted some type of international sustainable framework as a guideline for their operations. However, less than half of the Asian banks are the members or actively participate in investor coalitions for climate change compared with 85% of non-Asian bank. Most international banks provide support to community affairs projects for climate change. Only 31% of the Asian banks, received ISO 14001 certification.

Table 4 present the average score of banks on each categories of climate change commitment. Asian bank receive the average score of 27.79 percent on management commitment, 42.75 percent on emission reduction, 30.25 percent on product development, 40.48 percent on organizational involvement and 48.22 percent on external relationship development. Asian bank receive the overall score of 35.72 percent compared with bank in other regions (score of 64.17 percent).

Indicator	Asia	Non-Asian	All	F-
			Banks	Value
I: Management Commitment	27.79	47.77	40.00	7.82*
II: Emissions Reduction Commitment	42.75	82.70	72.00	30.25*
III: Product Development	30.25	54.16	48.00	10.61*
IV: Organizational Involvement	40.48	62.00	56.00	12.15*
V: External Relationship	48.22	77.75	69.50	11.98*
Development				
-	35.72	64.17	56.20	29.859
Overall Score				

Table4:	Average	Score	of	banks	(express	as	the	%)	on	climate	change
commitme	ent										

Notes: *P<0.01. The score is express as percentage

To test the level of climate change commitment for variation across the four regions, an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was performed on each category of commitment as presented in Table 4. Significant differences were found between Asian and western bank across all of the categories. The percentage score relates to significant on management commitment was 40.00 percent (F=7.82), emission reduction 72.00 percent (F= 30.25), product development was 48.00 percent (F=10.61), organizational involvement was 56.00 percent (F= 12.15), and external relationship was 69.50 percent (F = 11.98).

Discussion and Conclusion

This study provides an examination of the commitment of banks on climate change. The results indicates significant differences on the level of climate change commitment between Asian and western bank. Asian bank receive the lowest score in all five categories of climate change commitment. There is a lack of involvement of Asian banks in the global and international climate agenda. One of the barriers for banks to engage on climate change adaptation and mitigation is the lack of awareness and understanding of business risk in relation to climate change (Asia CSR, 2011). Policies in relation to climate change in Asia are still at an emerging state. There is also the absence of mandatory regulations with specific targets for bank to reduce GHG emission, resulting in a weak strategic response of banks in Asia on the environmental issues specifically climate change.

Based on the findings, the study provides an examination of the commitment of bans on climate change. Based on the result, the study contains both theoretical and practical contributions to the literature in banking and the environment. Since most research conducted on climate change primarily focused on the manufacturing industries, the finding of this paper contributes to the theoretical knowledge on climate change by focusing on in service industry, specifically on banks. An assessment framework to evaluate bank's commitment is also developed based on 5 commitment categories. For practical contributions, the research is beneficial for banks to develop effective environmental policies. The findings also reveals international banks' action in response to climate change and allow banks to benchmark against the most committed. The framework can also be used as guidelines to promote sustainability in the long run. Limitations to the study must be considered. The study is exploratory in a nature with diverse but small sample. Publicly available data are used provide assessment of climate change on five major commitments using a binary scale. Future research could increase the sample size and expand the studies into different location settings and provide analysis of bank at different level. Additional research focusing on climate change performance would also be beneficial.

References

- Asia, C. S. R. (2011). Climate Change Adaptation: Engaging business in
- Asia. Corporate Social Responsibility Asia.
- Bank Track. (2014). Banking on Coal; available at
- http://www.banktrack.org/show/pages/banking_on_coal_2014_report
- Bihma A &Nhamo G. (2013). Conceptual framework for carbon foot printing in the South African banking sector. Banks and Bank System. Vol. 8, pp.19-33.
- Boston Common Asset. Financing Climate Change: Carbon Risk in the Banking Sector. available at:

http://www.bostoncommonasset.com/documents/ThoughtPiece- 2014-07-FinancingClimateChange.pdf

- Bowman M. (2010). The role of banking industry in facilitating climate change mitigation and the transition to a low-carbon global economy. Environment and Planning Law Journal. 2, 448.
- Carbon Disclosure Project. (2013). Sector Insights: what is driving climate change action in world's largest companies; Available at: https://www.cdp.net/cdpresults/cdp-global- 500-climate-change-report-2013.pdf
- CERES (2008). Corporate governance and climate change: The banking sector. Coalition for Environmentally Responsible Economies
- Furrer B, Hamprecht J, and Hoffman, V.H. (2012). Much ado about nothing? How banks respond to climate change?. Business & Society, Vol. 5, No.1, pp. 62-68.
- Greenbaum, S.I., Thakor, A.V. Contemporary financial intermediation, Academic Press. 2007.

- Hoffman, A. J. (2005). Climate change strategy: The business logic behind voluntary greenhouse gas reductions. *California Management Review*, 47(3), 21-46.
- Hoffman A.J. & Woody J. (2008). Climate change: What's your business strategy? Cambridge, MA: Harvard Business Press.
- IPCC (2013). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: climatepp. change 2013. The physical science basis. Publication available at <u>http://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg1</u>
- Jeswani H.K., Wehrmeyer W., & Mulugetta Y. (2008). How warm is the corporate response to climate change? Evidence from Pakistan and the UK. Business Strategy and the Environment. Vol. 18, pp. 46-60.
- Jeucken, M.H. & Bouma, J.J. (1999). The changing environment of banks. Greener Management International, Vol. pp. 27, 20-35.
- Kolk A. & Pinkse, J. (2005). Business response to climate change: identifying emergent strategies. California Management Review, Vol. 43, No. 3, pp. 6-20.
- Krippendorff K. (2012). Content Analysis: An introduction to its methodology. Sage Publication.
- Lee, SY. (2012). Corporate carbon strategies in responding to climate change. Business Strategy and the Environment, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 33-48.
- Massachusetts Institute of Technology Sloan. (2013). Sustainability nears a tipping point. MIT Sloan Management Review.
- Quazi, A. M. (2003). Identifying the determinants of corporate managers' perceived social obligations. Management Decision, 41(9), 822-831.
- Sprengel DC, Busch T. (2010). Stakeholder engagement and environmental strategy the case of climate change. Business Strategy and the Environment, Vol. 20, No. 6, pp. 351-364.
- Stern N. (2007). The economics of climate change. The Stern Review, Cambridge University Press.
- Swanson, D. L. (2008). Top managers as drivers for corporate social responsibility. The Oxford handbook of corporate social responsibility, 227-248.
- United Nation for Disaster Risk Reduction (2014), Natural Disasters Have Cost The Global Economy \$2.5 Trillion Since 2000. Business Insider. Available at: http://www.businessinsider.com/un-natural-disasters-cost-25-trillion-2013-5
- Weber, R. P. (1990). Basic content analysis (No. 49). Sage Publication.
- Weber O., Diaz M., Schwegler, R. (2014). Corporate social responsibility of the financial sector–Strengths, weaknesses and the impact on sustainable development. Sustainable Development, Vol. 22, No. 5, pp. 321-335.
- Weinhofer G. & Hoffman V. (2010). Mitigating climate change How do corporate strategies differ? Business Strategy and the Environment, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp 77-89.
- WBCSD World Business Council for Sustainable Development (2006): 'From Challenge to Opportunity. Publication available at www.wbcsd.com

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 65 - 81 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.6 ajmi.stamford.edu

Use of UK/US common law contract law in international business contracts in Southeast Asia Empirical Evidence from Telecoms & Engineering

Mark Rendon

Graduate School, Business Administration & International Business, Stamford International University, Bangkok, Thailand, <u>mark.rendon@stamford.edu</u>

Abstract

Most international cross-border commercial contracts in Southeast Asia are today written on the basis of English or American contract models & practice, using US (mostly New York state) UK or other Asian common law jurisdiction law (e.g., Singapore/Hong Kong) as the governing law. This practice has become pervasive and is irrespective of whether one or both of the parties to the contract is domiciled in a Common Law or Civil Law country or not. This trend has been documented globally, and discussed in the literature, but has not been definitively studied in the context of Southeast Asia (Cuniberti, 2013). These commercial contracts normally originate from the party domiciled or residing in the common law jurisdiction, and despite changes negotiated from the opposing party in the Civil Law jurisdiction, retain their common law characteristics of contract law. This paper asserts that such law has become the de facto law of international business contracts in Southeast Asia, as opposed to civil law. Recent efforts have witnessed the Singapore-led creation of a new Institute which aims to harmonize ASEAN (and in fact, more broadly, Asian) commercial contract law (Soon, 2015). However, little published academic research has tracked actual practice in corporate firms in Asia over the past decade or more. This article validates the theory that firms in Southeast Asia and in many parts of ASEAN largely use Common Law contract law in international commercial contracts by tracking 5 case studies over a recent span of 13 years.

Key Words: International contracts, Southeast Asia, ASEAN, Common law, Civil Law, business development, corporate development, negotiation, UNIDROIT

Introduction

Globally, contract drafting methods and use of governing laws in cross-border international commercial transactions have been evolving and harmonizing over many years (Schwenzer, 2013). Some trends have emerged from recent study. The most important trends are that United Kingdom & United States (hereinafter jointly referred to as UK/US) Common Law has become the most influential and most used in world business (Wood, 2008); and as illustrated by Figure 1 below that of the 20 countries with the largest gross domestic product (GDP) in 2015, 43.5% of the total GDP is in countries that are governed by Common Law commercial law (U.S., U.K., Canada, India & Australia).



Figure 1. 20 Countries with largest GDP in 2015

Source: International Monetary Fund. (2015). World economic outlook database. Retrieved from http://www.statista.com/statistics/268173/countries-with-the-largest-gross-domestic-product-gdp/

Furthermore, UK/US Common Law contract laws are the dominant applicable or governing laws as used in global dispute resolution in arbitrations (Cuniberti, 2013). The Southeast Asia (hereinafter referred to as SE Asia) region presents its own unique set of challenges, such as the confluence of important Common Law commercial hubs like Singapore, and even Hong Kong (though technically not in SE Asia is legally and regionally influential), and Civil Law and mixed or hybrid law countries using Common Law. In such a diverse legal environment (as illustrated in Figure 2 below) in one region how are decisions made as to governing law in contracts? The region as yet has not been the focus of as intensive study of dispute resolution (which aswered this question of governing laws in contracts) in the region as done in the Cuniberti study. Using literature and existing studies (as cited in the literature review below), as well as case studies and replication logic, the author of this paper confirms the global trends cited above with respect to SE Asia as well. At the same time, in SE Asia, due to the rising economic and other integration among Southeast Asian countries, there have been merging or blending effects upon many cross-border international practices, transactions and regulatory schemes in that countries attempt to adopt similar practices for efficiency in frequent dealings. In business in SE Asia, this has led to a movement and desire for convergence of Civil and Common Law practices and harmonization (adopting uniform laws) of cross-border business law (including contracts), legal infrastructure (including dispute resolution forums), and regulatory standards across the region. Whether these harmonization efforts will succeed or not is not the focus of this study, nor what any future impact such efforts would have on international firms coming to SE Asia to do business. It might be expected, however, that contract laws would be harmonized in accordance with the conclusions reached in this paper.

The study of this phenomenon is made difficult as researchers from different fields, such as law, business management, international business, organization, and technology each approach the issue from different perspectives. For example, in legal research, great attention has been given to the legal issues presented, conflicts of laws, and other legal issues, but not much from understanding how international companies implement their legal negotiation and drafting in daily practice. Similarly, business, management, and organizational researchers have sought to understand specific issues, but may not have grasped the legal implications unless trained to do so. Technology researchers seek to understand the drivers of technology deals in Asia, but rarely analyze whether the legal contract structure is integral for such deals. A large part of this phenomenon is due to the fact that legal research mostly originates from legal scholars who may have access to law firms, but law firms may not always be privy to final business decisions or daily practices, especially of smaller firms who may not wish to incur the expense of legal advice for common transactions.

Business negotiation and contract drafting methods employed by business managers in firms in Asia have not been studied to a sufficient extent to determine the choice of laws and governing laws in cross-border commercial contracts in SE Asia

January – June 2016 ASEAN JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT & INNOVATION

(Cuniberti, 2013). Using a multiple case study approach studying the firms in this case study spanning over a decade, the major research aim is to analyze how international companies approach international contract negotiations in terms of contract law in SE Asia, and particularly what contract law they employ. Specifically, the goal is to ascertain which main system of laws these agreements are framed, and ultimately executed in.

Figure 2. 20 legal Systems of Southeast Asia



Source: Source: JuriGlobe 2009, Legal Systems Classification, 2009, Faculty of Law of the University of Ottawa. Retrieved from http://www.juriglobe.ca/eng/rep-geo/cartes/asie-sud-est.ph

Literature review

The main legal systems today governing contracts in most countries in the world are well defined; broadly categorized as Common Law (as originally developed in England and commonly referred to as English Common Law) and used in the UK/US, Civil Law (as developed in Germany & France), combinations of Sharia Law with either civil or common law (as seen in Malaysia or Indonesia), and hybrid or pluralistic systems combining elements of common law, civil law, and sometimes Sharia or other religious law (Thailand, Philippines, India) (JuriGlobe, 2009). As of 2008, English Common Law is now the most widespread legal system in the world with 30% of the world's population living under English Common Law systems and accounting for 14% of world GDP (Wood, 2008). However, when combined with U.S. Common Law systems, UK/US Common Law accounts for 35% of world population and 40% of
world GDP and is used in 47% of the world's legal jurisdictions. By comparison, Civil Law applies to the largest share of the world's land mass (34%), and accounts for roughly the same percentages of population (34%) and GDP (42%) percentages as UK/US Common Law, but is used in fewer legal jurisdictions (36%) compared with the 47% of UK/US Common Law (Wood, 2008). Clearly then, UK/US Common Law combined world influence in terms of population, GDP, and jurisdictions is greater than Civil Law (Wood, 2008).

Legal Group	Jurisdictions	2007 GDP	Population	Area
English Common Law	27%	14%	30%	21%
Napoleonic (Civil) Law	26%	23%	23%	34%
American Common Law	20%	26%	5%	7%
Roman Germanic (Civil Law)	10%	19%	11%	18%
New	6%	1%	5%	6%
Mixed Civil/Common law	5%	16%	25%	11%
Islamic	3%	1%	1%	3%
Unallocated	2%	0%	1%	0%

Table 1. Statistics for Legal Groups

 Table 1. Wood, Phillip (2008). Maps of World Financial Law: Law and practice of international finance series. Copyright 2008 by Sweet & Maxwell.

In Southeast Asia & ASEAN, there are English Common Law jurisdictions (Singapore), Mixed English Common Law/Sharia jurisdictions (Malaysia), Mixed Civil Law/Sharia jurisdictions (Indonesia) as well as Civil Law-based jurisdictions which are mixed and incorporate elements of UK/US and other common law, such as Thailand and Philippines. Other SE Asian countries, such as Indonesia have also been transforming their legal system ad hoc into mixed or hybrid systems, adopting principles from UK/US common law (Antons, 2007). Though not technically in SE Asia, Hong Kong remains an example of English Common Law, and its regional importance to this discussion will be examined below. Additionally, we see examples of Australian Common Law being used in contracts in SE Asia, also referenced in the findings below. With regard to contract law, there are significant differences between contracts drafted under Common Law and Civil Law principles. The common Law of Contracts is based on the principles of certainty and predictability, and a well-drafted contract, therefore, is deemed to be sufficient to regulate the transaction between the parties. The law of contracts in Civil Law systems, on the contrary, is concerned with ensuring that justice is rendered and the contract is interpreted in the light of implied principles of reasonableness, good faith or fair dealing (Giuditta Cordero Moss, 2007). There are, of course, other substantive differences in the law of contracts between Common and Civil law countries in Asia, such as the elements required to make a valid contract. For example, in Thailand, the common law element of consideration (promise to exchange something of value) is not needed for a contract to be valid, and mere exchanges of promises can be binding (Kamol Sandhikshetrin, 2008). Additionally,

Indonesian law does not even distinguish between commercial contracts and other forms of contracts (Antons, 2007).

Notwithstanding all the differences in legal systems and contract law, In East Asia (Japan, China, S. Korea) we have seen movements at harmonization of contract law in Asia, and insofar as contracts between and among those East Asia countries it might work because they are basically Civil Law countries. There is a private initiative by scholars in East Asia trying to harmonize rules of contract law, and the aim is to create a model law called Principles of Asian Contract Law (PACL) (Han, 2013). This PACL model law likely may not extend to Southeast Asia, and arguably not to international contracts involving western parties for reasons argued in this paper. However, more relevantly to SE Asia, we also see current efforts underway to harmonize contract law in Southeast Asia, though possibly using the European contract law model of UNIDROIT, or more likely, English, American or Singaporean Common law models. Though UNIDROIT contract principles have been successful in harmonizing international contract law (as evidenced by the fact that over 300 published decisions rendered worldwide refer in one way or another to the UNIDROIT Contract Principles), (Dennis, 2014), global companies and their lawyers will continue to insist on using well-respected national commercial or contract laws in their international commercial contracts, such as US or English Common Law (Dennis, 2014). A new organization to promote coherence in commercial laws across Asian countries is to be set up in January 2016 in Singapore. The Singapore-based subsidiary of the Singapore Academy of Law will be called the Asian Business Law Institute (ABLI). The ABLI will focus on how laws can be better harmonized across jurisdictions in Asia. It will initiate, conduct and facilitate research, and produce authoritative texts to guide and support the convergence of Asian commercial laws (Soon, 2015). Specifically, the ABLI is studying how a uniform and consistent set of Asian legal rules would aid the formation and validity of cross-border contracts in Asia (Singapore Academy of Law, 2015). So, presumably, the Singaporean effort also has a wider envisioned application of all of Asia, not just ASEAN, but as the scope of this paper is Southeast Asia and ASEAN, the ABLI effort is certainly the most visible and potentially viable effort at contract harmonization for the region. Certainly, Singapore's known ambition in the 21st century and overall strategy has been to position itself as a hub for legal activity and services in the region (Yihan & Tan, 2011). In fact, together with Hong Kong, Singapore is one the two most common seats of arbitration in Asia, (Vegrhese, 2015); testifying to the fact that international law firms have established these two Asian centers in Common Law jurisdictions and service their company clients in both drafting contracts and in resolving disputes in these forums. Due to Singapore's proximity and position as a member of ASEAN, together with statistics cited below, it is reasonable to assume that it is likely to remain the legal hub of SE Asia and ASEAN. Even without the harmonization and convergence efforts occurring, international contracts have been taking on many Common Law characteristics. In fact, promiscuous copy-and-pasting in business contracts practice results in concepts appropriate only under common law—for example, the requirement that a contract be supported by "consideration"—finding their way into civil-law contracts" (Adams, 2014)

So, in practice, what system of laws and types of contracts do we see used by international companies in SE Asia, when involving cross border, international contracts? Are contracts drafted and executed in the Civil Law tradition or Common Law tradition? What we see is increasingly commingled. US and UK contracts are longer, more detailed, and address provisions and deal points with much more specificity; with US-style contracts often going into explicit detail. The US influence has also increased in Asia due to the presence of US law firms. And, indeed most commercial contracts worldwide today are written on the basis of UK or US contract models (Adams, 2013). In many global jurisdictions, the local offices of U.S. and English firms are perceived as the top practices for high end legal services such as capital markets or corporate/mergers and acquisitions. (D. Daniel Sokol, 2007) Even without the harmonization and convergence efforts occurring, Anglo-American law firms have greatly influenced contract style practice, including Anglo-American-style transaction documentation, in civil-law countries.

As international commercial contracts are viewed as highly confidential to the parties, it is difficult to assemble statistics because most companies do not allow publication of these details. International law firms acting as outside counsel for companies in Asia would be a good source, but they are constrained by an even higher duty of confidentiality in attorney-client privilege, and again, contracts are generally not available to study. Most well drafted international commercial contracts have a dispute resolution clause and a governing law clause, which dictate where any dispute will be settled, and under which law the contract will be interpreted. Many international companies' contracts today use arbitration as their chosen method of ultimate dispute resolution. Therefore, in order to determine which contract law has been used in international contracts statistically, we might look to arbitration bodies for this information. However, arbitration is also confidential by its nature and in most arbitration forums. The largest international dispute resolution forum, the ICC, has, however, published statistics that greatly aid in identifying which laws parties choose to govern their contractual disputes. In the most comprehensive global study to date, (Cuniberti, 2013) focused on the period from 2007 to 2012, and based the research on an empirical study of more than 4,400 international contracts by approximately 12,000 parties who participated in arbitrations under the aegis of the International Chamber of Commerce arbitration forum. The researcher found evidence that parties to international commercial contractual transactions often agreed to apply a contract law, other than their own, to their contracts, and specifically, that the parties generally choose the law of one of just five legal jurisdictions. Two of these five jurisdictions are chosen three times more often than their competitors and can, thus, be viewed as the global leaders: UK Common Law and Swiss Law. Globally, English and Swiss laws are around three times more attractive to international commercial actors than U.S. State, French, or German contract law (though for purposes of this paper, the author in Cuniberti admits that American and Asian parties are underrepresented in the study). English is the dominant language in international trade and contracts, and it therefore follows that English language laws will dominate in those choosing either English Common law or US or other Common Law. Therefore, in the literature, because of the difficulty in obtaining confidential legal documents researchers have looked to published arbitration data as a means determine the governing laws, not just for conflict resolution purposes, but as a way to deduce business legal decisions methods of international commercial contracts.

Questions for Further Research: It is reasonable to assume, in light of the sheer volume of international contracts executed each day, that parties often negotiate their transactions without the benefit of any lawyer, or at least without any outside counsel, as lawyers can significantly increase the cost of a transaction, and slow down the execution of doing business; and the findings in this paper validate that view. Further research should investigate why companies & their legal departments made their decisions as to choice of law; e.g., Common Law is perceived as more detailed and more precise, or one party deferred to more educated counsel or unequal bargaining power of the parties, etc.. Importantly, as the Cuniberti global study focused more on Europe and less on Asia, this researcher suspects that the results in Asia would prove to be overwhelmingly UK (and perhaps US) Common Law. It is highly unlikely that contractual parties in Asia would choose Swiss law in arbitration as legal practitioners and dispute forums in Asia are not as familiar with it as UK/US law, and Switzerland is not a convenient forum due to physical distance considerations. However, this has not been proven and is an important question for further research. In fact, more in-depth statistical analysis of ICC arbitrations in Asia is called for as a result of recent research.

Procedures for Data Design, Methodology, and Theory

(Birkinshaw, Brannen, & Tung, 2011) recommended that qualitative research follow a four step approach that contains decisions regarding (1) the research topic, which should be new or under-researched; (2) research methodology; (3) data and transparency of methods; and (4) a theory that properly serves the research aim.

(1) Research topic

The topic of Civil vs. Common contract law use in international contracts in Southeast Asia has been discussed in the literature mostly from either academic legal perspective or legal practice of lawyers and law firms, but rarely studying the actual business practice and legal results used in businesses themselves. The topic of actual practice is discussed in the literature, (Cuniberti, 2013) in terms of global choice of law based on examination of arbitration, but lacks a focused examination or discussion of actual company practice in Southeast Asia and SE Asia, and lacks an examination of contracts that do not contain arbitration clauses. Many contracts examined in this research contain dispute resolution utilizing the courts of various nations, not arbitration. This paper aims to explore and describe insights regarding actual practice and emerging and emerged trends.

(2) Methodology

The intention of this paper is to explore whether one dominant form of contract drafting and governing law has emerged in international commercial contracts in

Southeast Asia. To explore this situation, a case study approach is most workable (Stake, 1995). In fact, this study employs a multi-case study design (Yin, 2008) precisely to explore international companies' actual practice in Southeast Asia in drafting and executing international commercial contracts. This paper utilizes the ideas of (Eisenhardt & Graebner, 2007) who maintain that the process of using multiple cases can lead to theory building opportunities. Using replication logic, which dictates that over multiple cases to explore the same phenomenon, there is a greater probability to find repeatable patterns that result in some kinds of generalizations, and therefore patterns and theory that can be revealed. While traditional quantitative research can reveal some patterns, a case study can examine the depth of context and usage in actual business practice. Moreover, due to the highly confidential nature of international commercial contracts, proper quantitative methods are not available, except as noted in the literature above. Combined with the available quantitative studies, these case study patterns can reinforce and confirm those results. This research design was chosen precisely because of the difficult nature of obtaining information, due to confidentiality, and the availability to place the researcher as an active participant. Moreover, qualitative case study on this topic can only be undertaken by one educated and trained in UK/US, or related Common Law and preferably experienced in Singapore/Hong Kong actual contract business practice. Such a background enables the researcher to discern whether the examined contracts do, in fact, comply with, and conform to, Common Law contract law.

(3) Data collection methods

The data sourcing process for multiple firm case studies follows the principles of purposeful or criterion sampling choosing a sample that has the characteristics relevant to the research question(s). Criterion sampling involves the selection of cases that meet a set of a priori criteria important to the research (Dimitratos, Plakoyiannaki, Pitsoulaki, & Tüselmann, 2011). In this narrow project, the investigated firms had to (1) operate internationally and in Asia, being based in an Asian country, or having a representative presence in an Asian country, (2) have a Common Law-trained in-house counsel or legal department, but also use outside legal counsel or law firms when needed, (3) maintain contractual business relations with foreign partners located in at least three Southeast Asian countries, and of those, (4) have meaningful international contracts with firms in ASEAN civil law countries. Additionally, though not a specific criterion requirement, the chosen firms operate in high technology telecommunications services or products or high technology engineering. In each case, the researcher was an active participant and observer, with full access to study and document all contracts signed and under review. As such, the researcher executed non-disclosure Agreements which endure to this day. As a result, the identities of all companies are undisclosed in this study. Participant observation allows business practitioners to capitalize on their unique access to information and experience to produce academic research which is important, timely, accessible and relevant to both industry practitioners and scholars. Participant observation is, in fact, the preferred method in highly confidential inaccessible qualitative studies such as this. (Iacono & Holtham, 2009). In this study, the researcher was present in many cases in contract negotiation, and business and corporate development efforts. Secondary information and primary information was collected about each company and personal interviews were conducted with key business and legal managers negotiating contracts. Five firms were selected as the criteria were very specific, sensitive, and required confidentiality and insider status to observe. The researcher was present in many cases during the process of communications leading to contract negotiation, actual drafting and draft exchanges, and final execution of contracts. The sample of five firms located in Asia seems relatively small but reasonable considering the precise and narrow selection standards (see the 4 criteria listed above) and the fact that the research topic involves highly confidential information rarely disclosed to outsiders in the course of business. Furthermore, over a hundred commercially important contracts were examined in this study. Data collection occurred during the period from 2001-2013, so the results show contemporary and recent results collected over a sustained period of time. Moreover, this precise topic is under researched so far. (Eisenhardt, 1989) recommended at least four cases for multiple case study research. Thus the sample meets that recommendation.

(4) Theory and research aim

When using multiple-case studies, each case must be carefully selected so that it either: 1) predicts similar results (literal replication); 2) predicts contrasting results but for predictable reasons (theoretical replication); or 3) if all cases turn out as predicted, there is compelling support for the initial propositions. Replication logic procedures assume a fundamental theoretical framework for research (Yin, 2008). Thus, the underlying logic is replication, that is, the idea of treating a series of cases as a series of experiments with each case serving to con- firm or disconfirm the hypotheses. In replication logic, cases which confirm emergent relationships enhance the internal strength, consistency, validity and generalizability of those relationships. The major research aim of this paper is the hypothesis that international commercial contracts in Southeast Asia and ASEAN are concluded most often using Common Law. This hypothesis has not yet been documented in the literature. Further that this represents common practice and emergent relationships in ASEAN and Southeast Asia international business contract practice today, and that it has been that way for at least 14 years. Replication theory is applied to the more than a hundred contracts studied in the case studies conducted over more than a decade.

Findings & Discussion

In order to utilize replication logic in multiple case studies, each case must be carefully selected so that it either (a) predicts similar results or (b) predicts contrasting results for reasons that can be anticipated (Yin, 2008). In this study, one company selected did produce some contrasting results for anticipated reasons. Thus, according to Yin, this study is designed to predict similar results. Table 1 displays an overview of the firms selected for the study. Over one hundred executed contracts were examined in this study among the five sample firms. Firms are summarized in Table 1, and shows 4 out of 5 selected have roots in Common Law countries. Varying in size

January – June 2016 ASEAN JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT & INNOVATION

from large Fortune 500 multinational to private regional startup companies, the samples are varied, though concentrated in telecoms or high technology. All companies are very active in ASEAN and Southeast Asia, with one company Headquartered in a SE Asian country.

Fir	m Case	Annual Sales	Employees	Employees in	Headquarters
Ind	lustry	US\$ million *(2001-2013)	*(2001-2013)	SE Asia	
1.	Global Telecom Services	10,000	25,000	100	United States
2.	Pan-Asian Telecom Services	Undisclosed	150	130	Singapore
3.	Global Telecom Services	1,300	1200	80	United States
4.	Telecom Equipment Sales & Technology	Undisclosed	95	4	United States
5.	High Tech Engineering	1,600	2300	55	Japan

Table 2. Classification of firms selected for multiple case study

* Measured at the time the specific case studied

Table 2 provides the summary of average number of contracts examined per firm, and those contracts involving parties from Civil Law countries. Contracts were selected as representative international business contract practice for the firms. Subjective determinations were made to include relatively more important contracts; such as ones that included large sums of trade or investment, important strategic alliances or joint ventures, or regional distribution contracts. One hundred eight (108) executed contracts were examined in this study among the five sample firms, ranging from 17 per sample firm to 30 per sample firm, with the Mean of 21.6 per firm.

	ntract Analysis 5 cases)	Sample Mean*	SD**	Min	Max	
a)	Number of contracts examined per	21.60	5.13	17	30	

	firm					
b)	Number of	11.00	7.10	1	20	
	contracts					
	involving					
	parties in Civil					
	Law countries					

* a) Based on 108 total contracts; b) Based on 55 involving parties from Civil Law countries

** SD=Standard deviation

2016

As shown in Table 3, the examination was along five parameters, labeled A-E, as follows: 'Percentage of foreign partners that accepted Sample Firm's Common Law draft contract as model' as subject A, 'Percentage of final contracts executed conforming to Common Law' as subject B, 'Percentage of executed contracts containing Common Law governing law clause, not Civil Law' as subject C, 'Percentage of executed contracts with arbitration in either HK/SG' as subject D, and 'Percentage of executed contracts with dispute resolution by courts in Common Law jurisdictions of US, UK, SG, or HK' as subject E.

Table 4. Executed (signed) contracts that conform to UK/US or other* Common Law contract law Contract Analysis (n= 5 cases) Combined Actual

Col	hract Analysis (n= 5 cases)	Sample % of Total
A)	Percentage of foreign partners that Accepted Sample Firm's Common Law draft contract as model	75
B)	Percentage of final contracts executed conforming to Common Law	90
C)	Percentage of executed contracts containing Common Law Governing law clause, not Civil Law	85
D)	Percentage of executed contracts with arbitration in either HK/SG	40
E)	Percentage of executed contracts with dispute resolution by courts in Common Law jurisdictions of US, UK, SG, HK, or AU	35

* comprised exclusively of Hong Kong, Singapore or Australia Common Law

These research results in practice in Southeast Asia, verify, confirm and amplify the results obtained in the global ICC arbitration study (Cuniberti, 2013). The results show that not only is UK/US and other Common Law the most preferred and widely used law in contracts in Asia, but overwhelmingly so. The results are obtained over the span of recent 12 years of case study in the 5 cases examined, and though the sample size is small, the results were similar in each case except one.

Following replication logic, the one sample firm which did not fully conform did so for anticipated reasons. Sample firm 5 is a Japanese owned and controlled subsidiary in SE Asia, and not only is Japan not a Common Law Country, its own Civil Law is complicated, essentially modelled on German Civil Code, and due to historical and cultural reasons, terms of contract are assigned a much lower value than in Common Law tradition countries (McConnaughay, 2000). In other words, the findings in the Japanese company confirm that they would often accept Common Law, though just as easily Civil Law, but that they are largely indifferent, and assign much less value to the written contract and more to the relationship.

Furthermore, through the interviews and observations, it was determined that most contracts were negotiated without the input from an outside law firm, either in Southeast Asia, or in the HQ country. And, in fact, many business managers with no formal legal training were the ones who actually did the contract negotiations and editing, though usually, but not always, with legal oversight by the in-house counsel. To shed further light on the findings above, subjects A-E are verified in light of interviewee responses.

[General Counsel (Canadian trained attorney), Asia, Firm 2]

Normally we always provide the first draft in any negotiation. We then carefully monitor any proposed changes by the other party to ensure compliance with our common law contract standards. Most of the time, in Southeast Asia, we are successful in achieving our goal of governing law and dispute resolution forum, with the exception of China, which is a special case.

[Vice President, Asia, (US Fortune 500 firm), Firm 1]

We always provide the suggested first draft, and usually try to insist on US law as governing law, with dispute resolution in US courts. Our legal department is large and sometimes not too flexible on this, and if the contract is important and strategic, we will make exceptions, but not in the normal course of business.

[Senior Vice President, Sales, (Private international) Firm 4]

We have worked hard to perfect our international distribution and cooperation agreements, and because we have a high technology product and technology in great demand in Southeast Asia, we generally negotiate hard to have US governing law, and, if possible, dispute resolution in US courts. Of course, in order to close deals, we will be flexible on almost everything if necessary. We have agreed, for example, in Indonesia, to using Singapore law, with arbitration in Singapore.

[Senior Vice President, Asia, (US public company) Firm 3]

As our business involves doing telecommunication interconnection agreements with as many countries worldwide as possible, we have to be flexible in Southeast Asia. As a result, we have signed agreements which are governed by the laws of civil law countries, though normally, we are successful in negotiating a neutral forum and law, usually Singapore or Hong Kong

[Country Manager, Thailand, (Japanese subsidiary) Firm 5]

Because we are a Japanese company in Thailand, we follow directions from our Tokyo headquarters with regard to legal contracts. Much of the time, we use local law, and in international contracts we often do not make a distinction between civil law and common law. However, often our international partners insist on using Common Law as governing law. Japanese custom means that in any dispute, we always try to find a negotiated solution, so the choice of laws is not as important for us as for western firms, and we often comply

These comments show that for the firms from Common Law countries, choice of law

is an important negotiation point, as well as dispute resolution. Furthermore, because of the overwhelming acceptance of Common Law by their negotiating parties, it appears firms from Common Law countries usually get their way.

Concerning 'Percentage of executed contracts with arbitration in either HK/SG' as subject D, and 'Percentage of executed contracts with dispute resolution by courts in Common Law jurisdictions of US, UK, SG, or HK' as subject E, the following comments confirm the findings that firms usually arrive at contracts which are governed by a Common Law and with dispute resolution in arbitration or courts of law in Common Law countries.

[Vice President, Business Development China, Firm 2]

As I work in putting together new deals in China, most of the time I recommend we use Chinese law and arbitration, usually in Shanghai. Otherwise, deal development takes too long. My colleagues that work in Southeast Asia are more flexible and can usually negotiate a neutral forum, such as Singapore.

[Vice President, Corporate Development, Firm 1]

As a US firm, we are actively expanding and buying operations in Southeast Asia, and these transactions involve large investment. We are very careful about our dispute resolution clauses. We prefer of course, to negotiate or mediate first, but if the matter must be litigated, we prefer US law and US courts, but will negotiate to ICC arbitration in Hong Kong or Singapore, but we still insist on US governing law.

[Senior Vice President, Operations, Firm 4]

As our goal is to not only increase sales, but also provide after-sales technical and customer support, we strive for long term relationships and dispute resolution which enhances the relationship. Contractually, we will accept arbitration in Southeast Asia, but only in Singapore, and only with US, UK, or Singapore governing law.

Conclusions and Implications

These research results in business practice in Southeast Asia, support the prevailing views and global trends in the literature, and the quantitative results obtained in the global ICC Cuniberti study (Cuniberti, 2013). The results show that UK/US or UK-derived Common Law is the most used and most influential contract law in international cross-border commercial contracts in Southeast Asia. The results show that not only is Common Law the most used in international commercial contracts in Asia, but overwhelmingly so.

As a result of the research findings in this study, combined with the existing literature, and applying the theory of replication logic, it is reasonable to conclude that the majority of international cross-border contracts being negotiated and signed between and among firms in Asia, and between Southeast Asian firms and other world firms are being negotiated in English, under Common Law contract principles, and often, with common law jurisdiction governing law provisions. Therefore, by definition, a minority of such contracts are using Civil Law, or Civil Law governing law. The finding also show that many contracts contained arbitration dispute resolution clauses, but a large number also contained clauses mandating use of the courts of the

United States, United Kingdom, Hong Kong, Singapore and to a lesser extent, Australia. Singapore, as the literature shows, is the logical and most likely present and future venue as both a legal hub providing a base for international lawyers and practice, and dispute resolution of international commercial contracts in ASEAN. Singapore is well-positioned to consolidate this position with the efforts such as the new Asian Business Law Institute (ABLI) (Soon, 2015). Moreover, as Singapore is a Common Law jurisdiction, and in spite of speculation that the ABLI may adopt UNIDROIT contract principles, this author's contention is that there is ample evidence that UK/UK and other Common Law (including Singaporean) will predominate in contracts for years to come.

Limitations of Conclusions and Implications. It could be argued that the firms selected in this study are not representative of all international commercial firms operating in SE Asia, and that is strictly true. These firms are international telecommunications, technology and engineering companies. They may have relatively more sophisticated legal practices, and need for more Intellectual Property protection, and feel that Common Law systems afford greater protection. Furthermore, 4 of the 5 sample firms originate from Common Law jurisdiction legal systems, and more study needs to be done of firms operating internationally from SE Asia Civil Law jurisdictions. Finally, the sample size and number of contracts examined cannot be compared with the sheer number examined in the ICC arbitration study (Cuniberti, 2013). However, the researcher in that ICC study admitted that studying firms that resorted to arbitration may not be representative of all choices of law in all contracts because of the vast number of contracts that use other dispute resolution schemes, such as litigation in courts, and the even larger number which never result in disputes. Certainly a more focused Asian study needs to be done on the ICC arbitration data, and indeed non-arbitral contracts. Until further refinement, the results in this study, combined with existing literature present the following implications. Lastly, the results in this study reflect *actual practice* in the corporate firms studied. This may contrast with what law firms actually advise.

Notwithstanding the above, the implications for business and law school education in SE Asia and ASEAN are clear. Students in Civil Law or Common Law countries should study UK/US and regional Common Law contract principles and models for use in business. For undergraduate study, especially in International Business major programs, the existing textbooks are probably not sufficient. Most available widely-published business law textbooks are written from either a somewhat narrow US or UK perspective, with little application or customization to Southeast Asia or to ASEAN. As one author argues, what is needed is a type of "free-standing" course that caters to the specifics of ASEAN students (Bitas, 2012). Therefore, existing textbooks and materials are not ideal when the contract law landscape for international business transactions in SE Asia or ASEAN, though arguably dominated by Common Law, is composed of both Civil Law and Common Law countries. The Harmonization efforts underway such as ABLI, further compound the peculiarity of contract law practice in ASEAN.

For companies in SE Asia and ASEAN, these implications affect hiring decisions for corporate counsel (choosing those well-trained in Common Law tradition, but who also understand Civil law principles), as well as those in business development, corporate development, sales and other cross-border contract negotiating, management and closing positions. For Human Resource departments, re-training should be conducted for contract managers and staff to ensure they understand the salient points of Common Law contract law, as well as the differences commonly seen in ASEAN Civil Law countries. For in-house General Counsel and company legal staff, training should also be done in continuing education courses offered locally, and abroad. There are additional implications for corporate counsel when hiring outside lawyers. Efforts should be made to be cognizant of the outside law firm's fitness for the purpose of international contracts in light of the results of this study.

References

- Adams, Kenneth A. (2013) Asia: Different contracts, different cultures. *Asian Legal Business*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.legalbusinessonline.com</u>
- Adams, Kenneth A. (2014) Top Ten Tips in Drafting and Negotiating International Contracts. *Association of Corporate Counsel (ACC)* Retrieved from http://www.acc.com/legalresources/publications/topten/drafting-andnegotiating- intl-contracts.cfm
- Antons, Christoph (2007), Doing business in Indonesia: enforcement of contracts in the general courts and the creation of a specialized commercial court for intellectual property and bankruptcy cases, AED - Attractivité Economique du Droit, Programme international de recherches, Nanterre, France.
- Birkinshaw, J., Brannen, M.Y., & Tung, R.L. (2011). From a distance and generalizable to up close and grounded: Reclaiming a place for qualitative methods in international business research, *Journal of International Business Studies*, 42, 573-581.
- Bitas, B. C. (2012). Comparative Law and 21st Century Legal Practice-An Evolving Nexus. *SAcLJ*, 24, 319.
- Cuniberti, G. (2013). International Market for Contracts: The Most Attractive Contract Laws, The. *Nw. J.* Int'l L. & Bus., 34, 455.
- D. Daniel Sokol, Globalization of Law Firms: A Survey of the Literature and a Research Agenda for Further Study, 14 INDIANA J. GLOB. LEG. STUDIES 6 (2007)
- Dennis, M. J. (2014). Modernizing and harmonizing international contract law: the CISG and the Unidroit Principles continue to provide the best way forward. Uniform Law Review-Revue de droit uniforme, 19(1), 114-151.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Building theories from case study research. Academy of management review, 14(4), 532-550.
- Eisenhardt, K.; Graebner, M. Theory building from cases: Opportunities and challenges. Acad. Manag. J. 2007, 50, 25–32.
- Dimitratos, P., Plakoyiannaki, E., Pitsoulaki, A., & Tüselmann, H.J. (2011). The global smaller firm in international entrepreneurship. *International Business*

Review, 19(6), 589-606.

- Giuditta Cordero Moss (2007) "International Contracts between Common Law and Civil Law: Is Non-Interpreting Legal Standards Such as Good Faith," *Global Jurist*: Vol. 7: Iss. 1 (Advances), Article 3.
- Han, S. (2013). Principles of Asian Contract Law: An Endeavor of Regional Harmonization of Contract Law in East Asia. *Vill. L. Rev.*, 58, 589.
- Iacono, J. B. A., & Holtham, C. (2009). Research methods—A case example of participant observation. In 8th European Conference on Research Methodology for Business and Management Studies: University of Malta, Valletta, Malta, 22-23 June 2009: [proceedings] (p. 178). Academic Conferences Limited.
- International Monetary Fund. (2015). World economic outlook database. *Retrieved* from http://www.statista.com/statistics/268173/countries-with-the-largestgross- domestic-product-gdp
- JuriGlobe 2009, *Legal Systems Classification*, 2009, Faculty of Law of the University of Ottawa, Online. Retrieved from http://www.juriglobe.ca/eng/rep-geo/cartes/asie-sud-est.php
- Kamol Sandhikshetrin (2008). "*The Civil and Commercial Code Books I-VI and Glossary*." (*Seventh Edition*). *Bangkok: Nitibannakan. ISBN* 9789744473493. Retrieved from https://en.wikisource.org/wiki/Civil_and_Commercial_Code_of_Thailand/C urrent Versioon/Boo k 1/Title 1
- McConnaughay, P. (2000). Rethinking the role of law and contracts in East-West commercial relations. *Virginia Journal of International Law*, 41.
- Schwenzer, I. (2013). Who Needs a Uniform Contract Law, and Why. Vill. L. Rev., 58, 723.
- Singapore Academy of Law (2015). Doing Business Across Asia: Legal Convergence in an Asian Century, International Conference and Launch of the Asian Business Law Institute (ALBI). Singapore, Conference Secretariat.
- Soon, Weilun (2015, November 16). Institute to promote legal convergence in Asia to be set up in Singapore come January. *The Business Times*. Singapore Press Holdings. Retrieved from http://www.businesstimes.com.sg
- Stake, R.E. The Art of Case Study Research. Sage Publications: New York, NY, USA, 1995.
- Vegrhese, Kanishk (2015) Q&A with David Rivkin, IBA President. Asian Legal Business. Retrieved from <u>http://www.legalbusinessonline.com</u>
- Wood, Phillip (2008). Maps of World Financial Law: Law and practice of international finance series. Sweet & Maxwell.
- Yihan, G., & Tan, P. An Empirical Study on the Development of Singapore Law" (2011). SAcLJ, 23, 176.
- Yin, R. Case Study Research: Design and Methods, 4th Ed.; Sage Publications: New York, NY, USA, 2008

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 82 - 99 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.7 ajmi.stamford.edu

Risk and Return: An Unorthodox Relationship in the Thai Equity Mutual Fund Industry

Suchaya Siamwalla

Martin de Tours School of Management and Economics Assumption University scysiam@gmail.com

Abstract

In 1980, Bowman documented the *Bowman Paradox*, a negative relationship between risk and return of 85 U.S. industries, a contradiction to the high risk-high return doctrine. Examining the open-end equity mutual funds in Thailand, this study documented the negative relationship between risk and return in the industry from time to time during 2003-2012. The study further examined the factors that will affect the probability that a fund will deliver an outstanding low risk-high return performance using unbalanced panel logistic regression on a binary dependent variable. The results showed that funds with high non-systematic risk, also called idiosyncratic risk, and/or older funds were more likely to deliver a low-risk high return performance and the company who managed a high number of funds was less likely to deliver such performance. This study also proposed a new performance evaluation tool called *the Risk-Return Ranking Matrix*. This matrix suggested funds with outstanding low riskhigh return past performance.

Keywords: Mutual Fund Performance, Bowman Paradox, Negative correlation, Risk and Return, Portfolio Management

JEL Classification: G11, G12

Introduction

The conventional wisdom of economic theory suggests that one who expects a higher return should be able to assume higher volatility (Merton, 1973). However, Bowman (1980) presented the empirical evidence from 1,572 companies that a high return could be expected from a low risk company. His publication in *Sloan Management Review* entitled "A Risk/Return Paradox for Strategic Management" gained wide attention. The subsequent studies were in various areas; some were in management (Fiegenbaum & Thomas, 1986; Wiseman & Bromiley, 1991), some were in a financial context (Guo & Whitelaw, 2006), and a few were in the mutual fund area (Brockett, Charnes, Cooper, Kwon, & Ruefli, 1992; Cooper, Ruefli, & Wilson, 2011).

The studies of mutual funds in western contexts are much more numerous than studies in Asian contexts. However, the Southeast Asian economy was considered the next growth investment market (Bellman, 2012). The assets under management in this region reached 129.2 billion USD in 2013, a big growth from 82.5 billion USD in 2008. In This region, Thailand is the second largest economy in Southeast Asia after Indonesia (GrantThornton, 2014) and ranked 28th in the world in terms of the size of the economy (World Bank, 2013). The country had promising business potential as its

stock market daily trading value in 2014 was 1.5 billion USD dollars on average, the highest trading value among ASEAN¹ for three consecutive years (SET, 2015).

The negative relationship between the risk and return of firms found in Bowman (1980) and documented in the U.S. mutual fund industries (Brockett et al. 1992; Cooper et al. 2011) motivates this study to further examine the risk and return relationship in the Thai open-end equity mutual fund industry.

This study has two objectives. The first is to find out whether there was a negative relationship in the Thai open-end equity mutual funds industry during 2003-2012. Second, it will also determine what factors will affect the probability that a fund will deliver a low-risk high return performance.

Literature Review

Using firm level analysis of 85 U.S. industries, Bowman (1980) found that companies that had higher than average profit tended to have lower risk across companies within industries. That study was later known as the *Bowman Paradox*. There has been an increasing interest in extending the study of the Bowman paradox, especially in the United States, Europe and other Western countries (Baucus, Golec, & Cooper, 1993; Fiegenbaum & Thomas, 1986; Guo & Whitelaw, 2006; Wiseman & Bromiley, 1991).

The explanations regarding the paradox were categorized into three groups (Andersen, Denrell, & Bettis, 2007). The first group explained the paradox based on behavioral theory. They believed that in a situation of low return, decision makers tend to take higher risk. Examples of researchers in this group are Fiegenbaum (1990), Fiegenbaum and Thomas (1986, 1988), Jegers (1991), Johnson H. J. (1994), and Sinha (1994).

The second group explained the paradox based on statistical features. For example, Henkel (2000, 2009) argued that the skewness of the return leads to the negative relationship. The third group explained the paradox from an organizational management point of view such as Andersen et al. (2007), Bettis and Hall (1982), Bettis and Mahajan (1985), and Miller and Chen (2003). This group believed that the organizational structure and good management practices matter to the risk-return relationship. Managerial intervention to reduce operational risk was associated with better performance.

Most of the studies about the paradox were done in the context of industrial firms. Later, Brockett et al. (1992) used chance constrained programing to study mutual fund performance during 1984-1988. The authors classified the mutual fund returns into high, medium, or low returns using the chance that funds will have returns equaling or exceeding the S&P 500's return. They classified the risk by the probability that funds had returns at or below the T-Bill rate. Later, Cooper et al. (2011) made a quantitative evaluation of strategic performance of 120 U.S. equity mutual funds during 1993-1997. Both studies concluded that a negative relationship between risk and return could appear

¹ ASEAN is abbreviation for Association of South East Asian Nations. Its ten

countries members are associated for a political and economic co-operation.

in the mutual fund industry as well. To the best of my knowledge, the examination of the Bowman paradox in the Thai mutual fund industry has not yet been documented.

Based on Brockett et al. (1992) and Cooper et al. (2011), this study conducted a Thai equity mutual fund study and proposed to test the first null hypothesis that

 H_{01} There is a significant positive correlation between risk and return in the Thai open-end equity mutual fund industry.

Mutual fund management is one type of portfolio management. Under Capital Asset Pricing Theory, assets are exposed to systematic and non-systematic risks. The systematic risk is non-diversifiable, while the non-systematic risk is diversifiable (Lintner, 1965; Mossin, 1966; Sharpe, 1966). Hence, under portfolio theory, the nonsystematic risk, or firm-specific risk, sometimes called idiosyncratic risk, which is the diversifiable part of the risk, has not been the focus of any attention. A well-diversified investment should have a very low, if not zero, level of idiosyncratic risk (Bodie, Kane, & Marcus, 2011). However, during the 1990s to the early 2000s, many studies documented the increasing roles of idiosyncratic volatility in forecasting expected return; some attributed this trend to incremental institutional ownership (Malkiel & Xu, 2003), and some explained the trend with the firm's fundamental characteristics, such as maturity (Wei & Zhang, 2006) and competition within the industry (Irvine & Pontiff, 2009). Stambaugh, Yu, and Yuan (2015) emphasized the role of idiosyncratic risk in their recent work. They found that stocks with high idiosyncratic volatility presented opportunities for long-short arbitrage anomalous return (Stambaugh et al., 2015). The increasing role of idiosyncratic risks in security performance has been widely evidenced; its role for mutual funds has not been well documented. This study proposed to examine whether idiosyncratic risk would also have a predictive power on mutual fund performance.

As mentioned in the introduction, the first objective is to investigate the negative correlation in the Thai mutual fund industry. Such a negative relationship may consist of high risk-low return funds and low risk-high return funds. Since the latter is more beneficial to investors to enhance their portfolio returns, this study is interested in determining the factors that affect the probability of funds delivering such performance. This study offered its second null hypothesis that

 H_{02} The idiosyncratic risks of a fund have no significant effect on the probability that a Thai open-end equity mutual fund will deliver a low-risk high return performance.

There have been many studies about the characteristics of mutual funds on various subjects, such as on performance (See & Jusoh, 2012; Huang & Shi, 2013), on the growth opportunities of firm value (Kogan & Papanikolaou, 2013), on fund survivorship (Carhart, Carpenter, Lynch, & Musto, 2002), and on fund disappearance (Cameron & Hall, 2003). All these studies agreed that characteristics such as size, age, fund expense ratio, and others were important predictors of fund attrition, fund performance, etc.

The firm's strategic objective was found to influence the performance outcome and shape the risk-return profile of a firm (Andersen et al., 2007). As mentioned in previous paragraph, various literature studied the effect of fund characteristics on fund performance; however, to the author's best knowledge, the study of their effects on the probability that the fund will deliver low risk-high return performance has not been documented. This study proposed to examine such relationships and hypothesized that

 H_{03} Fund size has no significant effect on the probability that a Thai open-end equity mutual fund will deliver a low-risk high return performance.

 H_{04} Fund objective has no significant effect on the probability that a Thai openend equity mutual fund will deliver a low-risk high return performance.

 H_{05} Fund age has no significant effect on the probability that a Thai open-end equity mutual fund will deliver a low-risk high return performance.

Mutual funds are not stand-alone units; they are managed by organizations, and hence this study also proposed to examine the organizational effects on the probability that the fund will deliver a low risk-high return performance. It hypothesized that

 H_{06} The type of parent company of an asset management company has no significant effect on the probability that a Thai open-end equity mutual fund will deliver a low risk-high return performance.

 H_{07} The number of funds under an asset management company has no significant effect on the probability that a Thai open-end equity mutual fund will deliver a low risk-high return performance.

 H_{08} The total assets under the management of an asset management company have no significant effect on the probability that a Thai open-end equity mutual fund will deliver a low risk-high return performance.

Data Collection

This study selected all active equity funds in Thailand during 2003-2012. It excluded international, closed-end, retirement (RMF) and long-term equity funds (LTF). Suppa-Aim (2010) and Tangjitprom (2014) also employed this data collection method in their studies of Thai equity mutual funds. The closed-end equity mutual funds in Thailand, which are mainly triggered funds, RMF and LTF funds are managed under some regulations because they are tax-benefited funds. This study excluded such funds because they have restricted risk patterns and appetites. This study required funds with at least 36 months history for regression purposes.

There were 118 funds under AIMC based on the AIMC² definition of the equity fund category of "EQSET" at the time of sample selection. After excluding 13 triggered funds, three index-tracked funds, and 22 funds with age less than 36 months, this study examined a total sample of 64 funds in 2003-2005, 70 funds in 2006, 78 funds in 2007, 80 funds in 2008-2009 and 83 funds in 2010-2012.

This study merged databases from three sources; the Securities and Exchange Commission Thailand (SEC), the Association of Investment Management Companies (AIMC), and asset management companies. The information for obtaining the data to calculate the mutual fund performance was acquired from the website <u>www.thaimutualfund.com</u> for the period 2003-2012. This database included information on total net assets (TNA), net asset value per unit, bid and offer prices, and dividend payments, in terms of both amount and date.

² AIMC is the Association of Investment Management Companies. Members consist of mutual fund, private fund, and provident fund managers. AIMC is an association relating to and representing investment management industry by the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

Methodologies and Results

This study performed two separate statistical steps to test eight hypotheses. The first test, described in section 4.1, is the correlation procedure to test the first hypothesis, H_{01} , which is the risk and return relationship in a Thai open-end equity mutual fund. The second test, presented in section 4.2, is the regression to test the hypotheses $H_{02} - H_{08}$, the factors that will affect the probability that a fund will deliver a low risk-high return performance.

4.1 The Risk and Return Relationship

This study tested the first hypothesis H_{01} using the Pearson Product Moment correlation coefficient, ρ_T^j . This study correlated the return in excess of the risk free rate, r_n^j and its standard deviation in one-year, three-year, five-year and ten-year timeframes. This study assumed no transaction costs.

4.1.1 Return

This study used the total capital gain and dividend in calculating the return, as it became a standard requirement in the latest 2010 Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS 2013) item 2.A.1. For yearly return, this study used the time-weighted rate of monthly return as its measurement (Lawton & Jankowski, 2001), as follows.

$$r_Y^{\,j} = \left[\prod_{i=1}^n \left(1 + r_n^{\,j}\right)\right] - 1 \tag{1}$$

 Π = The product of one plus monthly return from period 1 to n

 r_Y^j = Yearly return of fund *j* for the measurement year *Y*.

 r_n^j = Total return of fund *j* at month *n*, *n*=1-12

The yearly return for any year is the multiplication of one plus monthly returns of corresponding months, then minus one.

The calculations of the monthly return, r_n^j , are as follows:

(i) For a fund with no dividend pay-out policy, the r_n^j reflects the capital gain as follows.

$$r_n^j = \left\{ \left(\frac{Nav_{end}}{Nav_{begin}} \right) - 1 \right\} - r_{f,n}$$

(ii) For a fund with a dividend pay-out policy, the r_n^j reflects the capital gain and the dividend income as follows.

$$r_n^j = \left\{ \left\{ \left(\frac{Nav_{end}}{Nav_{xd}} \right) \cdot \left(\frac{Nav_{xd} + Div \ per \ unit}{Nav_{begin}} \right) \right\} \ -1 \right\} - r_{f,n}$$

 $r_{f,n}$ = Monthly risk free rate or T-bill rate.

 Nav_{xd} = Net asset value per unit at the end of the ex-dividend date.

 Nav_{end} = Net asset value per unit of the last working day of the testing month.

 Nav_{begin} = Net asset value per unit of the last working day of the previous month.

For three-year, five-year and ten-year timeframes, the annualized return is the geometric mean return of the corresponding yearly returns. The calculation of annualized return is as follows.

$$r_{NY}^{j} = \sqrt[n]{\left[\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 + r_{Yn}^{j}\right)\right]} - 1$$
(2)

Where,

 r_{NY}^{j} = The N years annualized return of mutual fund *j*. r_{Yn}^{j} = The yearly return of mutual fund *j* at year *n*.

4.1.2. Risk

Following Fama and French (2012), this study employed standard deviation as its risk measurement. This measurement is widely used by the mutual fund organization such as Association of investment management companies (AIMC, 2016) and Morningstar \mathbb{R}^3 (Morningstar, 2016)

The standard deviation is the square root of the volatility of monthly returns of the testing year (Reilly & Brown, 2011).) and multiplies by the square root of twelve to make it annualized.

4.1.3 The Correlation Results

Table I presents the correlations results, ρ_T^j . Panel A. shows eight yearly correlations from 2005-2012. Panel B. shows the correlations of the roll over three-year annualized return and standard deviation. Panel C. shows the correlations of the roll over five-year annualized return and standard deviation. Panel D shows the correlation of the ten-year annualized return and standard deviation.

Table I: The Correlation between the Risks and the Returns of the Thai Open-EndEquity Mutual Fund Industry from 2003-2012

Panel A. Yearly	Panel A. Yearly 2005 2006		2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
r_v^j and STD	428***	326***	.794***	613***	.637***	.256**	671***	337***
1	64	70	78	80	80	83	83	83
Panel B. (3Y)	2003-05	2004-06	2005-07	2006-08	2007-09	2008-10	2009-11	2010-12
r_{3V}^{j} and S_{T}^{j}	.188	409***	054	541***	.052	.223**	.256**	503***
51 1	64	64	64	70	78	80	80	8 <i>3</i>
Panel C. (5Y)	2003-07	2004-08	2005-09	2006-10	2007-11	2008-12	-	-
r_{5V}^{j} and S_{T}^{j}	0.15	482***	260**	.259**	0.151	402***	-	-
51 1	64	64	64	70	78	80		
Panel D. (10 Y)	2003-12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

The italic number in each box is the number of sample funds in that year.

³ Morningstar, Inc. is a provider of independent investment research in North America, Europe, Australia, and Asia

r_{10Y}^{j} and S_{T}^{j}	299**	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
101 1	64							

*** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level

2016

** Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level

Table I presents the significant negative correlations in bold numbers. In Panel A., there are five negative correlations versus three positive correlations. In Panel B., there are three negative versus two positive ones. In Panel C. there are three negative versus one positive correlation.

Although the study did not find a negative correlation in every period during 2003-2012, the Thai open-end equity mutual fund industry did post more negative correlation years/intervals than positive ones. Finally, the important finding is that there is a significant negative correlation in the ten-year period in Panel D.

The results in Table I serve as empirical evidence to answer the first research question; it leads this study to reject the null hypothesis H_{01} and conclude that there could be a negative relationship between risk and return of Thai-open end equity mutual funds. The results are in line with the conclusion of Brockett et al. (1992) and Cooper et al. (2011) which suggested that a negative risk-return trade off could be found in the U.S. mutual fund industry.

4.2 The Factors Affecting Low Risk-High Return Performance

The results from Table I show that there could be a negative risk return trade off in the Thai mutual fund industry. This study further examined the factors that will affect this paradoxical mutual fund performance.

4.2.1 Identifying the Low Risk-High Return Funds

There are several performance measurements used in evaluating funds. A return-based measurement such as the Treynor ratio or Sharpe ratio measures the return per unit of risk, but does not indicate the actual level of risk to which the fund is exposed. A holding-based measurement such as the Grinbatt-Tittman measurement overlooks the portfolio risk-adjusted return (Reilly & Brown, 2011). Characteristic Selectivity (CS) by Daniel, Grinblatt, Titman, and Wermers (1997) measures the selection ability of manager but requires a great deal of information about portfolio holdings in each period.

This study proposes a new performance-ranking matrix, which takes into account both the levels of risk and return, and is easy to use. For each year, this study ranked the return and standard deviation of the return of all sample funds independently. It then divided funds into three groups at the 30th and 70th percentile, on both risk dimension and return dimension. This created nine groups of fund as shown in Figure 1. This study calls it the "Risk Return Ranking Matrix".

Risk	Low-risk (<30 th)	Medium risk (30 th -70 th)	High risk (>70 ^{th)}	
High return	Low-risk High return	Med-risk High return	High-risk High return	
(>70 Th)	Sweet Spot	Umami-2	Hot	
Medium return	Low-risk Med return	Med-risk Med return	High-risk Med return	

Figure 1: The Risk-Return Ranking Matrix

Risk	Low-risk	Medium risk	High risk		
Return	(<30 th)	$(30^{\text{th}}-70^{\text{th}})$	(>70 ^{th)}		
(30 th -70 th)	Umami-1	Salty	Sour-2		
Low Return	Low-risk Low return	Med-risk Low return	High-risk Low return		
(<30 Th)	Bland	Sour-1	Bitter Spot		

Naming each group according to their full descriptions as low risk-high return, high risk-high return or high risk-low return can be very confusing. To facilitate the user, this study assigned a name to each type of performance as shown in italic bold characters. The "Sweet Spot" represents the outstanding group of funds who have low risk but high return performance. The "Hot" group is the high risk and high return performance, and the "Bitter" group is a group of funds that delivers low return but carries high risk, and etc.

This matrix provides information that will assist investors with different levels of risk appetite. For example, in evaluating two choices of assets, asset A has a 3% return and a 1% standard deviation while asset B has a 9% return with a 3% standard deviation. These two assets will both have the same Sharpe ratio of 3 but may be ranked differently by the Risk Return Ranking Matrix of this study. Asset A may be ranked as Umami-1, a low risk medium return asset, since it has only a 1% standard deviation while asset B may be ranked as Umami-2, a medium risk high return group, since it has a higher standard deviation. Two investors with different risk appetites will perceive these two assets differently, even though the two assets have the same Sharpe ratio.

4.2.2 Descriptive Information

This study employed the *Risk-Return Ranking Matrix* in separating the fund performance of each year into nine groups. The results are presented in Table II. **Table II: The Distribution of Fund Performance during 2005-2012**

For each year, the samples are categorized into nine types of fund according to their characteristic of the level of risk and return. The numbers in the column under each year are the distribution of the sample funds in those years into the nine types of fund. The total number of samples in each year is presented in the last row. The total numbers in the far right column are a summation of each type of fund from 2005 to 2012. This study had 621 fund-year samples.

Risk	Return	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total	Performance
	High	10	5	7	13	0	9	17	10	71	Sweet Spot
Low	Medium	8	7	3	9	9	8	7	14	65	Umami-1
Risk	Low	2	9	14	2	15	8	1	1	52	Bland
	High	3	7	4	7	13	2	5	12	53	Umami-2
Medium	Medium	7	10	18	23	11	17	22	16	124	Salty
Risk	Low	14	11	8	2	8	14	6	5	68	Sour-1
	High	7	9	13	4	11	14	3	3	64	Hot
High	Medium	9	11	9	0	12	8	4	3	56	Sour-2
Risk	Low	4	1	2	20	1	3	18	19	68	Bitter
	Total	64	70	78	80	80	83	83	83	621	

Table II shows that during the study period, the industry had 71 fund-years with "Sweet Spot" performance and 550 fund-years with other types of performance.

Table III shows the market performance using the stock market return and its standard deviations. In 2005, 2006, and 2009 the market risk and return were ranked as medium risk-high return, the Umami-2. The other five years were ranked as Bland, Umami-1, Sweet Spot, Hot and Bitter, one time each year. Out of 8 years, the majority of market performance shows medium risk and high return.

 Table III: The Market Performance Evaluated Using the Risk-Return Ranking

 Matrix

Risk	Return	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Performance
	High								Set	Sweet Spot
Low	Medium						Set			Umami-1
Risk	Low			Set						Bland
	High	Set	Set			Set				Umami-2
Medium	Medium									Salty
Risk	Low									Sour-1
	High							Set		Hot
High	Medium									Sour-2
Risk	Low				Set					Bitter

4.2.3 Evidence on the Performance of the "Sweet Spot" funds

Figure II shows the performance in a longer timeframe, the average return of nine group during 2005-2012. Figure II shows the return of each group with a three shade vertical-bar chart and the risk level of each group with a line chart. The name of each group is shown under each bar with its performance.

Figure II: The Average Performance of Each Group during 2005-2012



Focusing on the first three bars, the "Sweet Spot", the "Umami-1", and the "Bland" represent low risk groups since their risks are within the first 30th percentile. Within this group, the "Sweet Spot" has the lowest risk of all at 15.97% versus 16.21 % and 16.52 %, despite its highest return at 25.46 % versus 17.66 % and 11.39 %. This information emphasizes the outstanding performance of the "Sweet Spot" group when compared to peers.

4.2.4 The Conceptual Framework

Since the "Sweet Spot" group represents the best performance among the nine types, this study is interested in determining the factors that will affect the probability that funds will deliver such performance.

Differences in fund managers' capability to manage funds were documented (Berk & Stanton, 2007; Chan, Chen, & Lakonishok, 2002). The negative relationship between risk and return found above could be a result of the differences in the ability of fund managers in managing diversifiable risk. Amihud and Goyenko (2013) estimated R^2 from a regression of fund returns and market returns and showed that funds with lower R^2 indicated greater selectivity and performed better than funds with high R^2 . They implied that funds with low R^2 were more active, had high idiosyncratic risk and would perform better. This study examined the effects of the idiosyncratic risk of funds on the probability that the fund will be in the "Sweet Spot" group. Based on the result by Amihud and Goyenko (2013), this study expected to find a high level of idiosyncratic risk with high probability that the fund showed a "Sweet Spot" performance.

This study also examined the effects of the characteristics in two dimensions: the fund characteristics and the asset management company characteristics. Apart from the idiosyncratic risk, other variables under this study were fund size, fund objective, the type of parent company of the asset management company, fund age, the total number of funds and the total assets under management of asset management companies. The study obtained most information from company websites and annual reports. The conceptual framework to test hypotheses $H_{02} - H_{08}$ is presented in Figure III.

Figure III: Conceptual Framework



4.2.5 The Model and the Result

To test the factors affecting low risk-high return performance, this study regressed equation (3), using logistic regression analysis with the unbalanced panel data technique.

Panel data are data in which the same cross-sectional entities are observed at multiple points in time. The panel data technique is commonly used in economics studies, such as in the National Survey of the Labor Market (NLS). Panel data analysis has many advantages over traditional cross-sectional or time-series analyses. The first advantage is for the case of a small "N" or few "T" studies (N refers to units, and T refers to Time-period). A limited number of observations have always been a problem both in cross-sectional and time-series studies. One problem is that small observations lead to inadequate degrees of freedom. The panel data analysis is designed to minimize this problem by increasing the cases to units (N) multiplied by the Time-period (T) observations.

The second advantage is the fact that the combination structure of panel data analysis leads to the benefit of capturing variations in the two dimensions simultaneously. In some cases, cross-sectional regression analysis may neglect the time variation, and a time-series study alone may neglect the variation caused by the spaces between data (Podesta, 2002).

To enhance the sample size and to capture both the time and space effects, this study used a panel data technique.

$$\pi_{T}^{J} = \mu_{0} + \mu_{1}\psi_{T}^{J} + \mu_{2} \log Size_{T}^{J} + \mu_{3} DObj^{j} + \mu_{4} Age_{k,T} + \mu_{5} DType - parent_{k} + \mu_{6} No. Fund_{k,T} + \mu_{7} Log AUM_{k,T} + \varepsilon_{T}^{j}$$
(3)

Where,

π_T^j	=	The binary variable represents the performance of mutual fund j at time T . It takes a value equal to one if the fund delivers a low-risk high return performance and zero otherwise.
ψ_T^j	=	Idiosyncratic risk of fund <i>j</i> at time <i>T</i>
$Log Size_{T}^{j}$	=	Log of size of fund <i>j</i> at the period <i>T</i>
DObj ^j	=	Dummy variable for fund objective of fund <i>j</i> , it equals to one for growth fund and zero otherwise.
DType – parent _k	=	Dummy variable for the type of the parent company of the asset management company k , it takes value one for bank-related type and zero otherwise.
Age_T^j	=	Age of fund <i>j</i> at time <i>T</i>
No. $Fund_{k,T}$	=	Total number of funds under management of an asset management company k at time T
$Log AUM_{k,T}$	=	Log of the total assets under management of an asset management company k at time T
E _{j,t}	=	Regression residual

The idiosyncratic risk was obtained by calculating the residual from the Fama-French Three Factors Model using equation (4), and multiplied the square root of twelve to the standard deviation of the residual squared, as shown in equation (5).

$$r_{n}^{j} = \alpha_{T}^{j} + \beta_{T}^{j} (r_{mkt,n} - r_{f,n}) + s_{T}^{j} SMB_{T} + h_{T}^{j} HML_{T} + \varepsilon_{n}^{j}$$
(4)
$$\psi_{n}^{j} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{j,n}^{2}}$$
$$\psi_{T}^{j} = \psi_{n}^{j} * \sqrt{12}$$
(5)

 ψ_n^j = The monthly idiosyncratic risk of fund *j* during the period *T*. ψ_T^j = The annualized idiosyncratic risk of fund *j* at time *T*.

 $\varepsilon_{i,T}$ = Regression residuals from Fama-French Three Factors model.

Prior to the running of the equation, this study used the Hausman test to determine whether to use the fixed effect model or the random effect model⁴. The results from the Hausman test lead this study to use the random effect model. The regression results are shown in Table IV.

Table IV: The Logistic Regression of the Factors Affecting the Mutual Fund Performance

Variables	Random Effect model						
	Coef.	z	P > z	dy/dx			
ψ	.419	3.71	0.000***	.0262			
Log Size	042	-0.26	0.798	0026			
DObj	045	-0.10	0.921	0028			
DType – parent	239	-0.48	0.634	0153			
Age	.101	2.54	0.011**	.0063			
No. Fund	014	-2.07	0.038**	0009			
Log AUM	.294	0.92	0.356	.0184			
constant	-11.083	-1.35	0.177				
No. obs	621						
Chi2(df)			25.13(7)				
Prob>Chi2			0.0007***				

The dy/dx in the last column is the marginal effect of each variable.

*** = significance at the 0.01 level,

** = significance at the 0.05 level,

⁴ Details of the Hausman test is available upon request.

Considering the overall picture of the model by looking at the Chi square, *Chi2* in Table IV. The overall Chi2 test evaluates the significance of all coefficients in the model, with the probability of getting greater chi2 at quite low of 0.0007. It leads this study to conclude that the overall model is statistically significant.

From Table IV, the idiosyncratic risk of fund, ψ , shows its significant effect at the 99 % confidence level on fund performance, as its p-value =0.000. Fund age, (*Age*), and the total number of funds, (*No.Fund*,) are significant at the 95 % confidence level with p-values = 0.011 and 0.038, respectively. Other variables do not significantly affect the probability that a fund will deliver sweet spot performance.

In Table IV, the coefficient of 0.419 of the idiosyncratic risk (ψ) indicates that, holding other variables at fixed value, the fund with higher idiosyncratic risk is more likely to deliver "Sweet Spot" performance than a fund with lower idiosyncratic risk. The dy/dx value of 0.0262 indicates the marginal effect of the variable. The one unit increases in idiosyncratic risk significantly increases the probability that that the fund will deliver "Sweet Spot" performance by 2.62 %.

The *Age* coefficient of 0.101 indicates that holding the other variables at fixed value, an older fund is more likely to deliver "Sweet Spot" performance than a younger fund. The dy/dx value of 0.0063 indicates that, as a fund gets older by one year, the probability that the fund will deliver "Sweet Spot" performance will increase by 0.63%.

The *No.Fund* coefficient of -0.014 indicates that holding the other variables at fixed value, the fund under the supervision of an asset management company that manages a large number of funds is less likely to deliver "Sweet Spot" performance compared to funds under the supervision of an asset management company that manages a smaller number of funds.

The dy/dx value of -0.0009 indicates the marginal effect of the variable. If the company increases the number of funds under its management by one, it will decrease the probability that the fund under its supervision will achieve "Sweet Spot" performance by 0.09%.

From the regression results, this study concluded that the idiosyncratic risk of funds and the age of funds have significant positive effects on the probability that a fund will deliver low risk-high return performance. The total number of funds under the management of an asset management company has a significant negative effect on the probability that a fund will deliver "Sweet Spot", low risk-high return performance.

Simulation on the Portfolio Performance

This study simulated portfolios to test the performance of the nine funds in Table V. In time t-1, all sample funds were divided into nine groups based on the Risk Return Ranking Matrix procedure stated in Figure 1. The portfolio was constructed at time t based on the fund performance at t-1. Their equally weighted return are shown in the column under each year. For example funds with Sweet Spot Performance in 2005, were selected to invest in Sweet Spot portfolio in 2006, and so on.

2016

Risk	Return	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Cumulative return	Risk Group average	Туре
Low Risk	High	1.44 %	26.7 9%	-39.96%	47.61%	41.62%	-4.26%	49.52%	131.09%	136.61%	Sweet Spot
	Medium	- 6.55 %	35.3 7%	-38.90%	63.06%	43.44%	0.39%	38.00%	150.45%		Umami-1
	Low	- 1.77 %	35.5 0%	-40.61%	48.83%	33.64%	5.61%	37.49%	128.29%		Bland
Mediu m Risk	High	- 3.73 %	31.5 7%	-42.64%	52.56%	44.44%	-9.59%	36.26%	97.24%	92.57%	Umami-2
	Medium	- 8.10 %	32.7 1%	-43.56%	60.92%	36.30%	-3.95%	35.69%	96.77%		Salty
	Low	- 8.25 %	33.1 7%	-44.95%	58.90%	37.29%	-7.58%	35.45%	83.71%		Sour-1
High Risk	High	- 3.84 %	38.8 5%	-48.10%	55.01%	44.39%	-6.94%	23.41%	78.13%	106.13%	Hot
	Medium	- 6.68 %	34.7 9%	-43.56%	57.70%	51.01%	-0.91%	32.41%	121.84%		Sour-2
	Low	- 6.92 %	38.2 1%	-44.28%	61.26%	43.59%	2.21%	28.75%	118.42%		Bitter
Industry	' average*	- 5.21 %	33.1 6%	-43.45%	57.70%	41.62%	-3.38%	36.65%	110.45%	110.45%	Industry

Table V: The yearly and cumulative performance, at time t, of each group of funds, ranked in t-1

*Industry average is the average return of all sample funds in that year.

Table V shows that the cumulative return of portfolio of 7 years investment in "Sweet Spot" funds is much higher than that of the "Hot" funds. Though, it comes second to the "Umami-1" funds, the cumulative return of the Sweet Spot portfolio is higher than the rest 7 types of portfolio and is also higher than the industry average. The result shows that the average cumulative return of the low-risk group, which consists of the Sweet Spot, the Umami-1, and the Bland type, outperforms the average cumulative return of the medium-risk and high-risk group, which 136.61% is higher than 92.57% and 106.31%.

Conclusion and Future Study

This study offers three contributions to the financial study area. First, this study documents that a positive relationship between risk and return cannot always be expected from the Thai open-end equity mutual fund industry. The study found both positive and negative correlations when observing each individual year relationship, and there was a significant negative correlation of -0.299 when observing a long horizon of ten years, 2003-2012. To verify whether the phenomenon is country specific or not,

the author encourages such examination in other mutual fund markets such as in neighboring countries.

Another contribution is that this study offers an alternative performance measurement. The methodology has produced a risk-return matrix of nine groups of fund performance and is proved useful in assisting investors to select the outstanding funds, as shown in Figure II and in the simulation result in Table V. This Risk-Return Ranking Matrix performance measurement is easy to construct, less technical, and incorporates both risk and return into the measurement, which helps to eliminate the risk adjusted return issue that occurred in some holding-based measurements. The author hopes this *Risk-Return Ranking Matrix* will be a useful tool in mutual fund studies in the future, for example, the studying of the characteristic of these Sweet Spot funds can be used to identify the funds with high probability to be a successful funds in the future.

The third contribution comes from the result of the panel logistic regression. The significant positive coefficients of the idiosyncratic risk and fund age, and the significant negative coefficient of the number of funds managed by a company reveal something about fund characteristics. Idiosyncratic risk is related to a highly active fund (Amihud & Goyenko, 2013). It implies that an older actively managed fund under the supervision of a company, that manages fewer funds than its peers, could be a candidate as a Sweet Spot fund.

This study believes there could be several interesting subsequent studies. One is to extend the regression result, whether we could use these three characteristics from the regression to predict the future Sweet Spot funds. Future study could empirically examine whether funds that have those characteristics actually perform better than the industry. Second, since negative risk and return is documented, the study to examine whether holding a group of low risk funds will actually outperform a portfolio of high-risk funds can be another interesting study.

This study documented the unorthodox relationship, initiated some explanations to this unusual relationship, and proposed a new performance measurement. The author hopes that this study will encourage many subsequent studies, both theoretically and empirically, which will enhance the understanding of the mutual fund industry.

References

AIMC. (2013). Fund investment consultant. Bangkok: AIMC.

- AIMC. (2014, December 15). *Mutual fund statistic*. Retrieved December 15, 2014, from Association of Investment Management Companies: http://oldweb.aimc.or.th/en/21_infostats_overview_index.php
- AIMC. (2016, January 21). *Performance*. Retrieved January 21, 2016, from Association of Investment Management Companies: http://oldweb.aimc.or.th/performance.html

Amihud, Y., & Goyenko, R. (2013). Mutual fund's r2 as predictor of performance. *Review of Financial Studies*, 26(3), 667-694.

Andersen, T. J., Denrell, J., & Bettis, R. A. (2007). Strategic responsiveness and bowman's risk-return paradox. *Strategic Management Journal*, 28(4), 407-429.

- Baucus, D. A., Golec, J. H., & Cooper, J. R. (1993). Estimating risk-return relationships: An analysis of measures. *Strategic Management Journal*, 14(5), 387-396. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2486824
- Bellman, E. (2012, November 20). New Investment Avenues in Southeast Asia. Retrieved October 10, 2014, from The Wall Street Journal: http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB1000142412788732435200457813069376823 8324
- Berk, J. B., & Stanton, R. (2007). Managerial ability, compensation, and the closedend fund discount. *Journal of Finance*, 62(2), 529-556.
- Bodie, Z., Kane, A., & Marcus, A. J. (2011). *Investment and portfolio management* (9th ed.). New York, NY, United States: McGraw-Hill.
- Bowman, E. H. (1980). A risk-return paradox for strategic management. *Sloan Management Review*, 21(3), 17-31.
- Brockett, P. L., Charnes, A., Cooper, W. W., Kwon, K.-H., & Ruefli, T. W. (1992). Chance constrained programming approach to empirical analyses of mutual fund investment strategies. *Decision Sciences*, *23*(2), 385-408.
- Cameron, A. C., & Hall, A. D. (2003). A survival analysis of australian equity mutual funds. *Australian Journal of Management*, 28(2), 209-226.
- Campbell, J. Y., Lo, A. W., & MacKinlay, A. C. (1997). *The econometrics of financial markets*. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Carhart, M. M., Carpenter, J. N., Lynch, A. W., & Musto, D. K. (2002). Mutual fund survivorship. *Review of Financial Studies*, 15(5), 1439-1463.
- Chan, L. K., Chen, H.-L., & Lakonishok, J. (2002). On mutual fund investment styles. *Review of Financial Studies*, *15*(5), 1407-1437.
- Cooper, W. W., Ruefli, T. W., & Wilson, C. L. (2011). Strategy and implementation: Quantitative evaluation of strategic performance with application to mutual funds. The University of Texas at Austin. Austin: McCombs School of Business. Retrieved from http://ssrn.com/abstract=1963927
- Daniel, K., Grinblatt, M., Titman, S., & Wermers, R. (1997). Measuring mutual fund performance with characteristic-based benchmarks. *Journal of Finance*, *52*(3), 1035-1058.
- Fiegenbaum, A., & Thomas, H. (1986). Dynamic and risk measurement perspective on bowman's risk return paradox for strategic management: An empirical study. *Strategic Management Journal*, 7(5), 395-407.
- Fiegenbaum, A., & Thomas, H. (1988). Attitudes toward risk and the risk-return paradox: Prospect theory explanations. *Academy of Management Journal*, *31*(1), 85-106.
- GIPS. (2014, December). *Standards and interpretation*. Charlottesville: CFA Institute. Retrieved October 16, 2013, from Global Investment Performance Standards 2010: http://www.cfapubs.org/doi/pdf/10.2469/ccb.v2010.n5.1
- GrantThornton. (2014). *Thailand: The business growth environment*. London: Grant Thornton.
- Guo, H., & Whitelaw, R. F. (2006). Uncovering the risk-return relation in the stock market. *Journal of Finance*, *61*(3), 1433-1463.
- Huang, X., & Shi, Q. (2013). Explaining the performance of chinese equity funds. 21st Pacific-Basin Finance, Economics, Accounting, and Management

Conference 4-5 July 2013 (p. 19). Melbourne, Australia: Deakin University-School of Accounting, Economics, and Finance.

- Huang, X., & Shi, Q. (2013). Explaining the performance of chinese equity funds. 21st Pacific-Basin Finance, Economics, Accounting, and Management Conference 4-5 July 2013, (p. 19).
- Irvine, P. J., & Pontiff, J. (2009). Idiosyncratic return volatility, cash flows, and product market competition. *Review of Financial Studies*, 22(3), 1149-1177.
- Kogan, L., & Papanikolaou, D. (2013). Firm characteristics and stock returns: The role of investment-specific shocks. *Review of Financial Studies*, 26(11), 2718-2759.
- Lawton, P., & Jankowski, T. (2001). *Investment performance measurement*. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Willey & Sons.
- Lintner, J. (1965). The valuation of risk assets and the selection of risky investments in stock portfolios and capital budgets. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 47(1), 13-37.
- Malkiel, B. G., & Xu, Y. (2003). Investigating the behavior of idiosyncratic volatility. *Journal of Business*, 76(4), 613-644.
- Merton, R. C. (1973). An intertemporal capital asset pricing model. *Econometrica*, *41*(5), 867-887.
- Morningstar. (2016, January 22). *Investment Glossary*. Retrieved from Morningstar: http://www.morningstarthailand.com/th/glossary/103666/standarddeviation.aspx
- Mossin, J. (1966). Equilibrium in a capital asset market. *Econometrica*, 34(4), 768-783.
- Podesta, F. (2002). *Recent development in quantitative comparative methodology*. Brescia, Italy: University of Brescia.
- Reilly, F. K., & Brown, K. C. (2011). Analysis of investments and management of portfolios. Canada: South-Western.
- See, Y. P., & Jusoh, R. (2012). Fund characteristics and fund performance. International Journal of Economics, 1(9), 31-43.
- SET. (2015, Jananuary 5). Stock exchange of thailand shows excellence performance in 2014. *News Release*, pp. 1-2.
- Sharpe, W. F. (1966). Mutual fund performance. Journal of Business, 39(1), 119-138.
- Stambaugh, R. F., Yu, J., & Yuan, Y. (2015). Arbitrage asymmetry and the idiosyncrstic volatility puzzle. *Journal of Finance*, *70*(5), 1903-1948.
- Suppa-Aim, T. (2010). *Mutual fund performance in emerging markets: The case of Thailand* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation ed.). West Midlands, U.S.A.
- Tangjitprom, N. (2014). The effect of fund size on performance: The evidence from active equity mutual funds in Thailand. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 5(10), 82-86.
- Wei, S. X., & Zhang, C. (2006). Why did individual stocks become more volatile? *Journal of Business*, 79(1), 259-292.
- Wiseman, R. M., & Bromiley, P. (1991). Risk return associations: Paradox or artifact? an empirically tested explanation. *Strategic Management Journal*, *12*(3), 231-241.
- World Bank. (2013). *Doing business 2013: Smarter regulations for small and medium-size enterprises*. International Bank for Reconstruction and

January – June 2016 ASEAN JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT & INNOVATION

Development / The World Bank. Washington: A co-publication of The World Bank and The International Finance Corporation.

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 100 – 108 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.8 ajmi.stamford.edu

Forming Good Organization CultureLeading toSuccessful Organization Management

Kanyarat Teerathanachaiyakun, D.M. Acting Lead Human Resource Management Faculty of Business Administration, Sripatum University E-mail: kanyarat.ti@spu.ac.th

ABSTRACT

This paper was conducted by reviewing relevant literatures from text books, academic journal, It could be summarized that The work environment in each organization is different as being the center for teamwork consisted of people from all walks of life with different ideas and attitudes. Therefore, working together in the same place may not be too easy, and the organization may aim for these employees to work in the same direction by developing the organization culture. Therefore, good organization culture is one of the key factor to drive the teamwork and united together for the same reason, which in turn benefit the performance and customers and suppliers or even stakeholders to see thing in the same perspectives.

Key Words: Organization culture, strategy, teamwork

Introduction

Organization Culture is the lifestyle of specific group that had been practiced for sometime from one generation to the next unite becoming the habit, tradition and cultures, norms, beliefs, values, including languages and objects. Cultures united people as one, forming a society with social order to regulate the normal existence. Cultures express in the ethical forms, values engaging in the decision-making or commanding. Organization culture is then extremely important to push the organization operation forward and resulted in social recognition. Therefore, it is necessary for all organizations to implement good organization culture in the administration as well as building teamwork in the organization, in which the organization that originated from people who following the order grouping together in systematic fashion. However, if we look carefully at each individual we should be able to form similar beliefs and values, leading to similar attitude, belief and values, so-called "Organization culture". As being seen, to date, the study on "Organization culture" is quite popular due to social changes that created huge impact on the organization, which could facilitate operation in the globalization era until the organization able to down size its own organization and decentralize to other divisions or units. However, with the decentralization, the organization still maintains the connection or work cultures as the spiritual center for all employees so the organization and its employees are heading the same direction and thus working as a team.

Leadership and Organization Culture

It has been widely known that leader is the most important key component of the organization success because the leader has the roles and direct responsibility to plan, command and organize the employees' performance to achieve the set goal as planned. The concern of technocrats and general public is how the leader approached the subordinates to form special bond that they are devoted to the task and willingly

January – June 2016 ASEAN JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT & INNOVATION

completed the task, whereas, some leaders are not only failed to have his subordinates working to their full potential, they had developed the animosity and ready to expel the leader. Therefore, the organization leader must emphasize on creating new values to increase employee's competency, directing at the employees work habit that could immediately respond to the organization's needs and eventually becoming the Organization culture. Furthermore, the leader has extremely important role to alter the organization culture. According to Bass and Aoolio (1994) who had presented model for the organizational leader in Full Range through the analysis component based on earlier model that had been presented in 1985. This model suggests 3 leadership types, namely, Transformational Leadership, Transactional Leadership and Laissez-faire Leadership as shown on Figure 1.



Figure 1: Leader Model in the Organization Full Rang Adapted from Bruce J. Avolio, Bernard M. Bass. (1994). Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). **Transformational Leadership Development**. Pola Alto, California: Consulting Psychologists..

Figure 1 offers the following explanations: 1) Transformational Leadership is 1) the process where the leader exerted his influenced over the subordinates and followers with the attempt to change and improve the ability of the co-worker and followers to higher perspectives, creating the awareness in the team mission and vision, thus motivating the followers and the co-worker to look beyond their own interests and directing at the group benefits, group or social benefits and 2) Transactional Leadership is the process where the leader used reward or punishment depending on the performance of followers. The leader would engage exchange process to motivate employees' point of views depending on the situation and motivation for the followers to practice and achieve the set goal. Meantime, the leader must clearly indentify the roles so that the followers could perceive the value of outcomes. The leader must learn what the followers should practice to achieve the desire outcome. The leader could motivate the followers by linking the need and reward with success as planned. Big reward is the extrinsic reward provided that the leader is fully aware of the needs of followers and 3) Laissez-faire Leadership is the process where the leader has not made any effort, lack of responsibility and involvement. When the followers need the leader's guidance, he is no where to be found. In addition, this type of leader has no vision regarding the organization as well as no clear direction. Meantime, Hesam Eshraghi et al., (2011) studied the relationships between the change leader and the leader of Manager of Physical Education Office in Isfashun. The finding suggest that many organizations at present had been changed abruptly to increase competitiveness. The essential aspect for this change is the organization employed staffs who could adjust to work environment and work effectively, having the system improvement as well as continuing to better the process, sharing the common goal to increase customer base and products. This study reveals that leader is the key factor in successful management if he could inspire the employee apart from having vision and emotional quotient. These are the characteristics of change leader because actions weighted more for the organization employee and also the success of organization.

According to Elaine Wilrnore (2007), the concept of teaches to improve instructions in the classroom and teacher responsibilities with leader roles in mind. Even though the formal roles of teacher are required, the new roles of teacher that included the leader are informal and derived mainly from the teaching experiences. These roles are as follows:1) Sharing knowledge acquired in the classroom as well as exchanging own skills with others.2) Constantly seeking self-improvement as well as being the mentor for new teacher 3) Being the model for cooperation. 4) Caring for own students and 5) Understand the conflict could happen during the course of school mission.

Meantime, Giles (2007) conducted the study over, "School Challenge : Relationships between leadership and learning organization." The findings suggest that leader model in the organization is necessary to make the school success in management because the leader is the one determining the direction of the staffs development, designing model and arranging instruction although the leader has to deal with organization learning through the complex structure, and main division. Moreover, the successful leader must motivate employee to learn and enhance the potential to work together. The outcome from learning should lead to the organization remodeling, including the auditing and modify the flaw from the past operation. In addition, it is the data for the management to make decision in the future. This is the characteristics of Transformational Leadership. Furthermore, Luatro et al., (2007) studied the development of holistic leader: four key domains for being the leader in the development and effective practice. The findings indicates that the organization failure caused by poor leadership performance. Therefore, there must be the training on leadership and initiative with clear scope and ability to analyze concept of Emotion and Spirit (ACES) of the leader, which comprise of four different domains as follows:1) Analytical where the leader must be able to think, analyze and develop staffs in the organization to be experts at work, as well as possess ability to manage complex work and inconsistent, analyze the organization products, organization competitiveness, which requires a leader with a strong analytical skills. 2) Conceptual where the leader must have the expertise in dealing with complex management, with creative thinking and strong skills, including through understanding in managing. The leader must demonstrate to everyone in the organization his skills in extremely sensible thinking and 3) Emotional where the leader must be able to control own emotion and adjust to every situation well and able to manage other people's emotion when unavoidable

confronting them. In light of the situation, he should be able to make use of the situation to bring about changes in behaviors of organization members to sum up, leader must possess skills or emotional quotient and 4) Spiritual where the leader must focus on the development with moral and ethic during the practice as the good example. The leader with high spirit must be willing to accept and share the values of organization staffs as well as perceiving the need of staffs.

The concept of Bass and Avolio (1994) had pointed out the interesting concept regarding the Transformational Leadership that it is the process when the leader exerted his authority over the co-worker and followers by making the effort to change and develop co-worker's competency to higher level, making them aware of the team and organization mission and vision. The leader would motivate the co-workers and followers to look beyond their own interests, instead focusing on the group benefits or benefits of the organization or society. In this process, the leader would influence the co-worker and followers though four specific components, namely, 1) having idealized influence, which refers to the leader acts as an example or a model for the followers and in turn he would earn praise, respect, faith and trust from others as well as the followers would feel proud to work with such leader. In addition, the leader must put other's needs over own needs and share risk with the followers. The leader emotion must be stable and able to control his own emotion during the crisis. The leader must earn the trust from others that he had done appropriately as well as having high moral and ethical standard so that the followers would admire his actions and try to imitate the same way. The leader must not abuse his power for his own benefit, but instead acting in a way to benefit others and for group benefit. The leader would display his intellectual capacity, potential, intention and self-confidence, determination in his ideology, beliefs and values. The leader should gain the pride and loyalty of the followers and they would become his cohorts to sharte the same vison and objectives. 2) having inspiration motivation is defined as the leader would act in the way to inspire the follower by assigning the challenge tasks to the followers. The leader would create team spirit as well as displaying the enthusiasm and looking at things on the right side. The leader must be able to distinctively create and convey the message, including the devotion or bond toward sharing gosl and vision. The leader would display the confidence and reveal his strong intention to achieve the set goal as well as assist the followers to look across own benefit, aiming for the vision and mission of the organization only. The leader should assist the followers to develop long-term bond with their goals. Quite often, this creation of inspiration occurred on the individual level and concern on such level to make individual found self-valued and manage own problem effectively. As for the intellectual motivation, the leader could help the followers to manage own setbacks and find creative thinking path. 3) Intellectual Stimulation defined as the leader who constantly remind the followers of problems within the workplace so that the followers may want to find the solution or better approach, to create new and creative items by forming assumption, Reframing, observing problems and coping with the situation with new tactics, including the nitivation and initiative ideas to solve problems. In addition, the leader should give full moral support to encourage the followers finding new solution as well as encourage the followers to express their opinions with sensible thinking and the leader should not criticize the idea of the followers, even it sounds different from the idea of the leader, the leader would make the followers feeling as if the problem is more of the challenge and presented him with

the opportunity to solve problems together. The leader would build up the followers' confidence so that they would see solutions to every problem and thus they would overcome all obstacles from collaboration. The followers would be stimulated to ask question on own values, trust, and culture as the important part of develop the followers' competency to be aware, understand and solve own problems and 4) concern on Individualized Consideration, where the leader would deveop the relationship with the followers as the care giver individually so the followers would feel own value and importance. The leader would act as a coach and advisor of each follower to develop each one, but make sure that each follower's need had been met to achieve the set goal and advance in won career. The leader would treat the follower with respect and provide the opportunity for them to learn something new, including building the learning atmosphere and support by concerning individual differences in the necessities and needs. The leader's action indicated the acceptance on differences between individual. The leader should arrange two-way communication as well as encourage personal relationships. In addition, the leader should be interested when the individual showed sign of worried, regard as such indivivual as the acquaintance, instead of seeing them as an employee or a production factor. The leader must listen attentively with empathy as well as deligated work to train the fdollowers and open for them to practice up to their full potential, learning new and challenged technique. The leader must follow-up and provide the advice, support as well as help the followers to advance in his career and doing the job well, but never let the followers felt as if they had been under the surveillance, The leader must be able to develop the strengths and eliminate weaknesses of each individual as well as providing the support for them to participate in the operation, which is considered as another duty the leader, quite challenge ans consistent as well as building differences in education. Importantky, the leader must establish the knowledge management process in the organization cto increase the competitiveness. Moreover, the research study of Ogbonna and Harris (2000) who studied the Leadership Style with organization culture and effective operational ourtcome among UK companies, the findings indicate that the leadership and organization culture were linking to the efficient operation. However, the connection between the leadership and efficient operation and the organization culture and efficient operation was tested independently, showing minor relationships between those factors.

The study also reveals the relatonships between the leadership model and effective operation outcome from the medium namely, the organization culture, having the recommendations to manage the organization culture to remain, without any obstruction or accepting other cultures that may interfere with building teamwork and promoting the management with employee involvement in the organization. Robbins (2001) gave the opinion on the cultural management that it is the behavior of organization member and being part of the behavior, not formally set by the organization, instead it is the behavior that promoted organization efficiency, especially in the situation where work has not stopped changing and thus increasing more employee responsibilities. Therefore, one of the crucial roles of the leader is changing to good culture and in line with the context or workload of the organization member as well as ensure every employee work involvement. This concept is coincided with the idea of George and Jones (2002) gave his viewpoint on the cultural management that being the member of the organization beyond the roles and duties defined by the
authorization could help the organization survival and success in set up the organization culture in which the leader should allow the the employee's participation in building organization culture as well as builing teamwork, job involvement and arranging the environment to favor the work that could be doine in many ways by the organization should share knowledge and promote learning with definite plan for knowledge management, promotional plan for changing organization culture, performance , establish network with trade partners and internal network, including the community involvement , leading to international co-operation.

Furthermore, Ivancevich et. al., (2011) who studied the organization culture of the leading organizations found that the management and organization could create Productive culture through formulation of specific culture, with three components, comprised od Customer-service culture, Ethical culture and Diversity culture. Moreover, Xenikou and Simosi (2006) had studied the relationships between the transformational leadership and organization culture and performance. The findings suggest the relationships between those factors by culture focused in the successmainly. As for Kriengkraiyod Punthai (2009) who had studied similar concept and found that transformational leadership and organization culture had the direct impact on performance . Therefore, the organization must create good organization structure by starting from the leadetr in the organization , in order to accomplish the management objectives.

Organization Culture and Successful Organization Management

The current society is a learning-based society that considered knowledge as the adjust because chages occurred at all times and abruptly due to the unlimited technlogical development. New and sophisticated knowledge had been developed endlessly. Therefore, in order for the business to survive amidst the business turbulence, there must be the shift in paradiam and vision, management strategies and performance, including the organization structure and the most important the creative organizational structure and favored the teamwork. One of the most important factor for the organization employee to gain knowledge and creativity is the organizational structure. Therefore, the organization leader must know and understand the organization thoroughly because it is comparable as the portion of the iceberg underneath the water. Then, the leader must learn to build and change organization culture in the positive direction in order to succeed and the organization culture would determine if the individual thoroughly understanding the right action and performance for the organization progress and thus own benefit (Black and Porter, 2000) by Daft & Lane (2002) gave his own opionion that the success of the business requires the leader to learn the nature and organization environment thoroughly to under the problems occurred within the organization. The more the leader understand the organization culture, the better for him to blend the values, beliefs and, including the necessary concept to reinforce the organization strength for successful organization, which could reflect the practice procedures of such organization. Therefore, creating or changing organization structure is to build or alter behavior of organization's members to be in the same direction, which could happen only if the management shows good role model the reflect the value and significant befief for the organization. This finding is coincided with the study of Smith (2003) who stated that any management action must be scrutinized and interpreted by the organization members that it is important issu. Any action or practice of the management would reflect and develop into the organization value. Meanwhile, Obeng & Sakano (2000) gave his opinion that beside indentifying the vision and operational strategies, the management must always pay attention to the internal and external surroundings in order to improve the organization cultureand operational strategies to match the surroundings environment, even though the organization culture is rather difficult to change. However, changes in the organization in some area may increase the effectiveness in the organization operation if the management understand which culture contributes to the organization success. Moreover, Robbins & Coulter (2002) proposed the guidelines for changing organization culture for the successful organization operation as follows: 1(analysis of current organization culture to understand all the component that needed changes.2) Enhance the employees understanding that the operagnation could not survive if there is no changes 3) appoint the leader with clear vision to organize the change and 4) reorganize the organization structure appropriately. 5(build the new story tellers and rituals that would help promote vision to be known among the pubic and 6) alter the recruitment process and socialization, results assessment and incentive to support the values and new philosophy for building cultures. Somehow, the employees' involvement, Juliette Summers and Jeff Hyman (2005), who had studied the employees' involvement in the efficient corporation found the diferent impacts on involvement, even with different work environment, and performance measures could not alter the employees' attitudes. Moreover, it was found that by allowing the employees' involvement, work barriers were subsided and performance become more effective. Meanwhile, the concept of Kim S Cameron & Robert E. Quinn (2006) mentioned work involvement as the Clan Culture, having work as a team and every employee participated in work or conducted different activities, whereas, employee's opinions were listened and the organization leader showed a good example with advice, assistance, support and facilitate each other. Therefore, a good organization would lead the organization to success because it helps for the employees to unite, especially, good organization culture would make employees developing strong bond and with team spirit that should lead to organization bond that would direct the member to the right path, appropriate activities. This way, they would know what should and should not be done. The organization culture is also the mechanism to control members' behavior as well as acting as transmitter of the unique identity and in turn differentiated the organization scope between each organization, affecting the organization effectiveness. When the culture created commitment, work involvement, the organization could adapt to the internal and external environment and repeated the same action until becoming work coordination an could predict the incident that may happen (Piyawat Kaewkuntarat, search information from http://www.thaihrm.com/articledetail.asp?id= 2973 on March 5, 2016(. Nonetheless, in creating or developing the organization culture, it is good to know the symbol that existed in such culture. Then, we would know the model of organization culture with latent definition, which could benefit the future growth of the organization.

Conclusion

Organization culture is abstract but understandable and could be shared between the organization members and more influence on the work life of its members, which is made one organization differed from another. One organization could not copy this style, including the impact on the competency and survival of business in this globalization era with intense and turtbulence competition. Therfore, the management should pay more attention to the organization culture to share the same work values and make it more tangible, deploying both tangible abnd intangible resources, boost up the employees ' morale and delvelop the proper work guidelines to achieve the maximum benefit for the organization.

References

Kriengkriyod Punthai, 2009. Influence of Cultural Leader Behavior in the and Human Resource Development Activities affecting performance of State Enterprise Employees, Ph.D., National Institute of Development National Institute of Development Administration

Piyawat Kaewkunthom, search theough

http://www.thaihrm.com/articledetail.asp?id= 2973on March 5th, 2016 Black, J.Stewart and Porter Lyman W., 2000. *Management Meeting New*

- Challenges. Upper Saddle River N.J. : Prentice Hall.
- Bruce J. Avolio, Bernard M. Bass. (1994). Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). *Transformational Leadership Development*. Pola Alto, California: Consulting Psychologists.
- Corrie Giles. (2007). Building Capacity in Challenging US Schools: An Exploration of Successfull Leadership Practice in Relation to Organizational Learning. ISEA Volume 35, Number 3.
- Daft, Richard L.; & Lane, Pat. (2002). *The Leadership Expensionce*. Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt College Publishers.)The Dryden Press Series n management(
- Elaine L. Wilmore. (2007). Teacher Leadership: Improving Teaching and Learning From Inside the Classroom
- George, J.M., and Jones, G.R. (2002). Understanding and managing Organizational behavior. 3rd ed. Massachusetts : Addison-Wesley.
- Hesam Eshraghi et al (2002). A Study of the Relationship Between Transformational Leadership and Leadership Outcomesin the Managers of Physical Education Offices in Isfahan Province. Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences, 5(12).
- Ivancevich, M. J.; Konopaske, R. and Matteson, M. T. 2011. *Organizational Behavior and Management*. 9th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- James L. Pate, Lori James and Donald Leech. (2005). *Teacher Leaders: A Catalyst for Instructional Leadership Valdosta State University*. Running Head: TEACHER LEADERS: A CATALYST.
- Juliette Summer and Jelf Hyman. 2005. *Employee participation and company performance*. Joseph rowntree foundation : England.
- Kim S Cameron & Robert E. Quinn (2006). *Diagnosing and changing Organizational Culture: based on the comepeting values Framwork.* Reading,mass:Addison-wesley.caddison-wesley series on organization development.
- Obeng, K.;& Sakano, R. (2002). *The Effects of Operating and Capital Subsidies on Total Factor Productivity*: A Decomposition Approach. Southern Economic Journal.
- Ogbonna, E. and Harris C. Lioyd. (2000). *Leadership style, organizational culture and performance: empirical evidence from UK companies*. International Journals of Human Resource Management, 11(4),pp. 766-788.

Robbins. (2001). Organization behavior. 9th ed. New Jersey: Prentice-Hill

- Robbins, Stephen P. & Coulter, M. (2002). *Management*. New Jersey: prentice-Hall International.
- Scott A. Quatro, David A. Waldman, Benjamin M. Galvin. (2007). Developing holistic leaders: Four domains for leadership development and practice. Human Resource Management Review 17, pp.427–441.
- Smith, C.T., & Hensly, Brown (2003). *Co-Management of Natural Resource in Asia : Comparative Perspective*. Nias Press. Quarterly,28, pp.339-358.
- Xenikou, A. and Simosi, M. 2006. Organizational Culture and Transformational Leadership as Predictors of Business Unit Performance. Journal of Managerial Psychology. 21 (6): 566-579.

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 109 - 118 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.9 ajmi.stamford.edu

Integration of Organic Foods into Thailand's Hotel Industry as Opportunities

Nalinnee Pumhiran Stamford International University Email: Nalinnee.pumhiran@stamford.edu

Abstract

With greater demand for organic foods worldwide, organic foods have become "opportunities" for many businesses, from local producers, restaurant operators, exporters to hotels. This paper discusses the potential opportunities underlying integration of organic foods into hotel businesses given the wide-ranging benefits of organic foods for producers, consumers and the environment. Organic foods usages in hotel industry abroad and in Thailand are exemplified to identify numerous ways organic foods can be applied to add-values to hotel businesses. Organic foods correspond to hotel guests' higher expectations and demand for healthier diet and lifestyle, improve life quality of marginal organic farmers, promote sustainability, and for hotels, they enhance the "green", "responsible" and "sustainable" brand image as well. This paper recommends application of "Five C's of Sustainability Branding" concept to maximize effectiveness of organic foods usage in hotel businesses; and incorporation of organic foods education into hospitality-related studies to foster positive awareness and accurate understanding of organic foods' values among consumers and producers within hotels' value chain and beyond. The latter is particularly essential to overcome challenges impeding organic growth in Thailand. Keywords: organic foods, organic foods production, organic foods usage, hotel industry

Introduction

Organic food is one of the most rapid growing sectors in the global food industry, and one of the biggest food trends over the past decade. According to "The World of Organic Agriculture: Statistics and Emerging Trends 2015", a world organic agriculture condition report by the Research Institute of Organic Agriculture (FiBL) and the International Federation of Organic Agriculture Movements (IFOAM), the global organic foods market value has reached US\$ 72 billion by the end of 2013 with more than two million organic producers worldwide. (Willer & Lernoud, 2015). This trend will persist due to consumers' increasing concerns for improving overall health, rising awareness on organic foods' benefits, expanding organic farming in the world, more retailers providing a variety of organic products and implementation of government regulations that support organic foods production. (Singh, 2011; Willer & Lernoud, 2015).

While organic food standards vary worldwide, organic food is generally defined as a food produce of organic farming. According to Green Net/Earth Net Foundation, organic foods contain high nutritional values and are safe as they are produced without synthetic pesticides, chemical fertilizers, food additives, antibiotics, hormones or other genetically modified ingredients. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012) Use of food irradiation, industrial solvent and synthetic additives are prohibited in all organic foods production processes, and therefore unlike conventional farming which relies on chemicals, organic foods do not pose any health risks. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012) Furthermore, organic foods production promotes sustainable usage of earth's natural resources without harming the ecosystem, resolves climate changes, and eradicates local poverty small marginal farmers in developing nations are facing. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012)

Today, consumers can purchase organic foods more easily due to their increased availability in supermarkets, local stores and marketplaces globally. In hospitality sector, we are spotting organic foods being offered in restaurants, catering businesses, hotels, hospitals and even nursing homes. In many Nordic countries, catering organic foods at cafeterias at schools and public organizations has become the norm. (Mikkelsen, Kristensen & Nielson, 2002) Hotels, as major hospitality providers, can surely benefit from this trend by integrating organic foods as hotels' products and services.

This paper aims to shed light on the opportunities of integrating organic foods into Thailand's hotel industry for hoteliers. Benefits of organic foods as value-adding qualities for hotel businesses will be exemplified through various hotels' real practices. Effective application of organic foods through "Sustainability Branding" will be discussed, and challenges in applying organic foods to Thai hotel sector will be analyzed. Finally, this paper recommends more studies on the values and challenges of offering organic foods in the Thai hotel industry and other Thai hospitality sectors, and propose integration of organic foods education into hotels and hospitality related studies.

Research Methodology

This research study employs qualitative approach, using secondary data for documentary review. According to Sekaran, (2003) secondary data refer to information gathered by someone other than the researcher conducting the current study. In this research data are obtained from both public and private sector, including journals, books, government publication of economic indicators, and internet. These secondary data reveal the demand for organic foods worldwide and are very useful to form an understanding on the potential opportunities underlying integration of organic foods into hotel businesss. There are many benefits of using secondary data. It is less time consuming. It requires data selection, instead of data collection. Many documents are in public domain, such as internet and journal. (Bowen, 2009). Thus, they are freely accessible without the need to come to an agreement with the holder of documents. Another advantage of using secondary data sources is saving in costs of acquiring information. (Sekaran 2003). Despite these merits, documentary research has a number of limitations such as biased information and the lack of credibility and reliability on data gathered through secondary sources.

Analysing the data found in research can not only help suggest conclusion, but also our own understanding of the bigger picture. This study would make sense of data collected using grounded theory. It involves inductive and interpretative; developing novel theoretical ideas based on the data. (Howie, 2010)

Overview of Organic Foods in Thailand

In Thailand, the government has been pushing "Organic Agriculture" as one of its major National Agendas for agricultural development since October 2005. (Chinsathit, 2012) It reserved as much as 1,216 million baht (US \$ 39 million) as organic farming promotion budget between 2005 and 2009 to reduce agro-chemical usage in conventional farming. (Chinsathit, 2012) Policymakers believe that safe organic foods production for national export is vital for national development, and that continuing chemical usage in farming will only cause serious health consequences to consumers and producers. (Chinsathit, 2012) Along with the Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, different Thai government agencies, namely the Thai Health Promotion Foundation and the Ministry of Commerce, have been strong promoters of organic foods production and consumption in Thailand. (On, 2014; Daily News, 2014)

With the government's strong supports, the organic food sector in Thailand, which primarily consisted of rice, vegetables and fruits, has been expanding steadily in the past decade. (Chinsathit, 2012) Department of Agriculture of Thailand has reported that domestic organic agricultural foods production had also increased dramatically from US \$ 0.8 million in value in 1992 to more than US \$ 65 million in 2011. (Chinsathit, 2012) Corresponding to this, the ministry also has reported that Thailand's organic agriculture land had expanded by almost 19 times from 2,483 acres in 1998 to 46,689 acres in 2009. (Naewna, 2010) Study by Green Net/Earth Net Foundation confirmed that more organic produce can be found in Thailand's major supermarkets such as Central Department Stores' Tops Supermarkets, Siam Paragon Food Hall and Supermarket, Foodlands and Villa Markets. Smaller health foods stores such as Lemon Farm and Green Line also carry organic produce. ("Organic Products in Thailand," 2012) Although Thailand's organic sector is proportionally small compared to its conventional food sector, and although majority of Thais consumers continue to purchase conventional foods, we can still expect to see more organic foods in Thai markets, restaurants and even hotels in the future.

Benefits of Organic Foods

Why are more consumers opting for organic foods? **The first reason is that they are safer than conventional foods.** Organic produce is perceived to be safe for consumption because it contains lower levels of toxic metals, chemicals, pesticides, antibiotics, food additives and growth hormones that are commonly found in conventional foods. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012) All organic production processes do not utilize toxic, chemicals, antibiotics and other unsafe ingredients. Harmful food processing techniques such as irradiation and bleaching are also unpermitted. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012) In an interview with an organic beef expert Asst. Prof. Dr. Suriya Sawanon of Kasetsart University, Thailand, the professor has explained that organic livestock products are safer options to conventional meats because organic animals are raised without antibiotics or growth hormones nor are they processed with food preservatives or coloring. (ASTV Online Manager, 2010)

The second reason consumers choose organic foods is because organic foods promote good health. Organic foods are more nutritious and richer with essential vitamins, omega and amino acid that are significant for developing and maintaining good health. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012) They do not contain genetically modified ingredients, growth hormones and other unnatural substances, nor do they undergo numerous food processing steps that can threaten one's health. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012) In addition, according to a study on differences between organic and conventional fruits, vegetables and cereals, led by Prof. Carlo Leifert of Newcastle University, United Kingdom, organic foods are confirmed to contain "substantially higher" level of antioxidants —ranging between 19% and 69% and therefore are healthier. (Carrington and Arnett, 2014) **The third reason consumers prefer organic is for their good taste.** Many are convinced that organic vegetables and fruits are more delicious than conventional foods since they contain little to no bitter chemical residues, and are free from preservatives and artificial ingredients that deplete the sense of freshness. (Sangkumchaliang & Huang, 2012)

The fourth reason behind consumers choosing organic is the fact that organic foods production promotes ethical treatment of animals and helps sustain the environment. Organic livestock is let free to roam in spacious natural environment outdoor unlike animals in industrialized food factories that are raised in closed environment. (ASTV Online Manager, 2010) As for organic crops, they are grown through organic agriculture methods that help preserve soil quality and water usage, enhance bio-diversity and stop global warming. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012) According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), crop rotations and usage of organic fertilizers in organic agriculture improve soil formation and productivity, and enhance soil retentive abilities for nutrients and water. (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2015) Replacing chemical fertilizers and pesticides with organic fertilizers can reduce water pollution faced in conventional agriculture and can enrich nature's bio-diversity; abundant bio-diversity will consequently enhance crops' immunity to pests and lead to greater environmental sustainability. (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2015) Eliminating agrochemical needs in organic agriculture will lower nonrenewable energy usage, and organic agriculture practices such as "returning crop residues to soil" and "the use of cover crops and rotation" will increase the return of carbon to the soil, which will allow for greater "mitigation potential of agriculture against climate change". (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2015)

The final reason consumers purchase organic foods is in the interests of supporting small-scale marginalized organic farmers and promoting fair trade. Organic food producers are guaranteed higher price for their products due to organic foods' greater market value, numerous health benefits, their labor-intensive production, and greater attention and care necessary for successful organic farming. (Chinsathit, 2012) Organic farming proves to be a fair and profitable business that can help improve the livelihood of many small-scale local farmers. (Chinsathit, 2012) At the same time, it helps lower wealth disparity between small-scale marginalized producers and large multinational food conglomerates, and protects farmers against health risks from agrochemicals and pesticides usage in conventional farming. ("Nine Reasons to Consume Organic Foods," 2012; Chinsathit, 2012)

Integration of Organic Foods into Hotel Industry as Opportunities

Many hotel operators are addressing organic foods' benefits and accommodating consumers' stronger demand for them by integrating organic foods into their businesses as hotel products and services. **One way organic foods are integrated into hotels is by being served in hotels' restaurants.** In an interview with Brian Povinelli, SVP Global Brand Leader for Westin and Le Meridien, Mr. Povinelli has stated that healthy and organic foods are now being expected by and provided to guests in their hotels' menus. (Rudnansky, 2014) Novotel Hotels in Australia are said to also increase hotels' usage of organic foods. In order to fulfill Novotel's "Designed for Natural Living" brand promise, it introduced a new, healthier breakfast buffet, consisting of organic items such as "organic banana bread, organic fruit compotes, organic toasted muesli and organic jams" as minimum Novotel breakfast buffet standard. (Gee, 2010)

Another example is the Four Seasons Hotel, California. Every weekend, the hotel organizes a healthy "Weekend Interactive Farmers' Market Breakfast" featuring local organic diary goods and other produce from local farms to promote local produce and healthy eating habits. ("Travel Trend: Kids Eat Healthy at Four Seasons," 2014) As part of the breakfast, children are allowed to collect their own organic vegetables and learn about organic produce at nearby local farms. ("Travel Trend: Kids Eat Healthy at Four Seasons," 2014) Similarly, North American Hyatt Hotels and Resorts started to offer children guests "For Kids By Kids" 3-course organic meals to promote healthy eating and to lower obesity in children. (Goldberg, 2012) In Europe, the Scandinavian based hotel chain "Scandic Hotels" also began using organic foods in their restaurants. (Mikkelsen, Kristensen & Nielson, 2002) All of these initiatives not only serve to satisfy customers' demand, but they have contributed to enhancing the hotels' "green, responsible and sustainable image".

In Thailand, some hotels are now offering organic foods. The Bangkok upscale Grand Hyatt Erawan Hotel, for example, cooperates with an organic farm owner in Nakhon Ratchasima Province in growing over 60 types of organic vegetables on over 39 acres of organic farm land. (Khaosod, 2011) This "Organic Farming" project is being implemented with an intention to create the hotel into a sustainable "green hotel" by procurement of organic vegetables from the farm to serve to guests. This project has created jobs for local people living near the farm. (Khaosod, 2011) While some hotels in Thailand like the Grand Hyatt serves organic produce regularly as standard, some hotels like Dusit Thani Hotel Bangkok serves organic foods as a special event. In 2014, the Dusit Thani Hotel organized an "Organic Food Buffet" luncheons to attract healthy eating guests. (Banmuang, 2014) In addition to serving organic foods in hotel restaurants, a resort like Outrigger Laguna Phuket Beach Resort, Phuket Province, also grows their own organic vegetables and herbs garden in the hotel's property. (Rudnansky, 2014)

Another way, organic foods are integrated into hotel businesses apart from for dining is as special, creative activities for guests. At Thailand's Sampran Riverside Hotel, Nakhon Pathom Province, guests can take the hotel's organic farm tour to observe planting of organic vegetables, herbs and fruits that will be served at the hotel. They can also pick up organic produce from the farm for the hotel's cooking lessons and enjoy fresh organic herbal tea. ("Organic Farm," 2015) A second example is AoTearoa Organic Farm & Resort at Ratchaburi Province, Thailand. This small resort offers organic food tasting activities, and organic vegetables and organic rice farming experiences. Another interesting resort in Thailand that implements organic food activity is Hansar Samui Resort, Surat Thani Province. The resort plants its own organic vegetables garden to serve at the hotel and organizes a charity bazaar event to sell its yield to hotel guests and local community in order to raise funds to assist local school and temple. (Tuppen, 2015)

Integrating organic foods into hotel businesses is a significant strategy for attracting growing numbers of health-conscious customers who desire safe, nutritious and tasty dining. At the same time, organic foods protect the environment from pollution and climate change, improve bio-diversity, reduce carbon footprints and encourage sustainable usage of natural resources.

Effective Integration of Organic Foods into Hotels through the "Five C's of Sustainability Branding"

For hoteliers, another direct advantage of integrating organic foods into hotel businesses is the enhancement of hotels' corporate image and brand as "green", "socially and environmentally responsible" and "sustainable". In order to articulate effectively all the benefits, "the greenness" and the added-values of offering organic foods and related services, hotels must apply "Five C's of Sustainability Branding." This concept constitutes the five qualities for successful "Sustainability Branding", which was developed by Marc Stoiber, President and Founder of Change, a brand agency in Vancouver, Canada. (Maddock & Vitón, 2010) "Five C's of Sustainability Branding" can be applied to present and promote organic foods usage in the hotel industry in the following ways;

- 1. **Competitive** Organic foods are sustainable in the ways their production utilizes natural resources and preserves the environment; thus, making them "competitive". There are rooms for more innovative creations with organic foods production and presentation. Although organic food choices are still limited in Thailand, great varieties of organic food products can be produced, and there are many more new innovative organic recipes that can be created by hotel chefs.
- 2. **Consumers facing** "Greenness" branding must be easily visible to consumers to be effective. (Maddock & Vitón, 2010) Therefore, in terms of hotel industry, hotels must clearly indicate their offering of organic dishes and the benefits of organic foods they serve. These could be presented in the menus along with the numbers of carbon footprints reduced for each dish. Dining tabletops, for instance, can be adorned with "organic" and "eco-friendly" items, namely placemats, napkins or even on plates and cups. Hotel's organic foods offerings and benefits should be clearly noticeable to consumers, whether in hotel's facilities and on hotel's webpage. Organic certification labels, if available, should also be displayed.
- 3. Core Tying sustainability to brand's core business is crucial. (Maddock & Vitón, 2010) For hotel businesses, which primarily offer hospitality, accommodations and leisure, organic foods are directly tied to hotel's core businesses. Beyond hotel restaurants, organic foods can also be used to accommodate hotel guests in other creative ways. For instance, hotels can offer organic juices, teas or coffee as welcome drinks or as complimentary gifts, or they can provide organic snacks and drinks in hotel rooms' mini bars. In this respect, organic food is an excellent strategy to express that the hotel is attentive to their guests' well-being and the future of their planet.
- 4. **Conversational** Effective "Sustainability Branding" of organic foods in hotel industry must involve two-way communication, rather than one-way, in order to express honesty and transparency. (Maddock & Vitón, 2010) This entails disclosing what the hotel is doing well with organic foods and what could be improved. Hotels will benefit by blogging about organic foods on their homepages and other social media outlets such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram

or online communities. They can also incorporate organic foods promotion in their daily operations such as by simply standardizing hotel waiters to introduce and recommend organic foods and their benefits to guests. Hoteliers may also want to question or conduct surveys with guests prior to check-out to examine customers' satisfaction with hotels' organic foods offerings.

5. Credible – For effective "Sustainability Branding" of organic foods in hotel businesses, hotels must carry out organic food initiatives first before publicizing them. This strategy will strengthen hotels' credibility, and "credibility paired with innovation that excites", namely new organic foods recipes or related activities, "and communication that clarifies and engages-- is the key to sustainable brand success". (Maddock & Vitón, 2010)

Challenges of Integrating Organic Foods into Thailand's Hotel Industry

Despite the long list of organic foods' benefits to consumers and hotel businesses, and despite the global public's greater demand for them, organic foods production and consumption in Thailand are still small-scale compared to that of conventional foods. (Sangkumchaliang & Huang, 2012) There are yet many challenges to integrating organic foods into Thailand's hotel industry. **The first challenge is the premium price of organic foods in Thailand. (Sangkumchaliang & Huang, 2012)** In Tops Supermarkets in Thailand, prices of organic fruits and vegetables are approximately 13% to 50% higher than prices of conventional food products. Many hotels in Thailand are reluctant to use organic ingredients due to organic goods' premium price, and many consumers decided not to purchase them seeing that they are more costly.

The second challenge of adopting organic foods into hotel businesses is the lack of organic foods' assortment and availability in Thailand. (Chinsathit, 2012) One cause of this is that there are still few organic suppliers in Thailand. Many Thai farmers are not taking up organic farming due to lower average yields per unit area of organic farms compared to conventional farming, and also due to the greater time, care, efforts and labor forces required for production. (Chinsathit, 2012) Conversion to organic farming is also not simple; it requires scientific knowledge on organic farming and strong cooperation with stakeholders which most Thai farmers currently lack. (Chinsathit, 2012) Moreover, securing organic fertilizers in large quantity for organic farming is difficult. (Chinsathit, 2012) Current high prices of many conventional crops in Thailand such as durian, banana and longan also discourage organic farming. (Chinsathit, 2012) Another cause of limited organic foods' availability is the low quality of plant varieties and organic seeds in Thailand. (Chinsathit, 2012)

The third challenge for organic foods' growth in Thai hotel industry is the lack of accurate understanding and knowledge about organic foods among Thais. One study on Thai consumers' perceptions towards organic food produce has revealed that "consumers know very little about the production process, as there is no identification with the product and its producer", thus lowering consumers' confidence in organic production and products. (Sangkumchaliang & Huang, 2012) The study also has found that majority of Thai consumers are still confused and cannot clearly distinguish between organic labels, safe food labels and hygienic food labels. (Sangkumchaliang & Huang, 2012) It was also revealed that "over 50% of organic buyers distrust the authenticity of organic food products in that they are not sure that

they are genuinely organic", and lack of knowledge about organic foods prevents decision to purchase. (Sangkumchaliang & Huang, 2012)

To overcome challenges to successful integration of organic foods into hotel businesses, all stakeholders must cooperate to transfer knowledge and raise awareness about organic foods. Producers and consumers alike must be educated about the sustainable benefits and added-values of organic foods to health, quality of life, businesses, economy and the planet. Government, educational institutes and all concerned private sectors play pivotal roles in educating and enabling conventional producers to successfully convert to organic farming. (Chinsathit, 2012) In addition, they are essential partners in raising awareness and enhancing knowledge about organic foods to consumers. These are some actions to undertake to generate consumers' demand and new organic food suppliers.

In addition to educating producers and consumers, organic foods education should be incorporated into hospitality-related curriculum, such as hotel management and culinary arts studies, in order to enhance and promote the usage of organic foods in hotel industry. More studies on usage of organic foods in Thai hospitality industry should be conducted as Thailand's hospitality and tourism sector is continuously expanding and represents one of the main generators of Thailand's national economy. Scholars of marketing too can investigate further the patterns of reasoning consumers use for organic purchase. "Mastering and disseminating more profound discursive patterns about local and organic food would allow engaging in conversations and negotiations with suppliers and customers", thus enhancing hoteliers' ability to effectively manage procurement, food and beverages preparation and marketing for the hotels. (Mikkola, 2012)

Thailand's hospitality providers, whether hotels, restaurants, hospitals, nursing homes, public catering or even airline inflight-services, can mutually benefit significantly from the value-added, innovative and sustainable qualities of organic foods through organic foods education. Further studies on values of organic foods for hotel industry, and on effective and innovative ways to apply organic foods to Thailand's hotel industry should be further examined.

Conclusion

Growing numbers of consumers perceive organic foods as safer, healthier and tastier. Unlike conventional farming and industrialized food productions, organic producers raise animals ethically and practice organic farming standards that protect the environment. In addition, organic farming raises incomes, and enhances the livelihood of small marginalized farmers given organic produce's higher prices. These organic foods' benefits add values to the hotel businesses in forms of hotel's food offerings such as "special organic breakfast" and as hotel's recreational activities such as organic farm tour, organic foods planting and cooking activities. Organic foods are clearly beneficial to producers, consumers and hotel businesses. Hotels, especially, can maximize the effectiveness and benefits of organic foods usage in their businesses by incorporating the "Five C's of Sustainability Branding."

Despite high price, lack of availability and public's insufficient knowledge and awareness on organic foods, greater knowledge transfer to producers and consumers is key to enhancing organic foods production and consumption in Thailand. Supportive government along with educational institutes are particularly essential in raising awareness and cultivating producers' and consumers' positive perceptions towards organic foods. Incorporation of education on organic foods into hospitality-related studies, namely hotel management and culinary arts, can help popularize organic food usage in Thailand's hotel industry. This will open up new opportunities to uncover more about the values of organic foods in hotel businesses, best practices, success factors and challenges of organic foods usage by hotels in Thailand. More understanding about organic foods and their increasingly significant roles in hotel businesses are essential not only to hotel industry, but other hospitality providers can also learn to integrate organic foods into their businesses in order to add "green, responsible and sustainable" values to their products and services.

References

ASTV Manager Online. (2010). "Organic Beef" new trend for meat lovers. Retrieved March 25, 2015, from

http://www.manager.co.th/Travel/ViewNews.aspx?NewsID=9530000085396 Banmuang. (2014, May 16). Organic buffet. *Banmuang Online*. Retrieved March 24,

2015, from http://www.banmuang.co.th/oldweb/2014/05/

- Bowen, Glenn A. 2009 "Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method", Qualitative Research Journal, Vol9, no2, pp 27-40
- Carrington, D., & Arnett, G. (2014, July 11). Clear differences between organic and non- organic food, study finds. *The Guardian Online*. Retrieved March 20, 2015, from http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/jul/11/organicfood-more- antioxidants-study
- Chinsathit, S. (2012). Factors relating the success of organic farming in Thailand. Report. Office of Agricultural Research and Development, Region 6, Department of Agriculture Thailand.
- Daily News. (2014, August 6). Thai ministry pushes Thailand as leader of organic products. *Daily News Online*. Retrieved March 25, 2015, from http://www.dailynews.co.th/Content/economic/257612/
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2015). What are the environmental benefits of organic agriculture. Retrieved March 25, 2015, from http://www.fao.org/organicag/oa-faq/oa-faq6/en/
- Gee, P. (2010, January 20). Novotel's organic push. *F&B News on the Web*. Retrieved March 25, 2015, from

http://www.hotelmanagement.com.au/2010/01/20/novotels-organic-push/

- Goldberg, M. (2012, August 10). Hyatt hotels announces 3-course organic children's menú developed by Alice Waters. Retrieved March 24, 2015, from http://livingmaxwell.com/hyatt-alice-waters-organic-childrens-menu
- Green Net. (2012). Nine reasons to consume organic foods. *Green Net on the Web*. Retrieved March 24, 2015, from http://www.greennet.or.th/article/1076
- Green Net. (2012). Organic products in Thailand. *Green Net on the Web*. Retrieved March 24, 2015, from http://www.greennet.or.th/article/1362
- Howie, A. (2010). Research Process Step. *Document Review and Analysis*. Retrieved March 24, 2015, from

https://www.bcps.org/offices/lis/researchcourse/develop_docreview.html

Khaosod. (2011, May 18). Organic farm Grand Hyatt green hotel. *Khaosod Online*. Retrieved March 24, 2015, from

http://www.khaosod.co.th/view_news.php?newsid =TUROc11X UXdNekU0TURVMU5BPT0

- Maddock, G.M., & Vitón, R.L. (2010, August 11). The five C's of sustainability branding. Bloomberg Businessweek Online. Retrieved March 18, 2015, from http://www.businessweek.com/managing/content/aug2010/ca2010089_664415. htm
- Mikkelsen, B.E., Kristensen, N.H., & Nielson, T. (2002). Organic foods in catering The Nordic perspective. Soeborg: Danish Veterinary and Food Administration.
- Mikkola, M. (2012). Developing marketing education for sustainable food culture: outline for hotel, restaurant and catering sector. *10th European IFSA Symposium, Aarhus, Denmark,1-4 July 2012.* International Farming Systems Association. Retrieved March 18, 2015, from www.ifsa2012.dk/downloads/WS5_3/Mikkola.pdf
- Naewna. (2010, August 12). Organic choice for the healthy: organic agriculture without chemicals. *Naewna Online*. Retrieved March 24, 2015, from http://www.naewna.com/news.asp?ID=227485
- On, P. (2014, March 16). Organic changing city to green metropolitan. *Health Promotion Foundation on the Web*. Retrieved March 25, 2015, from http://www.thaihealth.or.th/Content/27656
- Organic farm. (2015). *Sampran Riverside Website*. Retrieved March 24, 2015, from http://www.sampranriverside.net/activities/thailand-organicfarm-tour/
- Rudnansky, R. (2014, November 18). 4 trends that are changing cuisine in the hospitality industry. *Travel Pulse Online Magazine*. Retrieved March 20, 2015, from http://www.travelpulse.com/news/hotels-and-resorts/4-trends-thatare-changing- cuisine-in-the-hospitality-industry.html
- Sangkumchaliang, P., & Huang, W. (2012). Consumers' perceptions and attitudes of organic food products in Northern Thailand. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*, 15, 87-102.
- Sekaran, Uma. *Research methods for business*. 4th ed. United State of America: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2003
- Singh, N. (2011). The organic growth. *Fortnightly Insight for the Hospitality Trade*. Retrieved March 15, 2015, from http://archivefhw.financialexpress.com/20110315/management04.shtml
- Travel trend: kids eat healthy at Four Seasons. (2014, October 15). *Taste by Four Seasons Online*. Retrieved March 25, 2015, from http://taste.fourseasons.com/2014/10/healthy- kids-food-menus/
- Tuppen, H. (2015, January 16). Turning wasteland into organic produce in Thailand. *Green Hotelier Online*. Retrieved March 25, 2015, from http://www.greenhotelier.org/destinations/asia-pacific/turning-wasteland-intoorganic-produce-in-thailand/

Willer, H., & Lernoud, J. (2015). *The World of Organic Agriculture: Statistics and Emerging Trends 2015*. Retrieved March 20, 2015, from http://www.fibl.org/en/media/media-archive/media-release/article/growth-continues-global-organic-market-at-72-billion-us-dollars-with-43-million-hectares-of-organic.html

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 119 - 127 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.10 ajmi.stamford.edu

The Effect on Thai Frozen Shrimp Industry after AEC Implementation

Sutatt Ramasoot sutatt.ramasoot@stamford.edu Rojanon Krajangwong rojanon.krajangwong@stamford.edu

ABSTRACT

As the AEC implementation is now in full effect, all the country members must adjust themselves to the change of business environment. We are talking about the new rules of running business, new perspective of directing the business, larger market and demand of products. Under the concept of the AEC which is "One Vision, one identity, one community", there are a lot of changes that need to be explored and scrutinized very carefully. It is obvious that with the new opportunities arise from the implementation of the AEC there will always be the adverse downsize effects. Being one of the members of ASEAN, Thailand is no exception to adapt itself to the change and the challenge of the new way of doing business. Aside to the preparation of the government sector to the introduction of AEC in late 2015, private sector must also prepare itself to this challenge as well. This piece of study will only specifically focus on one of the country's major export which has been generated vast income to the country for the past decades. The author wishes it will be useful for the current frozen shrimp entrepreneurs to study and adjust themselves to the changes. **Keyword:** Thai Frozen Shrimp Industry, AEC

Introduction

Thailand has been the leading country in shrimp production since 1991 and ranked first among the ASEAN members. The country exports more than 350,000 tons per year(average number for the past ten year) with the average value of Baht 60,000 million(US Dollar 1,500 million) per year. As being a long time player in the shrimp export, with the 30-year experience Thailand has moved away from the conventional fishing which relies solely from the sea products to the on-land farming. Thailand has adjusted itself to develop the new breed of shrimp to withstand the disease and epidemic. In 2016 the country forecasts the ton 600,000 production of which 80 percent will be exported to its main markets which are The US, Japan, Canada and Vietnam. Shrimp becomes the popular health product and elastic to price increase.

The main objective of this research is to analyze and compare the effects on Thai Frozen Shrimp Industry after AEC implementation <u>based on the interview with Thai</u> <u>Government officials and the selective shrimp and frozen shrimp exporters in addition</u> to the Secondary survey based approach. The study will focus on the competitiveness of Thailand compared to the other ASEAN countries using the SWOT analysis, Market Occupation Ratio (MOR) and Reveal Competitive Advantage (RCA). It also provides the recommendations to Thai Frozen Shrimp entrepreneurs to adjust their business strategy to cope with the changes.

Secondary Data sources

Secondary data are sourced from various government agencies, a number of publications, and industry associations such as Thai shrimp association, Thai frozen food association (TFFA).

Current situation of Thai Frozen shrimp industry versus other ASEAN countries <u>Tier-3 Issue</u>

On June 20, 2014 The US foreign department issued the TIP (Trafficking in Persons) report downgrading Thailand from tier 2 (watch list) to tier 3 country the worst classification in human trafficking activities, primarily as a result of the evidence that Thailand has been using the illegal foreign labor particularly the child workforce. The fishery industry is the culprit to the charge with use of Burmese labor illegally and accordingly the frozen shrimp industry is the most hard-hit. All fishery products from Thailand are being sanctioned to enter the US market which accounts around 40 percent of the overall fishery product export value.

Epidemic on Shrimp Farming

EMS (Early Mortality Syndrome) was first found in China in 2009 and expanded to Vietnam in the following year. Malaysia was the next target and not until 2011 the first EMS case was found in the Eastern part of Thailand. The full blown of EMS in Thailand was in 2013 when the annual country shrimp production was severely dropped from ton 472,881 in 2012 to 260,000 in 2013. The 45 percent decrease in shrimp production caused Thailand to lose its status as the number one frozen shrimp exporter to the US market to India for the first time at 16.4 percent share while India captures the first slot at 18.7 percent. Unfortunately as the supply shrinks, the price of the white shrimp soared by 61.9 percent and worsened the frozen shrimp export further. Thailand also lost its share in other major markets. In the first 11 months of 2013, the frozen shrimp export value to the US, Japan and EU was down by 39.5 percent, 28.3 percent and 44.0 percent respectively. Despite the upgrade in the product to emphasize on the premium market, the situation still persists. However the country is able to put the EMS under control and the production of the shrimp is expected to be back to normal in 2016.

SWOT Analysis of Thai Frozen shrimp industry





- Possessing Expertise and Long-tem Experience in Shrimp Farming.
- Favorable Climate and Geology for All Year Long Shrimp Farming.
- Possessing Standard Processing Plants with High-quality Skilled Labors
- Thai Shrimp Products are Well
 Diversified and Being Well Accepted

Opportunities

- High Demands on seafood products worldwide especially Thailand's major Customer, The United States whose economy is starting to recover.
- Drastic decrease of production from Thailand's competitors due to Natural storm and shrimp epidemic.

- Cancellation of GSP.
- Heavily Rely on Imported Raw Materials.
- High Labor Cost Comparing With China and Vietnam.
- Shortage of Labor in Industrial Sector.
- Labor Cost and Other Processing Costs are on the Rising Trend.

hreats

- Shrimp exports are more costly and less competitive.
- Unfavorable economy of the EU countries
- Weaker in Euro dollar directly softens their purchasing power.
- Substandard in environmental management control which lowers the shrimp production.
- High transportation cost
- No frozen shrimp import quota creates fierce competition

Market occupation ratio (MOR)

The market occupation ratio can be represented by the percentage of shrimp exports from one country to that of the world. Table 1 shows the shrimp market occupation ratio of Asian major shrimp producers from 1990-2003. Comparing the

average market occupation ratio in 1990-2003; the result show that Thailand had the largest market occupation ratio (21.9%) of the world shrimp market, followed by Indonesia, India, and China of 8.8%, 7.5% and 4.9%, respectively. Since 1990, Thailand has lead shrimp exportation to the world.

Year	Bangladesh	China	India	Indonesia	Malaysia	Philippines	Thailand	Viet Nam
1990	2.2	10.0	4.9	9.4	1.7	3.2	14.4	1.6
1991	1.9	6.9	6.3	9.9	1.9	3.7	17.9	2.3
1992	1.8	7.7	5.9	9.3	1.7	2.8	20.5	2.8
1993	2.2	4.9	7.3	10.0	1.5	2.8	23.2	3.3
1994	2.8	3.9	8.3	9.5	1.5	2.6	25.7	3.4
1995	2.8	3.4	6.8	8.9	1.5	2.1	26.6	2.9
1996	2.9	2.2	7.5	8.8	1.4	1.6	25.5	2.7
1997	2.4	2.7	7.9	8.6	1.6	1.3	24.7	3.9
1998	2.5	2.3	7.7	8.7	0.9	1.3	23.4	4.6
1999	2.5	2.5	8.3	8.0	0.9	1.5	24.3	5.1
2000	2.9	3.5	8.5	8.9	0.9	1.4	25.4	6.2
2001	3.2	4.4	7.8	8.6	1.1	1.2	21.5	7.5
2002	2.6	6.1	9.1	7.9	2.0	1.6	17.3	9.2
2003	2.7	8.1	8.2	7.2	1.1	1.2	15.8	9.7
Average	2.5	4.9	7.5	8.8	1.4	2.0	21.9	4.7

Table 1. Shows MOR of Asian major shrimp production countries (1990-2003) (%)

Revealed comparative advantage (RCA)

Revealed comparative advantage (RCA) is based on observed trade patterns. An increase in the value of RCA means an increase in a country's competitiveness in a commodity. It can be computed by the formula below:

RCAik=(Xik/Xi) / (Wk/W)

Where RCAik represents k commodity in country i has the revealed comparative advantage, Xik is exports of commodity j by country i. Xi is the total exports by country i, Wk is the world total exports of commodity k, W is the world total exports of all commodities.

If RCAik >1, it shows that the exports by the country is focused on few commodities, and it has a comparative advantage on that commodity; RCAik<1, indicates that the country has wide trade commodities range, and it has no comparative advantage on the particular commodity.

In table 2, the RCA of shrimp in major Asia shrimp production was calculated. Thailand, China, Indonesia and Philippines have significantly decreasing RCAs, whilst India, Viet Nam has retained the same level of RCA. For Bangladesh the RCA increased since 1998. Malaysia has the lowest RCA among Asian countries, with an average of 1.14. The decreasing RCA in Thailand and China showed a significant losing of comparative advantage for shrimp products, and could be related to a major shift in the species culture.

January – June 2016

Year	Bangladesh	China	India	Indonesia	Malaysia	Philippines	Thailand	Viet Nam
1990	1.20	206.90	9.54	12.59	2.00	13.61	206.54	23.12
1991	0.93	143.39	12.45	11.94	1.96	14.92	301.45	39.39
1992	0.81	138.66	11.37	10.34	1.58	10.71	298.60	40.59
1993	0.92	72.45	12.81	10.24	1.17	9.42	293.38	41.13
1994	0.98	58.02	14.29	10.23	1.07	8.30	274.40	36.20
1995	0.96	50.55	11.38	10.11	1.05	6.30	251.62	27.26
1996	1.04	27.79	12.23	9.48	0.99	4.13	189.15	20.16
1997	0.75	31.50	12.57	8.56	1.17	2.83	150.03	23.64
1998	26.80	0.69	12.67	9.85	0.76	2.46	24.04	26.95
1999	25.41	0.73	12.72	9.26	0.59	2.25	23.41	24.83
2000	29.00	0.90	12.74	9.15	0.62	2.18	23.40	27.22
2001	32.59	1.01	11.00	9.36	0.75	0.97	87.46	0.08
2002	27.39	1.21	11.89	8.93	1.35	2.79	16.16	35.84
2003	28.47	1.38	10.98	8.87	0.85	2.36	14.74	35.94
Average	12.66	52.51	12.05	9.92	1.14	5.95	153.88	28.74

Table 2. RCA of Asia major shrimp producers, 1990-2003.

In 2003, the total trade value of frozen shrimp and PUD shrimp was US\$ 9.15 billion, and was about 14.8% of total aquatic products trade. Based on the available data market occupation ratio (MOR), the revealed comparative advantage (RCA) for shrimp in the Asian countries, Thailand had the largest MOR (21.9%) of the world shrimp market, followed by Indonesia, India, and China of 8.8%, 7.5% and 4.9%, respectively.

The RCA for Thailand, China, Indonesia and Philippines have significantly decreased, whilst India and Viet Nam has retained the same level and for Bangladesh the RCA increased since 1998.

Analysis of the Thai Product' Competitiveness (Frozen Shrimp) with the world after the AEC implementation



Attractiveness Factor	<u>Weight</u>
5 year average World Shrimp Import	5.83%
(2007-2011)	
5 year average Thailand Shrimp Export	11.65%
(2007-2011)	

Recommendations

There needs to be a strategy change in manufacturing and marketing in order to compete with the other countries in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN).

1. Expanding Thailand's production and marketing bases into ASEAN

1.1 According to the above chart, it is certain that shrimp farming in the future will turn into a success after the implementation of AEC. Cold storages for post farming are recommended to migrate to neighboring countries that have tax privileges and low laboring cost such as Laos, Myanmar, Cambodia, and Vietnam, whereas Thailand will only serve as the shrimp's production base with professional farming technology and will only export raw material for the cold storages and factories in the neighboring countries.

1.2 By expanding the production and marketing bases, Thailand has to take the monetary barriers of each country into consideration, such as the day limitation of bank deposits or other regulations that require joint ventures in order to decrease other difficulties such as tax.

2. The formation of the ASEAN Shrimp Alliance (ASA)

2.1 The ASEAN Shrimp Alliance (ASA) is needed to be formed in order to solve the problems of marketing limitations and set the standards of shrimp farming in ASEAN acceptable while also making negotiating power with importing countries.

3. Self-Differentiation

3.1 Thailand must become a professional and the lead production in shrimp farming, producing in countries with lower income tax.

3.2 Innovation in Shrimp breeding

3.2.1 Genetically converting male shrimp to female shrimp in order to lay more eggs that are compatible with all breeds

Raising only male shrimp gives more chance of growth, production, and survival than raising both male and female, resulting in the increase in production of male giant river prawns by the use of genetic converted process, or producing neofemale prawns by cutting off the endocrine gland from male shrimp and turning the male shrimp female. Doing this will give the now-female shrimp the ability to lay eggs. Neo-female shrimp will now be used to reproduce with the normal male shrimp. Every male offspring of these shrimp will also undergo genetic converted process and the process repeats, creating more shrimp for production.

3.2.2 Thailand's specialty is taking all parts of a shrimp to good use. Because Thailand has a great amount of shrimp exports, much of the shrimp's shells are leftover within the country. With this, Thailand has become the leader of a technology in distilling chitosan by treating shrimp shells with the alkali sodium hydroxide. Chitosan can be used in cosmetics and other products because chitosan can make these cosmetics long-lasting, which further adds the value into these products.

3.2.3 Eco-friendly containers

Aside from cosmetics, chitosan also has the ability to shape up starch which could replace polyvinyl alcohol (or Polyethylene) in multipurpose containers. Chitosan are not sustainable for microorganisms, so they are very suitable for keeping vegetables and fruits clean and fresh. However, since chitosan are very expensive within Thailand, it is possible that if Thailand is able to harness their own chitosan at a very low price, they will be able to build up in many ways. One way is to export Chitosan to other countries outside and within ASEAN at a higher price while gaining more income to the country at the same time.

4. Consumer Behavior

Studying and observing the behavior of consumers in different countries

For example, Japanese market is more concern of product quality over the price. As for Thailand's standard practice which is different from other Shrimp producer such as India or Vietnam, the toxin-free residue in shrimp is the most concern and the selling point of the Thai shrimp.

5. Vertical Integration

5.1 Backward Integration

To find a horizontal merger base for farming shrimp in a neighboring country that is in need of farming technology, such as Indonesia.

5.2 Forward Integration

Investing money in cold storages with a country within ASEAN that is expanding their marketing bases

6. Horizontal Integration

Making products that are diverse and are suitable for all of the consumers' needs, such as

- Whole shrimp

- Headless shrimp

- Peeled headless shrimp
- Peeled headless shrimp without tail
- Peeled and deveined headless shrimp
- Peeled and deveined headless shrimp without tail

7. Production Cost Management

7.1 Reduce Raw Material cost by eliminating the middleman

7.2 Reduce Labor cost by relocating the production plant to the neighbor countries where the labor is available and cheaper.

7.3 Reduce the transportation cost by direct investment or for forming the joint venture with the local partnership in the AEC country members. This policy will also alleviate the custom's tariff.

8. Effectively management of Tariff Barriers by G to G negotiation.

9. Within the AEC nations, free flows of human resource, capital investment are allowed. The government as well as the enterprises must be aware of the opportunity that may arise and benefit the frozen shrimp industry in term of market, source of raw material, cheaper labor and effective logistic.

10.The impose of article 9 to control the area of Shrimp farming under the environmental act accelerates the problem to the farmer to be more rely on the middleman as the suppliers are forced not to expand their shrimp farms. The product distribution channel is corrupted and incurs the unnecessary higher transportation cost. The government should support and encourage "contract farming" to overcome these problems and will eventually increase the competition advantage for the industry.

11. To tackle the problem on the labor shortage, Thailand should focus only on shrimp farming and redirect the shrimp frozen process to its neighbor countries which are still enjoying the GSP program and favorable lower duty rates. Thailand can leverage itself as a long-time experience in frozen products and either provides the knowledge or becomes a business partner thru direct investment or a joint venture.

12. Thai government should provide support to local business operators by encourage R&D budget to develop the high-end technic shrimp farming. New breed

must be developed to get the shrimp that can withstand the disease and epidemic which always be the downside of the shrimp industry.

13. Improvement of the logistic system will cut down the unnecessarily higher transportation cost and will give Thailand a competitive edge over its rivalries. **Conclusion**

By analyzing the market occupation ratio, revealed cooperative advantage and SWOT analysis, the Asian major shrimp producing countries seem to have a higher comparative advantage in shrimp production. With rapid developments of shrimp products trade via AEC cooperation, Asian countries will become the most important producers of shrimp globally. Each country has different performance of comparative advantage: Thailand Indonesia and India had higher market occupation ratio, China had the lowest exportation price; Thailand, China and Viet Nam had the higher RCA. However, among the ASEAN countries Thailand seems to have an advantage edge over other members given its past experiences and favorable geographic location. Proper adjustment of its production and marketing process with the support from the government will ensure the frozen shrimp industry the sustainable growth.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to extend their gratitude to M.R. Pridiyathorn Devakura Former Minister of Finance for his insights and guidance of this study. But most importantly, this piece of research will not be possible without the advice and inspiration from Dr. Apitep SaeKow of Stamford International University.

References

Article, "Trends and the recovery of the shrimp industry in Thailand -2557" by

Thanomjit Siripachaporn, Bangkok Business newspaper dated 21 Jan. 2014. (In Thai)

- Research publication "Study on strategy to export frozen shrimp to South Korea "by Wanita Wongsue, University of the Thai Chamber of Commerce2005 . (In Thai)
- Asian knowledge Institute (AKI) article dated Feb.17, 2013 "Thailand must adjust itself to new EU's GSP and accelerate the FTA negotiation process with EU" (In Thai)
- "Possible Relocation of frozen seafood factory within AEC members" Matichon Newspaper Dated Jan 17, 2014. (In Thai)

Information from the meeting with the Finance Bureau of Economic Research, Ministry of Finance, Thailand (In Thai).

International Marketing, Bangkok :Se-ed 2556 Asst. Professor Pusanisa Techatakerng http://www.thai-frozen.or.th/thailand_seafood_02.php

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperative's bulletin dated Dec 17, 2014. "Aim to shrimp export in 2015 is set at 500,000 ton with the FTA negotiation with EU in progress"

Comparative advantage analysis of shrimp production in Asia Yuan Xinhua Freshwater Fisheries Research Center, CAFS, No. 9 West Shanshui Road, Wuxi, Jiangsu, China. E-mail: yuanxh@ffrc.cn.

Competitiveness of the European Food Industry An economic and legal assessment, J.h.M. Wijnands B.M.J. van der Meulen K.J. Poppe (eds) LEI, The Hague: Reference No. ENTR/05/75 Service contract 432403 A Guide to Antidumping Laws: America's Unfair Trade Practice *By* Bryan T. Johnson Market report and Thailand seafood Industry overview by Thai Frozen foods Association from 2012-2015

Report of the FAO-ASEAN strategic planning workshop produced by Regional office for Asia and the Pacific 2012

Shahidi, Fereidoon; Synowiecki, Jozef (1991). "Isolation and characterization of nutrients and value-added products from snow crab (Chionoecetes opilio) and shrimp (Pandalus borealis) processing discards". Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 39 (8): 1527–32. doi:10.1021/jf00008a032.

"Revealed: Asian slave labour producing prawns for supermarkets in US, UK" The Guardian by Kate Hodal, Chris Kelly and Falicity Lawrence dated 10 June 2014

The study "ASEAN Rising: Moving ASEAN and AEC Forward Beyond 2015 " conducted by the Economic Research Institute for ASEAN and East Asia (ERIA)

- Cargill exec: Asia shrimp industry structure set to shift under market, production pressures August 25, 2014, 5:41 pm By Tom Seaman
- Shrimp Farming and the Environment *Can Shrimp Farming Be Undertaken Sustainably?* A report for the World Bank prepared by KPMG Center for Aquaculture and Fisheries(by Erik Hempel and Ulf Winther) and revised by John Hambrey (of the Asian Institute of Technology and Econeco).

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation Vol. 3 No. 1, 128 - 133 ©2015 by Stamford International University DOI: 10.14456/ajmi.2016.11 ajmi.stamford.edu

A Study of Staff Turnover of the Hotel Industry: A Case Study of the Amara Hotel Bangkok

Areewan Cheewaprapanan areewan.cheewaprapanan@stamford.edu

Introduction

The tourism and hospitality industry has become the fastest growing business in the world (Boella 1996). Notwithstanding this, the hospitality industry has extensive experience of turbulence as competitiveness compels the industry to make alterations under the severity of globalisation (Go *et al.* 1996). When tourism happens, it affects the economy (Dale *et al.* 2006). It is a corresponding influence to the hospitality industry as a competitive business (Yu 1999). The hospitality industry has to form competitive advantages by their employees to execute developed productivity and service action to achieve excellent results (Go *et al.* 1996). People seem a more important resource than materials, instruments, equipments and technology in order to deliver an organisation's products and services to customers (Hayes and Ninemeier 2009). It means the importance of human resources management is a central part of hospitality business.

People resources is the key to improving the hospitality industry (Littlejohn and Watson 2004). This research uses the Amara Hotel Bangkok as a case study and it aims to evaluate employee's turnover.

Research aims and objectives

It is common in hotel industry to work on monthly turnover. The turnover identifies the level of hotel service and productivity (D'Annunzio-Green *et al.* 2002). The hotel business will move slowly when staff keep in and out all the time. All hotels want to keep low level of turnover which it shows the success of people management and relate to hotel operations. This research aims to study and identify the turnover rate of the Amara Hotel Bangkok since it is a very new hotel in Sathorn Area.

Background of the Amara Hotel Bangkok

The Amera is the hotel group in Singapore. The group expanded the hotel investment and management and developed the Amara Hotel and Shopping Center in the Mid 1980s. Following that to compliment its hospitality management operations. Amara set up a number of specialty restaurant and food court.

The Amara Hotel Bangkok operated since July 2015, it is located in the choice Surawong Road which is parallel to Silom and Sathorn Roads. There are 250 rooms, the hotel is part of historic district of Bangkok, famous for its culturally-diverse local street food and exciting nightlife. It is also near shopping and jewelry district. There are several room types for guest stay such as Cabana room, Deluxe room, Club room and each room has the modern furnishing set up.

Introduction to Job Motivation

Motivation is an important factor for employees giving their best to their jobs. As the human factor is the most vital resource in every job, it should be provided with opportunity for achievement and have the ability which motivation brings to an efficient job (Simpson 1983). Hosie *et al.* (2006) stated if staffs were happy in their workplaces,

it would affect the operations. Human resources are important to every business; therefore, the human resources department and managers mainly would be involved with employees, and coordinate them to bring a company to success (Bramham 1989). This is crucial in the hotel industry because employees provide service to customers worldwide, which is commonly known as "The People Industry" (Kusluvan 2003). If staffs are satisfied or well-motivated, they offer better service and are productive, there by gaining improved customer satisfaction.

Most analysts accede that the labour turnover average in the hotel industry is higher than other industries (Malhotra 1997); therefore, it has become a problem which affects productivity in the hotel business as well as being a barrier to raising productivity (D'Annunzio-Green *et al.* 2002). Besides, Johnson (1981 cited D'Annunzio-Green *et al.* 2002) claimed that higher turnover not only decreases the quality of hotel service but it also incurs a large amount of recruitment and replacement costs, which obviously brings profits down. Human resources management is currently an important part in world-wide business; it includes theories which could be executed in operational practice (Pieper 1990). It is necessary to study job motivation and satisfaction theories to understand the use of human resources management, in order to improve operations.

Introduction to Turnover

Obviously, Staff turnover or employee turnover plays important role in every industry nowadays. There are big amount of business competitors which they need huge of manpower more than the past. When the industry face high turnover situation, it definitely affect to all productivities. Generally, staff turnover starts since the first month or first year in industries (Bucknall and Wei 2006).

In addition, staff turnover has both advantages and disadvantages. The possible advantages are offer opportunity to other workers when someone left by building promotion or transfer staff positions, each employee may develop their skill to get promotion which the company will received more active employees. At the same time, the staff turnover also brings disadvantages which are cost to recruit new employees, hiring, and training, Moreover, staff has no loyalty to the organization (Phillips and Gully 2014).

On the other hand, Law and Kesti 2014 argued that the number of turnover will bring cost to every company and industry.

current habour varies of Staation in the rinnara rioter Bunghon								
Month	Turnover Rate	Staff	Temporary	In	Out			
July 2015	6.62%	151	0	10	10			
August 2015	3.77%	159	0	6	6			
September	2.98%	168	0	5	5			
2015								
October 2015	11.39%	158	0	18	18			
November	7.55%	159	0	12	12			
2015								
December	9.09%	154	1	14	14			
2015								
January 2016	5.77%	156	7	9	9			

Current labour turnover situation in the Amara Hotel Bangkok



Source: Amara Hotel Bangkok (February 2016)

From above number of turnover, the Amara Hotel Bangkok has low percentage, it can be seen that the average is satisfied in terms of the new opening hotel. It can be implied that the hotel has good strategy to manage hotel human resources.

Job Motivation in Amara Hotel Bangkok

This research present some Human Resource Staff Benefit of the Amara Hotel Bangkok. In general, the Amara Hotel Bangkok provide;

- Social Security Insurance
- Health Insurance
- Accident Insurance
- Life Insurance
- Staff Orientation
- Staff Team Building
- Two Free Meals in Staff Canteen
- Uniform
- Laundry for uniform
- Staff position transfer and promotion
- Overtime
- Taxi Allowance

It can be understood that the human resources benefit is effect to staff job motivation and satisfaction. When the hotel provides the benefits to their own employee, the employee are feel safe and loyal to the organization.

Apart from benefit the hotel should create a good working environment or some training to make people love their workplace. This is the long run to the hotel in terms of keeping lowest rate of the turnover.

However, the hotel have some plan in future to provide the Staff Provident Fund and Friend & Family rate for hotel rooms. These would be further progress in Human Resources.

130

Methodology

The research methodology presents the methods used in this paper in order to reach the aim and objectives.

The research has gained the data and can explore the level of hotel management by turnover. It could help hotel human resources departments and hotel managers to clearly understand employees' situations and to improve their management.

Mostly, a case study is used for social and learning study in order to recognise both common and unique elements of the case, persons and program; in other words, researchers use a case study to know their story and understand them (Stake 1995). A case study forms a necessary pattern of inquiry; it is suitable when examiners either want or are pushed by situations to determine studies' topics. (Yin 2003). According to Scholz and Tietje (2002), a case study is used to discover possible problems with the research project as well as the benefit of solving it later.

Conclusion

This research aims to study job motivation and staff turnover by using the Amara Hotel Bangkok as a case study and by accessing levels of employee turnover in the organisation. The paper used several methods in the research such as text books, electronic books, journals, electronic journals, and observation. The Amara Hotel Bangkok has been the case study in this research.

From this study, the researcher has found that the Amara Hotel Bangkok has a low turnover rate. In terms of job motivation in the hotel, the five most influential motivation factors for employees in the Amara Hotel Bangkok are "feeling interested in work", "have opportunities for work advancement or promotion (to higher level)", "feel secure in job", "have satisfied wages (money), and "have satisfied benefit". The hotel has formed different strategies to motivate their staffs to work hard and improve themselves. In addition, the level of job satisfaction is quite high as it can be seen from the low turnover rate. Obviously, most respondents are satisfied with their hotel's human resource management. However, it is very important to keep improve the management to motivate and satisfy staffs in the hotel. Therefore, it is crucial for human resource management and managers to study more in order to enhance job motivation and job satisfaction to motivate and satisfy their employees and in order to decrease the hotel's labour turnover.

References

- Amara Hotel Bangkok, 2016. History [online]. Amara Hotel Group: Singapore. Available from: http://www.amaraholdings.com/history.html [Accessed 1 March 2016]
- Amara Hotel Bangkok, 2016. About Amara Bangkok [online]. Amara Hotel Group: Singapore. Available from: http://bangkok.amarahotels.com/hotel/about-amarabangkok/ [Accessed 1 March 2016]
- Bach, S. and Sisson, K., 2000. *Personal Management*. 3rd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Boella, M., 1996. *Human Resource Management in the hospitality industry*. 6th ed. Cheltenham: Stanley Thornes Publishers.
- Boella, M., 2000. *Human Resource Management in the hospitality industry*. 7th ed. Cheltenham: Nelson Thornes Ltd.

Boella, M. and Goss-Turner, S., 2005. *Human Resource Management in the Hospitality Industry: An Introduction Guide*. London: Elsevier.

Bramham, J., 1989. *Human Resource Planning*. London: Institute of Personnel Management.

Bruce, A. and Pepitone, J., 1999. Motivating employees. New York: McGraw-Hill.

- Bucknall, H. and Wei, Z., 2006. *Magic Number for Human Resource Management*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Clegg, B., 2000. Instant Motivation. London: Kogan Page Limited.
- D'Annunzio-Green, N., Maxwell, G. and Watson, S., 2002. *Human Resource Management International Perspectives in Hospitality and Tourism*. London: Thomson Learning.
- DelPo, A. and Guerin, L., 2007. *The Manager's Legal Handbook*. 4th ed. California: Nolo.
- Forsyth, P., 2002. Appraising Job Performance: How to improve job satisfaction and organizational success. Oxford: How To Book Ltd.
- Go, F., Monachello, M. and Baum, T., 1996. *Human Resource Management in the Hospitality Industry*. New York: John Wiley&Son Inc.
- Hayes, D. and Ninemeier, J., 2009. *Human Resources Management in the Hospitality Industry*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons
- Hayward, P., Marvell, A., Reynolds, H. and Stewart, S., 2005. *As Level for AQA Travel & Tourism*. Oxford: Heinemann Educational Publishers.
- Hosie, P., Sevastos, P. and Cooper, C., 2006. *The Happy-performing managers: the impact of affective wellbeing and intrinsic job satisfaction in the workplace*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Kusluvan, S., 2003. *Managing Employee Attitudes and Behaviors in the Tourism and Hospitality Industry*. New York: Nova Science Publishers.
- Law, K. and Kesti, M., 2014. *Yin Yang and Organizational Performance [online]*. New York: Springer
- Littlejohn, D. and Watson, S., 2004. Developing graduate managers for hospitality and tourism. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 16 (7). Available from:

http://www.emeraldinsight.com/Insight/viewPDF.jsp?contentType=Article&Fi lename=html/Output/Published/EmeraldFullTextArticle/Pdf/0410160703.pdf [Accessed 16 February 2010].

- Malhotra, R., 1997. *Encyclopaedia of Hotel Management and Tourism*. New Delhi: J.L.Kumar for Anmol Publications Pvt Ltd.
- Mathis, R. and Jackson, J., 2008. *Human Resource Management*. 12th ed. Mason: Thomson Learning Academic Resource Center.
- Pieper, R., 1990. *Human Resource Management : An International Comparison*. Berlin: Walter de Gruyler & Co.
- Phillips, J. and Gully, S., 2014. *Human Resource Management*. International Edition. South Western: Cengage Learning
- Simpson, W., 1983. *Motivation The Industrial Society Promotes The Involvement Of People at Work*. London: The Industrial Society.

- Scholz, R. and Tietje, O., 2002. *Embedded case study methods: integrating quantitative and qualitative knowledge*. London: Sage Publications.
- Stake, R., 1995. The art of case study research. London: SAGE Publications.
- Yin, R., 2003. *Applications of case study research. 2nd ed. Applications of case research.* London: Sage Publication.
- Yu, L., 1999. *The international hospitality business: management and operations*. New York: The Haworth Hospitality Press.

Guideline for Authors

ASEAN Journal of Management & Innovation (AJMI) welcomes submissions in all topics related to management, as well as topics related to innovation regardless of discipline or subject area. Manuscripts that are simply literature reviews are generally discouraged, while papers that represent preliminary findings or research in progress are encouraged. AJMI expects that papers accepted for publication have not been published elsewhere prior to publication in AJMI.

Submissions

To submit your paper, go to journal management system at *ajmi.stamford.edu*, register as an author, and upload the file containing your paper.

AJMI Style Guide

- 1. Must be a Word-compatible document (not PDF)
- 2. Title page
 - a. Uploaded separately from abstract and body
 - b. Manuscript title
 - c. Title, name, affiliation and email address of all authors
- 3. Abstract page
 - a. Manuscript title
 - b. Abstract of not more than 250 words; abstract should not include any information that would identify the author(s).
- 4. Keywords
 - a. Three to six keywords are requested at the time of submission
- 5. Body of the paper
 - a. A4 page size
 - b. Margins of 1" (2.5 cm) on all four sides
 - c. Article Title: Times New Roman font, 20 point, no indentation
 - d. Author Name, Affiliation, and E-mail: Times New Roman, 12 point, no indentation
 - e. Body text: Times New Roman, 12 point
 - f. Single space (not double) between sentences
 - g. Maximum 5,000 words
- 6. References
 - a. Appear at the end of the manuscript body
 - b. Follow APA format